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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS AND INFORMATION
 
This Annual Report on Form 10-K ("Form 10-K"), the other reports, statements, and information that we have previously filed or that we may subsequently file with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), and public announcements that we have previously made or may subsequently make, contain “forward-looking statements”
within the meaning of the federal securities laws, including the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, which statements involve substantial risks and uncertainties.
Unless the context is otherwise, the forward-looking statements included or incorporated by reference in this Form 10-K and those reports, statements, information and
announcements address activities, events or developments that ShiftPixy, Inc. (referred to throughout this Form 10-K as “we,” “us,” “our,” the “Company” or “ShiftPixy”),
expects or anticipates will or may occur in the future. Forward-looking statements generally relate to future events or our future financial or operating performance. In some
cases, you can identify forward-looking statements because they contain words such as “may,” “might,” “will,” “should,” “expects,” “plans,” “anticipates,” “could,” “intends,”
“target,” “projects,” “contemplates,” “believes,” “estimates,” “predicts,” “potential” or “continue” or the negative of these words or other similar terms or expressions that
concern our expectations, strategy, plans or intentions. Forward-looking statements contained in this Form 10-K include, but are not limited to, statements about:
 
  · our future financial performance, including our revenue, costs of revenue and operating expenses;
     
  · our ability to achieve and grow profitability;
     
  · the sufficiency of our cash, cash equivalents and investments to meet our liquidity needs;
     
  · our predictions about industry and market trends;
     
  · our ability to expand successfully internationally;
     

  · our ability to manage effectively our growth and future expenses, including our growth and expenses associated with our sponsorship of various special purpose
acquisition companies;

     
  · our estimated total addressable market;
     
  · our ability to maintain, protect and enhance our intellectual property;
     
  · our ability to comply with modified or new laws and regulations applying to our business;
     
  · the attraction and retention of qualified employees and key personnel;
     
  · our ability to be successful in defending litigation brought against us and
     

  · our ability to pay the outstanding delinquent payroll taxes, including penalties and interest. If the IRS or states and local jurisdictions  pursues collection efforts
beyond what the Company can afford to pay, the IRS can freeze our bank accounts and the Company may be forced to file for bankruptcy.

 
We caution you that the forward-looking statements highlighted above do not encompass all of the forward-looking statements made in this Form 10-K.
 
We have based the forward-looking statements contained in this Form 10-K primarily on our current expectations and projections about future events and trends that we believe
may affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. The outcome of the events described in these forward-looking statements is subject to risks,
uncertainties and other factors described in the section of this Form 10-K entitled “Risk Factors” and elsewhere. Moreover, we operate in a very competitive and challenging
environment. New risks and uncertainties emerge from time to time, and it is not possible for us to predict all risks and uncertainties that could have an impact on the forward-
looking statements contained in this Form 10-K. We cannot assure you that the results, events and circumstances reflected in the forward-looking statements will be achieved or
occur, and actual results, events or circumstances could differ materially from those described in the forward-looking statements.
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The forward-looking statements made in this Form 10-K relate only to events as of the date on which the statements are made. We undertake no obligation to update any
forward-looking statements made in this Form 10-K to reflect events or circumstances after the date of this Form 10-K or to reflect new information or the occurrence of
unanticipated events, except as required by law. We may not actually achieve the plans, intentions or expectations disclosed in our forward-looking statements and you should
not place undue reliance on our forward-looking statements. Our forward-looking statements do not reflect the potential impact of any future acquisitions, mergers,
dispositions, joint ventures, other strategic transactions or investments we may make or enter into.
 
The risks and uncertainties we currently face are not the only ones we face. New factors emerge from time to time, and it is not possible for us to predict which will arise. There
may be additional risks not presently known to us or that we currently believe are immaterial to our business. In addition, we cannot assess the impact of each factor on our
business or the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements.
 
The industry and market data contained in this Form 10-K are based either on our management’s own estimates or, where indicated, independent industry publications, reports
by governmental agencies or market research firms or other published independent sources and, in each case, are believed by our management to be reasonable estimates.
However, industry and market data are subject to change and cannot always be verified with complete certainty due to limits on the availability and reliability of raw data, the
voluntary nature of the data gathering process and other limitations and uncertainties inherent in any statistical survey of market shares. We have not independently verified
market and industry data from third-party sources. In addition, consumption patterns and customer preferences can and do change. As a result, you should be aware that market
share, ranking and other similar data set forth herein, and estimates and beliefs based on such data, may not be verifiable or reliable.
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PART I
 
Item 1. Business
 
Company Information
 
We were incorporated under the laws of the State of Wyoming on June 3, 2015. Our principal executive office is located at 4101 NW 25th Street, Miami, FL 33142, and our
telephone number is (888) 798-9100. Our website address is www.shiftpixy.com. Our website does not form a part of this Form 10-K and listing of our website address is for
informational purposes only.
 
Business Overview
 
We are a human capital management ("HCM") platform. We provide payroll and related employment tax processing, human resources and employment compliance,
employment related insurance, and employment administrative services solutions for our business clients (“clients” or “operators”) and shift work or “gig” opportunities for
worksite employees (“WSEs” or “shifters”). As consideration for providing these services, we receive administrative or processing fees as a percentage of a client’s gross
payroll. The level of our administrative fees is dependent on the services provided to our clients, which ranges from basic payroll processing to a full suite of human resources
information systems ("HRIS") technology. Our primary operating business metric is gross billings, consisting of our clients’ fully burdened payroll costs, which includes, in
addition to payroll, workers’ compensation insurance premiums, employer taxes, and benefits costs.
 
Our goal is to be the best online fully-integrated workforce solution and employer services support platform for lower-wage workers and employment opportunities. We have
built an application and desktop capable marketplace solution that allows for workers to access and apply for job opportunities created by our clients and to provide traditional
back-office services to our clients as well as real-time business information for our clients’ human capital needs and requirements.
 
We have designed our business platform to evolve to meet the needs of a changing workforce and a changing work environment. We believe our approach and robust
technology will benefit from the observed demographic workplace shift away from traditional employee/employer relationships towards the increasingly flexible work
environment that is characteristic of the gig economy. We believe this change in approach began after the 2008 financial crisis and is currently being driven by the labor
shortage created out of the COVID-19 economic crisis. We also believe that a significant problem underpinning the lower wage labor crisis is the sourcing of workers and
matching temporary or gig workers to short-term job opportunities.
 
Figure 1
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We have built our business on a recurring revenue model since our inception in 2015. Our focus has been to monetize a traditional staffing services business model, coupled
with developed technology, to address underserved markets containing predominately lower wage employees with high turnover, including the light industrial, food service,
restaurant, and hospitality markets.
 
Our primary focus was on clients in the restaurant and hospitality industries, market segments traditionally characterized by high employee turnover and low pay rates. We
believe that these industries will be better served by our human resource information system (“HRIS”) technology platform and related mobile smartphone application that
provides payroll and human resources tracking for our clients. The use of our HRIS platform should provide our clients with real-time human capital business intelligence and
we believe will result in lower operating costs, improved customer experience, and revenue growth. All of our clients enter into service agreements with us or one of our
wholly-owned subsidiaries to provide these services.
 
We believe that our value proposition is to provide a combination of overall net cost savings to our clients, for which they are willing to pay increased administrative fees that
offset the costs of the services we provide, as follows:
 
  · Payroll tax compliance and management services
     
  · Governmental HR compliance such as for Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (“ACA”) compliance requirements;
     
  · Reduced client workers’ compensation premiums or enhanced coverage;
     
  · Access to an employee pool of potential qualified applicants to reduce turnover costs;
     
  · Ability to fulfill temporary worker requirements in a “tight” labor market with our intermediation (“job matching”) services; and
     

  · Reduced screening and onboarding costs due to access to an improved pool of qualified applicants who can be onboarded through a highly efficient, and virtually
paperless technology platform.

 
Our management believes that providing this baseline business, coupled with our technology solution, provides a unique, value-added solution to the HR compliance, staffing,
and scheduling problems that businesses face. Over the past thirty-six months, in the face of the COVID-19 and post COVID-19 pandemic, we have instituted various growth
initiatives described below that are designed to accelerate our revenue growth. These initiatives include the matching of temporary job opportunities between workers and
employers under a fully compliant staffing solution through our HRIS platform. For this solution to be effective, we need to obtain a significant number of WSEs in
concentrated geographic areas to fulfill our clients unique staffing needs and facilitate the client-WSE relationship. 
 
Managing, recruiting, and scheduling a high volume of low-wage employees can be both difficult and expensive. Historically, the acquisition and recruiting of such an
employee population has been a labor intensive and expensive process in part due to high onboarding costs and complex issues surrounding such matters as tax information
capture or I-9 verification. Early in our history, we evaluated these costs and found that proper process flows that are automated with blockchain and cloud technology, coupled
with access to lower cost workers’ compensation policies resulting from economies of scale, could result in a profitable and low-cost scalable business model.
 
Over the past five years, we have invested heavily in a robust, cloud-based HRIS platform to:
 
  · reduce client WSE management costs;
     
  · automate new WSE and client onboarding;
     
  · accumulate a large pool of qualified WSEs across multiple geographical markets;
     
  · facilitate the intermediation (job matching) of WSEs with job opportunities; and
     
  · supply additional value-added services for our clients that generate additional revenue streams for us.
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We began to develop our HRIS platform in 2017, including our front-end desktop and mobile smartphone application to facilitate easier WSE and client onboarding processes,
deliver additional client functionality, and provide enhanced opportunities for WSEs to find shift work. Beginning in March 2019, we transitioned the development of our
mobile smartphone application from a third-party vendor to an in-house development team and launched an early version of the application several months later. As of August
31, 2019, we had completed the initial launch of our mobile application and we started to provide some of the HRIS and application services to select legacy customers on a
pilot project basis. During our fiscal year ended August 31, 2021 ("Fiscal 2021"), our in-house engineers continued to implement additional HRIS functionality in employee
fulfillment, delivery and scheduling services, and “gig” intermediation services through our mobile smartphone application. During Fiscal year ended August 31, 2022 ("Fiscal
2022"), our technology development efforts focused on supporting our growth initiatives with features such as bulk on-boarding, job matching intermediation, and qualified
candidate pool vertical market integrations. We see these technology-based services as having potential to generate multiple streams of revenue from a variety of different
markets.
 
Our cloud-based HRIS platform captures, holds, and processes HR and payroll information for our clients and WSEs through an easy-to-use customized front-end interface
coupled with a secure, remotely hosted database. The HRIS system can be accessed by either a desktop computer or an easy-to-use mobile smartphone application designed
with HR workflows in mind. Once fully implemented, we expect to reduce the time, expense, and error rate for onboarding our clients’ employees into our HRIS ecosystem.
Upon being onboarded, these WSEs are listed as available for shift work within our business ecosystem. This allows our HRIS platform to serve as both a gig marketplace for
WSEs for our opportunities and also allows for clients to better manage their staffing needs.
 
We see our technology platform and our ability to process gig workers as fully compliant W-2 employees as a key competitive advantage and differentiator to our market
competitors that will facilitate expansion of our HCM services beyond our current concentration in low-wage restaurant employees and healthcare workers. We further believe
that our accumulation of a significant number of WSEs on our platform, whether currently billed or not, will facilitate additional growth initiatives with the potential to generate
significant value for our shareholders, as described below.
  
Beginning in January 2020, we operated under a traditional staffing services business model, coupled with developed technology, to address underserved markets in the
restaurant and hospitality industries, predominately consisting of lower wage employees with high turnover. At the same time, we continued our prior efforts to expand our
services into other industries that utilize higher paid employees on a temporary or part-time basis, including the healthcare staffing industry. Our go-to-market approach was to
use an inside sales force to market our services directly to clients to manage their human capital requirements and to form strategic relationships with business associations to
gather WSEs. Until the COVID-19 pandemic, this approach was effective and resulted in substantial growth. However, the COVID-19 pandemic changed the landscape in
HCM due to reduced employment in our core restaurant and hospitality markets.
 
We evaluated our prior growth initiatives and decided to change our focus considering the new market conditions. As part of our plan, we identified several growth initiatives
designed to fully leverage our HRIS platform during the second half of Fiscal 2022 and year ended August 31, 2023 “Fiscal 2023”. These growth initiatives are focused on:
seeking acquisition targets for growth, a recurring revenue base, significant gross profit conversion, margin expansion opportunities, a light industrial sector focus, a blue-chip
client base, cyclical tailwinds, and a tenured management team willing and able to execute a comprehensive integration plan.  The Company can give no assurance that it will
be successful in implementing its business.
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Figure 2
 

    
 
 
We have built our business on a recurring revenue model since our inception in 2015.
   
Staffing Solutions
 
The Company records gross billings as revenues for its staffing solutions clients. The Company is primarily responsible for fulfilling the staffing solutions services and has
discretion in establishing price. The Company includes the payroll costs in revenues with a corresponding increase to cost of revenues for payroll costs associated with these
services. As a result, we are the principal in this arrangement for revenue recognition purposes.
 
EAS Solutions / HCM
 
EAS solutions and Human Capital Management “HCM” revenues are primarily derived from the Company’s gross billings, which are based on (i) the payroll cost of the
Company’s worksite employees (“WSEs”) and (ii) an administrative fee and (iii)  if eligible, WSE can elect certain pass through benefits. 
 
Gross billings are invoiced to each EAS and HCM client, concurrently with each periodic payroll.  Revenues are  offset by payroll cost component and pass through cost which
are presented on a net basis for revenue recognition.  WSEs perform their services at the client’s worksite. The Company assumes responsibility for processing and remitting
payroll to the WSE and payroll related obligations, it does not assume employment-related responsibilities such as determining the amount of the payroll and related payroll
obligations. Revenues that have been recognized but not invoiced are included in unbilled accounts receivable on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets were $1.8 million
and $2.1 million, as of August 31, 2023 and August 31, 2022, respectively. Client who pay in advance of their invoice, the amount is recognized as a liability.
 
Our Services
 
Figure 3
 

    
Our core business is to provide regular payroll processing services to clients under an employment administrative services (“EAS”) model in addition to individual services,
such as payroll tax compliance, workers’ compensation insurance coverage related services, and employee HR compliance management. In addition, in November 2019, we
launched our employee onboarding and employee scheduling functionalities to our customers through our mobile smartphone application. In Fiscal 2021, we began to operate
under a direct staffing business model. 
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Our core EAS are typically provided to our clients for one-year renewable terms. We expect that our future service offerings, including technology-based services provided
through our HRIS platform, will provide for additional revenue streams and support cost reductions for existing and future clients. We expect that our future services will be
offered through “a la carte” pricing via customizable online contracts under our HCM services model as well as through our direct staffing business model.   Our staffing
services are typically provided to our clients under recurring revenue contracts with one of our subsidiaries.
 
We intend to use our growth initiatives to leverage our expansion by entering into client services agreements (“CSAs”) with national accounts at regional levels and the various
restaurant brands that we are working to launch through ShiftPixy Labs. As such, these growth initiatives are expected to increase our core staffing services billings, revenues,
gross profit, and operating leverage organically. We may also support our growth by performing new business acquisitions. Further, the new Gig Economy has given rise to
controversy regarding the classification of many workers as “independent contractors”, rather than traditional employees, while the rising trend of predictive scheduling creates
logistical issues for our clients’ management of their workers’ schedules. We provide solutions to businesses struggling with these compliance issues primarily by absorbing our
clients’ workers, whom we refer to as WSEs (as well as “shift workers,” “shifters,” “gig workers,” or “assigned employees”). WSEs are included under our corporate employee
umbrella as traditional employees who receive W-2s and are entitled to participate in a full array of benefits that we provide as part of our services for our clients. This
arrangement benefits WSEs by providing additional work opportunities through access to our clients. WSEs further benefit from employee status and access to benefits through
our plan offerings, including minimum essential health insurance coverage and 401(k) plans, as well as workers’ compensation coverage.
  
Technological Solution
 
At the heart of our EAS solution is a secure, cloud-based HRIS platform accessible
by a desktop or mobile device through which our WSEs can onboard in a speedy,
efficient and paperless manner, and then find available shift work at our client
locations. We believe that this solution addresses effectively the dual issues of
assisting WSEs seeking additional work and clients looking to fill open shifts. We
believe that the easy-to-use onboarding functionality embedded in our HRIS platform
will increase our pool of WSEs and provide a deep bench of worker talent for our
business clients. The onboarding feature of our software enables us to capture all
application process related data regarding our assigned employees and to introduce
employees to and integrate them into the “ShiftPixy Ecosystem”. The mobile
application features a chatbot that leverages artificial intelligence to aid in gathering
the data from workers via a series of questions designed to capture all required
information, including customer specific and governmental information. Final
onboarding steps requiring signatures can also be prepared from the HRIS onboarding
module.

  Figure 4

 

Our HRIS platform consists of a closed proprietary operating and processing information system that provides a tool for businesses needing staffing flexibility to schedule
existing employees and to post open schedule slots to be filled by an available pool of shift workers (the “ShiftPixy Ecosystem”). The ShiftPixy Ecosystem provides the
following benefits for our clients:
 

 

1. Compliance: While our clients retain responsibility for compliance with labor and employment laws to the extent that such compliance depends upon their
exclusive control over the worksite, we assume responsibility for a substantial portion of our clients’ wage and hour regulatory obligations through our role as
legal employer of the WSEs. The ShiftPixy Ecosystem allows us to assist our clients in fulfilling their compliance obligations by providing a qualified pool of
potential applicants as shift workers who are our legal employees. This serves to lessen the regulatory and compliance burden on our clients’ management,
allowing them to focus more on the management of their business and less on legal issues.

     

 

2.   Improved staffing fulfillment, recruiting, and retention: We believe that utilization of our HRIS platform reduces the impact of high work site employees
“WSE” turnover, which is a consistent problem across the markets we serve. A significant issue at the end of Fiscal 2021 and part of Fiscal 2022 was the limited
availability of WSEs in a “tight” labor market. Our platform provides an attractive avenue for pre-screened WSE applicants to find permanent positions that meet
their needs through access to the ShiftPixy Ecosystem, which we believe results in a deeper potential labor pool for our clients to address their human capital
needs. We also can function as a “flex” employer for WSEs who may be working full or part-time for other employers but want to have an additional source of
income.
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3. Cost Savings: The payroll and related costs associated with WSEs such as workers’ compensation and benefits are consolidated and charged, in effect, in
conjunction with the shifters’ applicable rates of pay, allowing our clients to fund the employment related costs as the services are incurred, thereby avoiding
various lump sum employment-related costs. We believe that our clients typically experience reductions in overhead costs related to HR compliance, payroll
processing, WSE turnover and related costs, and elimination of non-compliance fines and related penalties, although the amount of cost savings realized varies
from client to client. We exploit economies of scale in purchasing employer related solutions such as workers’ compensation and other benefits, which allows us
to provide human capital services at a lower cost than we believe most businesses otherwise can typically staff a particular position.

     

 
4. Improved human capital management: Through access to our HRIS platform and our pool of human capital, our clients can scale up or down more rapidly,

making it easier for them to contain and manage operational costs. We charge a fixed percentage on wages that allows our clients to budget and plan more
accurately and efficiently without worrying about missteps arising from a wide range of legal and compliance issues for which we assume responsibility.

 
During Fiscal 2019, we added a scheduling component to our application that enables our clients to schedule workers and to identify shift gaps that need to be filled. We use
artificial intelligence (“AI”) to maintain schedules and fulfillment, using an active methodology to engage and move people to action. Included in this scheduling component is
our “shift intermediation” functionality, which is designed to enable our WSEs to receive information and accept available shift work opportunities at multiple worksite
locations. Our embedded AI is designed to monitor and accelerate the matching of WSEs with gig work opportunities. Our system monitors the capabilities of each WSE based
on their work experience, needs, and training and provides messaging to clients and WSEs. The system matches worker requirements such as hours, position, and pay rate with
client requirements such as experience, pay offered, hours offered and both employee and employer ratings. Similar to the way gig drivers are matched with gig riders through a
smartphone app, our gig client opportunities are matched with WSEs for improved open job fulfillment. We believe this job fulfillment automation, using our HRIS platform,
provides real-time human capital information to our clients and is a significant product differentiation feature.
 
Our goal is to have a mature and robust hosted cloud-based HRIS platform coupled with a seamless and technically sophisticated mobile smartphone application that will act as
both a revenue generation system as well as a “viral” client acquisition engine through the combination of the scheduling, delivery, and intermediation features and interactions.
We believe that once a critical mass of clients and WSEs is achieved, more shift opportunities will be created in the industries we serve. Our approach to achieving this critical
mass is currently focused to build a national staffing footprint.
 
We expect our current business plan that focusses on acquisitions that is expected to be funded with either debt or stock, to be key drivers in supplying a significant number of
WSEs across a national footprint and achieving the critical mass necessary for our technology to flourish. The development and integration of these vertical markets for our
current business plan for bulk onboarding of WSEs is the focus of our growth. .  
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Opportunity
 
Shortly after the beginning of the pandemic, once it became clear that the business interruption would be prolonged and more extensive than originally contemplated, our
management team began to make adaptations to our business strategy to capitalize on the pandemic related disruptions and what we believed to be the opportunities that would
arise during a recovery. We realized that the COVID-19 pandemic created an employment shock that required a revised strategy and opened up opportunities to capitalize on a
disrupted market. Our growth initiatives were created out of the changes underway in the early part of the pandemic and included new go-to-market strategies, and new service
lines.
 
We see our opportunities to be multi-faceted. Our business strategy is to monetize our HRIS platform within observed and expected disruptions to the human capital market. We
have designed our customer engagement to be agile in meeting the needs of a disrupted workforce and a rapidly changing work environment. The Company was founded, in
part, with the goal to be properly positioned with a valuable service offering for the human capital marketplace and thereby ready to capitalize on the next wave of disruption.
 
According to an article from Forbes dated July 21, 2022 (“3 Reasons Businesses Are Tapping Into The Gig Economy”), The gig economy is booming, and business leaders are
taking note. From the C-suite on down, Mercer’s 2022 Global Talent Trends report shows that gig is becoming a favored strategy, with six in 10 executives embracing this work
model. The increase in preference for gig workers is not surprising considering the exponential growth the gig economy has seen in recent months. Ballooning by 30% during
the pandemic, the gig workforce is now on track to surpass the full-time workforce in size by 2027. This phenomenon has prompted changes in business strategies that will
assist organizations as they battle labor shortages, inflation, and prepare for the future of work.
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According to an article from Zippia dated September 22, 2022 ("23 essential gig economy statistics 2022")
 
  · At least 59 million American adults participated in the gig economy over 2020, roughly to 36% of the U.S. workforce.
     
  · 16% of U.S adults have earned money through an online gig platform at some point in their lives, and 9% earned income from online gig work in 2021.
     
  · Wages and participation for gig workers grew by 33% in 2020.
     
  · Gig workers contributed around $1.21 trillion to the U.S. economy in 2020, which is roughly 5.7% of the total U.S. GDP.
     
  · By the end of 2023, experts predict that 52% of the American workforce will have spent some time participating in the gig economy.
 
  We have observed the following pattern in the development of the gig economy over the past fifteen years:
 
Figure 5
 

 
 
Each economic crisis creates chaos and disruption along with significant opportunities once recovery ensues. Our veteran management team has observed and learned from the
technological and economic trends of the past 25 years, along with the resultant changes to the human capital markets, including the dot.com bubble, post 9/11 economic
shocks, and the two more recent financial crises: the 2008 “Great Recession” and the 2020 COVID-19 crisis. We observed the creation of an entirely new approach to part time
“gig” work after the 2008 economic crisis with the rise of companies that eschewed the traditional employer-employee relationship in favor of an “independent contractor”
model, and which primarily focused on driver and delivery services. The resultant employment opportunities typically produced lower paying jobs that required a lower level of
skill and expertise, and often deprived workers of health and welfare benefits that are typical, and often required, in the traditional employer-employee relationship. We call
these early gig worker companies, like Uber and Postmates, “Legacy Gig” companies, which emerged in large numbers after the Great Recession. These companies
experienced significant growth within five years of the 2008 crisis by capitalizing on a combination of factors, including the economic recovery itself, the companies’ ability to
find a technological solution for the desire of the workforce to find more flexible work options, and the growing proliferation and sophistication of mobile smartphones. While
these Legacy Gig providers have enjoyed great success, they are now facing significant pushback from regulatory authorities from their decision to embrace the independent
contractor business model, which is under attack as a means of depriving employees of significant benefits and protections while evading traditional employer tax obligations.  
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The lessons learned from the Legacy Gig providers and the demographic shifts underpinning their success gave rise to the founding of ShiftPixy.  In 2015, our founders Pixy
evaluated the Legacy Gig businesses and believed that there was a need in the marketplace for a lower wage “gig” service provider to treat its workers as employees, with all of
the traditional benefits and protections that employees have historically enjoyed, while also providing the flexibility that is the hallmark of the gig economy. The ShiftPixy
Ecosystem and our HRIS platform were designed and continue to be enhanced with this goal in mind. The launch of ShiftPixy in 2015 coincided with the widespread adoption
of smartphones throughout the population, making the marriage of WSEs and business on a distributed network on a grand scale possible.   
 
Our business plan at inception was premised upon our belief that gig workers would eventually migrate away from an independent contractor to a more traditional
employee/employer relationship that nonetheless provides the range of flexibility and choice commonly desired by workers in the gig economy. We also recognized a gap in the
marketplace where traditional HR service providers were not providing a comprehensive services suite for gig workers on a level comparable to that typically provided
to higher wage or salaried employees. We also came to recognize the likelihood that governmental regulators and tax authorities would ultimately object to the prevalent use of
independent contractors by private businesses as a means to avoid paying certain taxes and avoid providing traditional employment benefits to their workers, and we believe
that recent actions by federal, state and local governments have proved our predictions to be accurate. Therefore, as our business plan has evolved, we have avoided an
independent contractor model, which we do not believe to be sustainable, in favor of a staffing model through which we employ our clients’ WSEs and provide them with a full
range of traditional benefits. 
 
Figure 6
 

   
More recently, there have been significant workplace shocks due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Increasingly and as is well documented in news media, those companies
employing lower wage employees are experiencing significantly increased employee turnover and higher recruiting costs. We believe that the broader employment marketplace
is undergoing a fundamental shift towards a new “Future Gig” workplace and further believe that ShiftPixy is well positioned to capitalize on the combination of a near term
economic recovery and the longer-term demographic shift of younger and lower paid workers to a temporary and flexible work environment, as was seen with the early gig
service provider business models. The financial markets have already recognized this opportunity in the growth and high value of companies focusing on the higher end salary
or contract employment for professionals or creative personnel (as contractors and employees) and lower pay scale workers (as contractors) as well as significant investment in
third party delivery.  We believe that our commitment to a full employment staffing model, through which our WSEs are provided with a range of traditional employment
benefits, uniquely positions us to attract Future Gig workers to our HRIS platform and the ShiftPixy Ecosystem. 
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Third party delivery constitutes an important part of our overall strategy to supply our clients with highly qualified WSEs at an affordable price while allowing them to regain
control over their brands. Throughout the pandemic, many of our clients were forced to cede control over their brands to large third-party delivery services such as Postmates
and UberEats to ensure their survival. The result was not only a dissipation of profits, but also a loss of control over the delivery experience and, in many cases, a decline in
customer loyalty and goodwill. We believe that QSRs require more control over the delivery experience to ensure their future success which, in turn, requires more flexibility
that can only be achieved through digital engagement. Our technology platform is designed with this goal in mind, focusing on real-time business intelligence for human capital
while also providing additional key data capture that is critical to QSR success.
 
We had had made substantial investment that has been made in “ghost” kitchens, which we had believe to make significant changes in restaurant industry. We believe that our
existing relationships with QSRs provide us with unique insight into the vulnerabilities and opportunities created by this third-party consumer disruption, and the primary work
of ShiftPixy Labs is devoted to maximizing the monetization of this disruption through the creation and optimization of new vertical markets and opportunities, with the goal of
creating additional shareholder value. However, we decided to delay the launch of the Ghost kitchen or Labs and the Company did not have enough capital to execute its
business plans.
  
Markets and Marketing
 
Overview
 
Our products and services are designed primarily to help from the small to large sized businesses thrive in the gig economy by providing a cost-effective, legally compliant
means to fulfill their staffing needs.  As noted above, the worldwide trend toward a gig economy has been fueled largely by the widespread adoption of smartphones, which
provide the technological means for remote office workers to move away from the traditional centralized workplace.
 
Most 18-to 30-year-old workers use a smartphone.  This, in turn, has led to a significant disruption of the traditional employer-employee relationship, with supply management
firm Ardent Partners reporting as far back as 2016 that nearly 42% of the world’s total workforce was considered “non-employee”, which includes temporary staff, gig workers,
freelancers, and independent contractors. 
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We have designed our mobile application to take full advantage of this fundamental shift to the gig economy, which has been fueled by the near universal adoption of
smartphones. Our initial marketing efforts focused on small and medium sized businesses struggling to find and maintain workers in the gig economy. In particular, we have
targeted the restaurant and hospitality industries, which are characterized by high turnover and often use independent contractors to perform less than full-time gig
engagements, primarily in the form of shift work. A significant problem for these businesses, along with many others in a wide variety of industries, involves compliance with
employment related regulations imposed by federal, state and local governments. Requirements associated with workers’ compensation insurance, and other traditional
employment compliance issues, including the employer mandate provisions of the ACA, create compliance challenges and increased costs. The compliance challenges are often
complicated by “workaround” solutions to which many employers resort to avoid characterizing employees as “full-time” in an often futile attempt to avoid fines and penalties.
 
We believe that our services and HRIS platform provide a cost-effective, fully compliant solution for small businesses facing increasingly complex regulations and related
litigation governing the classification and use of independent contractors. Recently in California, where most of our WSEs currently reside, legislation was passed that defines
gig workers employed by Legacy Gig companies such as Lyft and Uber as employees rather than independent contractors, which we believe was a direct governmental
response to a considerable loss of tax revenue derived from categorizing these WSEs as independent contractors. In November 2020, California voters passed Proposition 22,
which nominally had the effect of repealing this legislation and restoring independent contractor status with respect to “app-based drivers.” Nevertheless, Proposition 22 also
instituted various labor and wage policies that are specific to app-based drivers and their employers that do not apply to other independent contractors, including: (i) minimum
wage requirements; (ii) working hours limitations; (iii) requiring companies to pay healthcare subsidies under certain circumstances; and (iv) requiring companies to provide or
make available occupational accident insurance and accidental death insurance to their app-based drivers. We believe that there is an increasing likelihood that other states and
municipalities will impose similar mandates in the near future, which will likely include, at a minimum, wage and benefit provisions similar to those guaranteed by Proposition
22.
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Figure 7
 

 
 
Source: 11th Annual State of Independence in America, Data Highlights & Preview | August 2021 MBO Partners
 
Prior Focus and Marketing Efforts
 
Our business model provides a solution to this likely regulatory change by absorbing workers for these types of gig economy companies as our employees, significantly
limiting the risk of litigation, fines and other related issues.  Our early market focus was on the food service and hospitality industries, based primarily upon our understanding
of the issues and challenges facing QSRs. Some of the key features incorporated in our mobile smartphone application to address these challenges include: (i) scheduling and
intermediation functionality, which is designed to enhance the client’s experience through easy WSE scheduling and reducing turnover impact, and (ii) delivery functionality,
which is designed to increase revenues through “in house” delivery fulfillment, thereby reducing delivery costs while creating a better customer experience and elevated
engagement.
 
One of the most recent significant developments in the food and hospitality industry has been the rapid rise of third-party restaurant delivery Legacy Gig providers such as Uber
EatsTM, GrubHubTM, and DoorDashTM.   These providers have facilitated an increase in quick service restaurant or QSR sales in many local markets by providing food
delivery to a wide-scale audience using independent contractor delivery drivers. Nevertheless, we have observed two significant issues negatively impacting on our clients as a
result of their increased reliance upon third party delivery providers that have been widely reported. The first issue is the large revenue share typically being paid to third-party
delivery providers as delivery fees. These additional costs erode QSR profits that would otherwise be generated by additional sales made through the delivery channel.  The
second issue is that our QSR clients have encountered logistical problems with food deliveries, including late deliveries, cold food, missing accessories, and unfriendly delivery
people.  This has caused significant “brand erosion”, causing these clients to reconsider third-party delivery.
 
While some larger chain restaurants have mitigated these additional costs and risks by moving to either a centralized food fulfillment center (commissary) or a “ghost” kitchen
solution for their third-party delivery system, our clients typically lack the resources to follow this example. Our ShiftPixy Labs growth initiative, (described in more detail,
below), focuses on addressing this issue for these smaller QSR operators through the use of our technology.   Our HRIS platform allows our QSR clients to manage food
deliveries in a cost-effective manner by using their own WSEs, (for whom we serve as the legal employer), through a customized “white label” mobile application. Our delivery
feature links this “white label” delivery ordering system to our delivery solution, thereby freeing our clients to showcase their brands throughout the mobile ordering process
while retaining back-office delivery functionality on a par with that offered by the Legacy Gig providers, including scheduling, ordering, and delivery status pushed to a
customer’s smart phone. The first development phase of this aspect of our platform focused on driver onboarding functionality, which we completed during our fiscal year
ended August 31, 2019 ("Fiscal 2019"). Additional features currently under development or already implemented allow us to “micro meter” the essential commercial insurance
coverages required by our operator clients on a delivery-by-delivery basis (workers’ compensation and auto coverages), thereby overcoming a significant obstacle encountered
by QSRs seeking to provide their own delivery services without relying on a Legacy Gig provider.
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Our technology platform and approach to human capital management also provides a unique window into the daily demands of quick server restaurants (“QSR) operators,
giving us the ability to extend our technology and engagement to optimize this self-delivery proposition. We expect our most recent enhancements to our driver management
layer for operators in the ShiftPixy Ecosystem to allow our clients to use their own team members to control the delivery process from start to finish, yielding a more positive
customer experience. We believe that our mobile application already provides the HR compliance, management and insurance solutions necessary to support a delivery option
and create a turnkey self-delivery opportunity for the individual QSR operator.
 
The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our marketing efforts, along with its broader impact on the gig economy, appears to be mixed. According to a recent report issued by
AppJobs through its Future Work Institute, the pandemic has fueled an increase in global demand for remote services such as delivery, online surveys and market research,
while the demand for positions requiring entry into the home, such as house-sitting, babysitting and cleaning, has declined by 36%. Our experience with the bulk of our clients
during the height of the pandemic largely confirms this research. Specifically, we observed a significant decline in our food and hospitality billed WSEs located in our Southern
California markets during mid-March 2020, which coincided with the shutdown of many of our quick QSR clients’ dining locations. We began to experience some recovery in
early May 2020, as various lockdown measures were relaxed and many restaurant operators created “work-around” solutions to new health and safety regulations, including
improved takeout and delivery, as well as limited in-person dining. The reimplementation of lockdowns from November 2020 through February 2021 negatively impacted our
WSE billings, although this was tempered somewhat by the receipt of COVID-19 related government payments such as the PPP Loan program.  As of August 31, 2023, we
have seen a recovery, and it is clear to us that the commercial landscape in the restaurant industry has moved towards a mix between restaurant delivered meals compared to in-
person dining. Our ShiftPixy Labs initiative is largely designed to address this shift in demand. However, the commercial launch of Labs has been delayed to a future date until
there is enough capital and proper staffing.  
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Figure 8
 

   
Market expansion
 
We view our ability to capture and utilize information pertaining to our target demographic to be integral to our future expansion and revenue growth. Although our clients were
principally concentrated in Southern California, we believe that our expanded go-to-market strategy focused on building a national account portfolio managed by a newly-
formed regional team of senior sales executives and ShiftPixy Labs initiatives have the potential, if successful, to result in the addition of a significant number of WSEs to the
ShiftPixy ecosystem, covering a truly national footprint. Our current technology efforts are devoted to ensuring that our HRIS platform has the capacity to take full advantage
of this projected future growth, which we believe is likely to result from the following factors:
 
  1. Large Potential Markets.
     

   

Restaurant and Hospitality: Current statistics show that there are over 15.1 million WSEs in the restaurant and hospitality industries – representing over $300
billion in annual revenues – who are overwhelmingly working on a part-time basis. At our current monetization rate per WSE, this represents an annual gig
economy revenue opportunity of over $9 billion per year for the United States. We believe that our ShiftPixy Labs initiative will position us to take full advantage
of growth opportunities within this industry segment.
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Light Industrial Staffing: We project a target market approximating annual revenues $35 billion in North America derived from light industrial staffing,
approximately 50% of which is currently consolidated in ten larger companies with the remainder divided amongst a multitude of smaller, regional entities. We
believe that if our expanded go-to-market strategy focused on building a national account portfolio managed by a newly-formed regional team of senior sales
executives, if successful in completing its business plan, it will make us a significant player in the light industrial staffing space with a nationwide footprint. We
further believe that, if we are successful in entering into one or more CSAs with national account at regional levels, the resulting relationship will provide a
nationwide outlet for our HRIS platform that will extend our geographic footprint dramatically, which in turn should result in significant increases to our revenues
and earnings.

     

    Other Industries: Our present intention is to expand both our geographic footprint and our service offerings into other industries as well, particularly where part-
time work is a significant component of the applicable labor force, including the retail, healthcare and technology sectors.

 

 
2. Rapid Rise of Independent Workers. According to a recent study by Statista, the number of independent workers in the United States continues to increase

significantly, regardless of the frequency of work. During Calendar 2021, there were approximately 23.9 million occasional independent workers in the United
States, representing an increase from 12.9 million occasional independent workers estimated in Calendar 2017.

     

 

3. Technology Affecting Attitudes towards Employment Related Engagements. Gig economy platforms have changed the way that part-time and non-traditional
WSEs identify and connect to work opportunities through the use of smartphone technology. Many demographic groups, including millennials, have embraced
this technology as a means to secure short-term employment related engagements, as evidenced by the widespread adoption of smartphones. We believe that this
demographic trend represents the “last mile” enabling technology solutions such as ours to provide superior worker engagement in the gig economy.

     

 

4. Our Mobile Application is Designed to Provide Additional Benefits to Employers and Shift Workers. Millennials represent approximately 40% of the
independent workforce who are over the age of 21 and who work 15 hours or more each week. Mindful that we anticipate most of our shifters will be millennials
who connect with the outside world primarily through a mobile device, we are poised to significantly expand our business through our mobile application. Our
mobile application is a proprietary application downloaded to mobile devices, allowing our shifters to access shift work opportunities at all of our clients, not just
their current restaurant or hospitality provider. Our intermediation feature, which we anticipate being widely available in the near future, will also allow WSEs to
access opportunities across our entire client platform.
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Figure 9
 

   
Growth Initiatives
 
Our recent growth initiatives incorporate lessons learned from the COVID-19 pandemic and are designed to utilize our technology in a manner that maximizes growth and
profitability. The ultimate success of our business model depends upon the entry of significant numbers of WSEs into the ShiftPixy Ecosystem through placement on our HRIS
platform. The effectiveness of this platform, however, depends upon substantial cash flows to support our existing operating structure and ensure that our technology is
sufficiently advanced to support our business model.
 
As our client acquisitions slowed during the height of the pandemic in Calendar 2020, we began to re-evaluate our customer acquisition and revenue growth strategies and to
identify opportunities arising from the pandemic disruption, which we view as similar in scale and scope to the disruption observed after the 2008 financial crisis that gave rise
to the first gig economy businesses. Our response has been to pursue two complementary alternatives to organic growth that we believe will create additional shareholder value
without significant shareholder equity dilution: (i) sponsorship of SPACs, including IHC; and (ii) development of ShiftPixy Labs.
 
Transformative Sales Growth Strategy
 
ShiftPixy has put into motion an agile business development plan for rapid organic growth to focus on building scalable long-term revenue creation to become the market
leader in U.S. contingent labor through increasingly diverse service offerings.  By helping Fortune 1000 companies rethink human capital, ShiftPixy’s novel technology and
proprietary sourcing tools will disrupt not only traditional thinking about staffing, but also provide a cure to toxic employee turnover and thus provide labor cost certainty.
 
This new and compelling go-to-market strategy will leverage the recently expanded staffing platform on the ShiftPixy Human Resources Information System (“HRIS”) that
offers clients an industry-leading digital and mobile technology to handle the duties and demands of human capital management at enormous scale.   An enhanced value
proposition will offer clients automation, acceleration, liberation, and indemnification, thus driving growth and delivering value to stakeholders while also increasing our
market share.   Successful execution of this sales growth plan will leave ShiftPixy strategically positioned for secular growth in the $123 billion temporary and contract
employment staffing market in the U.S.
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The Company’s transformative sales growth strategy will capitalize on several economic developments in attractive vertical markets including retail, skilled trades, logistics,
manufacturing, healthcare, and hospitality.  A sustained surge in e-commerce is driving the need for supply chain expansions that require additional warehouses and the labor
necessary to expedite delivery and returns.  Likewise, a re-focus on domestic manufacturing capacity expansion for critical technology and an acute labor supply gap is leading
to a surge in demand for ShiftPixy’s contingent and flexible skilled labor pool.  Additional tailwinds supporting our growth strategy include positive demographic trends as the
labor market reprioritizes flexibility, control, and access to job opportunities anywhere and anytime.
 
ShiftPixy’s business development plan offers immediate solutions to critical workflow challenges for human capital acquisition, talent management, labor force retention,
worker supply chain disruptions, and runaway hiring costs. ShiftPixy’s continuous improvement of its client and candidate experience elevates engagement and satisfaction for
neglected contingent and temporary workers. The Company’s current sales plan strategy is expected to create one of the largest employers in the U.S. and build the fastest
growing flexible labor force to meet the demands of a fast-changing human capital market while ushering significant enterprise value creation and recurring revenue growth for
our shareholders.
 
ShiftPixy Labs
 
On July 29, 2020, we announced the launch of ShiftPixy Labs, which includes the development of ghost kitchens in conjunction with our wholly owned subsidiary, ShiftPixy
Ghost Kitchens, Inc. Through this initiative, we intend to bring various food delivery concepts to market that will combine with our HRIS platform to create an easily
replicated, comprehensive food preparation and delivery solution. The initial phase of this initiative was planned to have a  dedicated showcase kitchen facility located in close
proximity to our Miami headquarters.
 
The migration towards a ghost kitchen delivery solution appears to have followed a two-step process. Initially, the increased demand for third party delivery allowed restaurants
to utilize existing physical locations that would otherwise have been closed due to COVID-19 lockdowns and restrictions. This evolved into the deployment of centralized
ghost kitchen facilities by certain “early adopter” companies once they observed a critical mass of order flow. This more centralized fulfillment option results in more
economical bulk purchasing, reduced food spoilage, lower overhead, and better and more automated order completion flow.   These improved economies of scale typically
translate to significant cost reductions to operators compared to the traditional “in-person” restaurant locations, typically located in more expensive real estate locations.
 
We believed that the restaurant industry was in the midst of a food fulfillment paradigm shift that will ultimately result in the widespread use of “ghost kitchens” in a shared
environment.  Similar to shared office work locations, a shared kitchen can provide significant cost efficiencies and savings compared to the cost of operating multiple retail
restaurant locations. Coupled with ShiftPixy’s technology stack, which includes order delivery and dispatch, we believe that the ghost kitchen solutions that emerge from
ShiftPixy Labs will provide a robust and effective delivery order fulfillment option for our clients.  However, the Company has delayed the commercial launch until there is
enough capital to execute its business plans.  
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Many restaurant entrepreneurs have also become successful during the pandemic by moving outside through the use of mobile food trucks, which can be used as a launching
point for restaurants and ultimately expanded to traditional indoor dining locations. We have researched this phenomenon and, coupled with our experience in the restaurant
industry, believe a significant business opportunity exists to assist with the fulfillment of new restaurant ideas and rapidly expand those ideas across a broad geographic
footprint utilizing centralized ghost kitchen fulfillment centers. Again, we believe that ShiftPixy Labs will provide solutions that will facilitate the rapid growth of these new
businesses, through a combination of centralized ghost kitchens and an available pool of human capital resources provided through our HRIS platform, as well as through other
business assistance provided by our management team. 
 
We established an industrial facility in Miami that we expect to be fully completed and operational shortly We are equipping this facility with ten standardized kitchen stations
in both single and double kitchen configurations built within standard cargo container shells. We expect this facility, upon completion, to function as a state-of-the-art ghost
kitchen space that will be used to incubate restaurant ideas through collaboration and partnerships with local innovative chefs, resulting in sound businesses that provide
recurring revenue to ShiftPixy in a variety of ways, both through direct sales and utilization of the ShiftPixy Ecosystem, HRIS platform, and other human capital services. To
the extent that this business model is successful and can be replicated in other locations, it has the potential to contribute significant revenue to ShiftPixy in the future.
  
Competition
 
We have two primary sources of competition. Competitors to our gig business model include businesses such as Upworks, ShiftGig, Instawork, Snag, Jobletics and other
comparable businesses that seek to arrange short-term work assignments for both employees and independent contractors. Competitors to our HRIS platform include businesses
such as True Blue, Inc., Kelly Services, ManpowerGroup, and Barrett Business Services, which provide human resource software solutions.
 
We believe our service offerings compete effectively based on our strategy of combining an ecosystem of employment services with the individualized ability to link trained
workers to specific shift-work opportunities and by providing additional work opportunities, as well as facilitating procurement of low-cost workers’ compensation insurance
for our clients.
 
Governmental Regulation
 
Our business operates in an environment that is affected by numerous complex federal, state and local laws and regulations relating to labor and employment matters, benefit
plans and income and employment taxes. Further, many jurisdictions have adopted laws or regulations regarding the licensure, registration or certifications of organizations that
engage in co-employer relationships. While we do not believe that our business model generally falls within the co-employer framework, it is possible that we could become
subject to such laws and regulations if we are deemed to have entered into such relationships with regard to employees providing services in the jurisdictions where such laws
and regulations apply.
   
The following summarizes what we believe are currently the most important legal and regulatory aspects of our business:
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Federal Regulations
 
Employer Status
 
We sponsor certain employee benefit plan offerings as the “employer” of our shift workers under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the “Code”) and the Employee Retirement
Income Security Act of 1974 (“ERISA”). The multiple definitions of “employer” under both the Code and ERISA are not clear and are defined in part by complex multi-factor
tests under common law. We believe that we qualify as an “employer” of our shift workers under both the Code and ERISA, as well as various state regulations, but this status
could be subject to challenge by various regulators. For additional information on employer status and its impact on our business and results of operations, refer to the section
entitled “Risk Factors,” under the heading “If we are not recognized as an employer of WSEs under federal and state regulations, or we are deemed to be an insurance agent or
third-party administrator, we and our clients could be adversely impacted.”
 
Affordable Care Act and Health Care Reform
 
The ACA was signed into law in March 2010. The ACA implemented substantial health care reforms with staggered effective dates continuing through Calendar 2020, and
many of its provisions require the issuance of additional guidance from applicable federal government agencies and the states. There could be significant changes to the ACA
and health care in general, including the potential modification, amendment or repeal of the ACA. For additional information on the ACA and its impact on our business and
results of operations, refer to the section entitled “Risk Factors,” under the heading, “Failure to comply with, or changes in, laws and regulations applicable to our business,
particularly potential changes to the ACA, could have a materially adverse effect on our marketing plan as well as our reputation, results of operations or financial condition, or
have other adverse consequences.” The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 effectively eliminated the individual mandate provisions of the ACA, beginning in 2019.
 
Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act
 
Maintaining the security of information regarding our employees is important to us as we sponsor employee benefit plans and may have access to the personal health
information of our employees. The manner in which we manage protected health information (PHI) is subject to the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of
1996 (“HIPAA”), and the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act (the “HITECH Act”). HIPAA contains substantial restrictions and health data
privacy, security and breach notification requirements with respect to the use and disclosure of PHI. Further, under the HITECH Act there are steep penalties and fines for
HIPAA violations. Our health plans are covered entities under HIPAA, and we are therefore required to comply with HIPAA’s portability, privacy, and security requirements.
For additional information regarding the information we collect, how we maintain the confidentiality of our clients’ and employees’ confidential information and the potential
impact to our business if we fail to protect the confidentiality of such data, refer to the section entitled “Risk Factors,” under the heading, “We collect, use, transmit and store
personal and business information with the use of data service vendors, and a security or privacy breach may damage or disrupt our businesses, result in the disclosure of
confidential information, damage our reputation, increase our costs or cause losses.”
 
State Regulations
 
Many states have adopted provisions for licensure, registration, certification or other formal recognition of co-employers. Such laws vary from state to state but generally
provide for monitoring or ensuring the fiscal responsibility of a co-employer, and in some cases codify and clarify the co-employment relationship for unemployment, workers’
compensation and other purposes under state laws. While we believe that our current business primarily falls outside the scope of these laws and regulations, it is possible that
regulatory authorities could determine that our activities come under this regulatory framework to some extent. In addition, many state laws require guarantees by us of the
activities of our wholly owned subsidiary, ReThink Human Capital Management, Inc. (“HCM”), and in some states we may seek licensure, registration or certification, as
applicable, together with our subsidiary, HCM, because the financials for both organizations are consolidated. We believe that we are in compliance in all material respects with
the requirements in the states where we are conducting business.
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We must also comply with state unemployment tax requirements where our clients are located. State unemployment taxes are based on taxable wages and tax rates assigned by
each state. The tax rates vary by state and are determined, in part, based on our prior years’ compensation and unemployment claims experience in each state. Certain rates are
also determined, in part, by each client’s own compensation and unemployment claims experience. In addition, states have the ability under law to increase unemployment tax
rates, including retroactively, to cover deficiencies in the unemployment tax funds.
 
We are also subject to Federal and state laws and regulations regarding privacy and information security. For example, the California Consumer Privacy Act of 2018, (the
“CCPA” which went into effect on January 1, 2020), affords consumers expanded privacy protections, including individual rights to access, to require deletion of personal
information, to opt out of certain personal information sharing, and to receive detailed information about how personal information is used. The CCPA also provides for civil
penalties for violations, as well as a private right of action for data breaches that may increase data breach litigation. There are also a number of other pending state privacy
laws that contain similar provisions to the CCPA with which we must comply and which, in some cases, may prescribe stricter and potentially conflicting requirements.
 
Intellectual Property
 
We have registered seven trademarks, consisting of three names (ShiftPixy, ZiPixy, and ShiftPixy Labs) and four logos (the Pixy image, the Pixy wings image and wings/name
logo, and the ShiftPixy Labs logo). In addition, we have patents pending for certain features of our mobile application in the United States, Australia, Brazil, European Union,
India, Japan, Korea and Hong Kong. We have other intellectual property and related rights as well, particularly in connection with our software. We believe that our intellectual
property is of considerable importance to our business.
 
Human Capital
 
As of August 31, 2023, we employed 31 people on a full-time basis in our corporate offices.
 
Diversity and Inclusion
 
We maintain a diverse and inclusive workforce in our corporate offices, and we encourage our clients to embrace similar practices. Approximately 35% of our corporate
employees are women, including, effective January 1, 2022, our recently named Chief Operating Officer, Amanda Murphy, (who is a member of our board of directors), and
our Chief Marketing Officer, Amy Wang, and approximately 29% of our corporate employees are non-white (6% Asian, 71% and  Hispanic). We encourage our clients to
employ the same practices that we use to ensure diversity in the workplace, which has resulted in an extremely diverse WSE population.  Our efforts include the preparation
and distribution of employee manuals internally and to our clients that fully incorporate diversity and inclusion best practices, as well as implementation of robust training
programs that we believe to be most effective in eliminating and preventing harassment, bullying and bias in the workplace.
 
Workforce Compensation and Pay Equity
 
We provide robust compensation and benefits programs to help meet the needs of our corporate employees, and we also provide the means for our clients to provide similar
benefits to their WSEs, many of which have traditionally been unavailable to gig workers and others filling lower wage positions. We provide our corporate employees with
highly competitive salaries, as well as a 401(k) Plan, healthcare and insurance benefits, paid time off, and family leave. We also provide all of our corporate employees with
targeted equity-based grants with vesting conditions designed to facilitate the retention of personnel and the opportunity to benefit financially from the Company’s growth and
profitability.
 
We also believe that adoption of the ShiftPixy HRIS platform by our clients has had, and will continue to have, far-reaching effects in bringing pay equity to historically lower
wage positions, by harnessing the power of the internet-driven gig economy to provide WSEs the ability and freedom to find the best work opportunities available.  The cost
efficiencies our clients realize though adoption of the ShiftPixy technology platform, in our opinion, provides the means for them not only to pay higher wages, but also to
provide substantial employment benefits not often available to lower wage workers in the modern economy, including access to healthcare and insurance benefits and 401(k)
Plans.
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Talent Acquisition and Retention
 
We continually monitor corporate employee turnover rates and those of our clients, as we firmly believe that our success and that of our business partners depends upon
retaining highly trained and dedicated team members. We are convinced that our philosophy of providing highly competitive compensation, along with significant opportunities
for career growth and development opportunities, encourages longer employment tenure and low levels of voluntary turnover. Given our limited operating history and
significant rate of growth, we are not currently able to produce meaningful statistics related to corporate employee turnover and tenure on a macro level, but based on feedback
we receive both informally and through periodic formal reviews and evaluations, we believe that our relationship with our corporate employees is excellent.
 
Company Culture
 
We expect all of our corporate employees to observe the highest levels of business ethics, integrity, mutual respect, tolerance, and inclusivity, and encourage our clients to
demand the same from WSEs. Our Corporate Employee Manual, and those employee manuals that we provide to our clients, set forth detailed provisions reflecting these
values, and provide direction for registering complaints, (including through an anonymous hotline jointly administered by our General Counsel and the Chair of our Audit
Committee), in the event of violations of our policies. Our executive officers and supervisors maintain “open door” policies, and we encourage our clients to do the same. Any
form of retaliation is strictly prohibited.
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Development and Training
 
We invest significant resources in developing and retaining the talent needed to achieve our business goals. We maintain a relatively “flat” corporate organizational structure,
whereby our employees benefit from training and mentoring by individuals filling a variety of different functions within ShiftPixy, and we encourage our clients to follow our
example. We believe that this highly dynamic environment provides the hands-on training necessary for our corporate employees and WSEs to achieve their career goals, build
necessary skills, and advance within their fields.
 
Oversight and Governance
 
Our board of directors takes an active role in overseeing our corporate ethics as well as the management of our human capital, which includes reviewing, approving, and
implementing policies and procedures governing the administration of the workplace, such as policies related to potential conflicts of interest, compensation, ethics, and
elimination of workplace bias and harassment. Our Chief Operating Officer, Ms. Murphy, who is also a member of our board of directors, has been employed by the Company
since its inception, and is responsible for the day-to-day administration of these policies and procedures, receiving input and assistance from the Company’s General Counsel as
necessary and appropriate. Both our Director of Operations and General Counsel regularly report to our board of directors on issues related to corporate oversight and
governance.
 
Employee Engagement and Wellness
 
The success of our business is fundamentally connected to the well-being of our people. Accordingly, we are committed to the health, safety and wellness of our corporate
employees, and we encourage our clients to make this a priority for their WSEs. We provide our corporate employees and facilitate our clients by providing WSEs with a wide
range of benefits, including benefits directed to their health, safety and long-term financial security. This includes taking whatever measures remain necessary in response to
COVID-19 pandemic that we determine to be in the best interests of our corporate employees and our client’s WSEs, as well as the communities in which we operate, and
which comply with government regulations.
 
Workers’ Compensation Insurance
 
During Fiscal 2021, the Company made a strategic decision to change its approach to securing workers’ compensation coverage for our clients. This was primarily due to
rapidly increasing loss development factors stemming in part from the COVID-19 pandemic. The combination of increased claims from WSEs, the inability of WSEs to obtain
employment quickly and return to work after injury claims and increasing loss development factor rates from our insurance and reinsurance carriers resulted in significantly
larger potential loss exposures, claims payments, and additional expense accruals. Starting on January 1, 2021, we began to migrate our clients to our new direct cost program,
which we believe significantly limits our claims exposure. Effective March 1, 2021, all of our clients had migrated to the direct cost program.
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PART I
  
Item 1A. Risk Factors
 
Our operations and financial results are subject to various risks and uncertainties, including those described below, that could adversely affect our business, financial condition,
results of operations, cash flows, and the trading price of our common stock. Some statements in this Form 10-K, including statements in the following risk factors, constitute
forward-looking statements. Please refer to the section entitled “Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” for more information.
 
Summary of Material Risk Factors
 

  · We have limited operating history, which makes it difficult for us to evaluate our future business prospects and make decisions based on those estimates of future
performance.

     
  · Our success depends on adoption of our products and services by our various types of customers.
     
  · We assume the obligation to make wage, tax, and regulatory payments for WSEs, and, as a result, are exposed to client credit risks.
     

 
· We operate in an immature and rapidly evolving industry and have a relatively new business model, which makes it difficult to evaluate our business and

prospects. We face intense competition across all markets for our services, which may lead to lower revenue or operating margins. Our targeted customer base is
diverse, and we face a challenge in meeting each group’s needs.

     

  · Providing specialized Gig Economy oriented staffing management products and services is an emerging yet competitive business, and many of our competitors
have greater resources that may enable them to compete more effectively.

     
  · We have claims and lawsuits against us that may result in adverse outcomes.
     
  · We have identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting.
     

  · If we are unable to secure or pay for the insurance coverage required for our business operations, or if we lose any existing coverage, we may not be able to offer
some of our services and our revenues could be reduced.

     

 
· We may be subject to penalties and interest payable on taxes as a result of data entry in our software or manual error. Our ability to adjust and collect service fees

for increases in unemployment tax rates may be limited. Our software does not track penalties and interest, and this is performed manually. This may cause errors
in calculations of the amount due.

     
  · We may never successfully commercialize ShiftPixy Labs.
     

 
· We may have outages, data losses, and disruptions of our online services if we fail to maintain an adequate operations infrastructure. Because we store data in the

cloud with providers such as Microsoft and Amazon, any disruptions in our ability to access this data or any breach of security concerning this data in the cloud
could have a materially adverse effect.

     
  · Software products we use in our business may contain defects which will make it more difficult for us to establish and maintain customers.
     

  · The Company is delinquent in paying its outstanding payroll taxes to the Internal Revenues Service, states and local taxing authorities. If the IRS pursues
collection efforts beyond what the Company can afford to pay, the IRS can freeze our bank accounts and the Company may be forced to file for bankruptcy.
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  · If a contract relating to our mission critical software that we use in our business is terminated or not renewed, our business could be seriously disrupted, and our
revenues significantly reduced.

     
  · We may not be able to protect our source code from copying in the event of an unauthorized disclosure.
     

  · We intend to use open source blockchain technology in our technology platform, which has been scrutinized by regulatory agencies and may be impacted by
unfavorable regulatory action.

     
  · We use and leverage open-source technology in our technology platform which may create security risks.
     

  · We depend heavily on Scott W. Absher, who is our Board Chair, Chief Executive Officer and largest shareholder. The loss of his services could harm our
prospects, and our ability to implement successfully our business plan.

     

  · If we are not recognized as an employer of WSEs under federal and state regulations, or we are deemed to be an insurance agent or third-party administrator, we
and our clients could be adversely impacted.

     

  · We are in the business of providing WSEs to our clients. As such we have been sued for claims resulting from action by or against our WSEs, including
California Private Attorney General’s Act claims, and are likely to be subject to such claims in the future, which may require significant capital to defend.

     

  · Failure to comply with, or changes in, laws and regulations applicable to our business, particularly potential changes to the ACA, could have a materially adverse
effect on our business.

     
  · Failure to secure any necessary registrations or licensure could affect our ability to operate certain segments of our business in certain jurisdictions.
     

  · Laws related to the classification of gig economy workers are changing, and we may be subject to state and local regulations impacting how we classify our
workers.

     

  · Our common stock is thinly traded, which can cause volatility in its price. If we are unable to continue to meet the listing requirements of Nasdaq, our common
stock will be delisted.

     

  · A controlling interest in our common stock is closely held by our Board Chair and CEO, Mr. Absher, which may limit minority shareholders from influencing
corporate governance.

     

  · We are an “emerging growth company” under the JOBS Act, as well as a "smaller reporting company," and we cannot be certain if the reduced disclosure
requirements applicable to such companies will make our common stock less attractive to investors.

 
Risks Relating to Our Business
 
We have a limited operating history, which makes it difficult for us to evaluate our future business prospects and make decisions based on those estimates for our future
performance.
 
We are an emerging business and are in the process of developing our products and services. We have been in business since July 2015. Although our continuing business
processed gross billings of over $39.0 million and $52.2 million for Fiscal 2023, and Fiscal 2022, respectively, it is still difficult, if not impossible, to forecast our future results
based upon our limited historical operating data. Because of the related uncertainties, we may be hindered in our ability to anticipate and timely adapt to increases or decreases
in sales, revenues or expenses. If we make poor budgetary decisions as a result of unreliable data, our gross billings in the future may decline, which may result in a decline in
our stock price.
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We currently do not have any commitments to secure additional financing at this time and do not have any commitments to acquire any other businesses or assets. Our long-
term future growth and success, including implementation of our growth initiatives, as described above, are dependent not only upon our ability to generate cash from operating
activities but also our ability to raise additional capital. Nevertheless, there is no assurance that we will be able to generate sufficient cash from operations, to borrow additional
funds or to raise additional equity capital. Our inability to obtain additional cash through any of these avenues could have a material adverse effect on our ability to fully
implement our business plan as described herein and grow our business.
 
We maintained limited self-insurance for the workers’ compensation services that we provide to our clients. If we experience claims in excess of our collected premiums, we
might incur additional losses, higher costs, and reduced margins, resulting in a need for more liquidity.
 
We are responsible for and pay workers’ compensation costs for our WSEs. Until March 1, 2021, we self-insured for up to $500,000 per occurrence and we purchased
reinsurance for claims in excess of $500,000. After March 1, 2021, our workers’ compensation coverage moved to a prepaid premium model that does not require us to record
additional reserves. Our workers’ compensation billings are designed to cover expected claims based on insurance annuity calculations. These calculations are based on our
claims experienced during our limited operating history. At times, these costs have risen substantially as a result of increased claims and claim trends, general economic
conditions, changes in business mix, increases in healthcare costs, and government regulations. Although we carry insurance and believe that we currently have reserves
sufficient to insulate us against projected losses, any unexpected changes in claim trends, including the severity and frequency of claims, actuarial estimates, and medical cost
inflation, could result in us exceeding these projections. If future claims-related liabilities increase due to unforeseen circumstances, or if new laws, rules, or regulations are
implemented, costs could increase significantly. There can be no assurance that we will be able to increase the fees charged to our clients in a timely manner and in a sufficient
amount to cover increased costs as a result of any changes in claims-related liabilities.
 
There is no guarantee that our current cash position, expected revenue growth and anticipated financing transactions will be sufficient to fund our operations for the next
twelve months.
 
The Company expects to raise capital from additional sales of its securities during this fiscal year either through registered public offerings or private placements, the proceeds
of which the Company intends to use to fund its operations and growth initiatives. There can be no assurance that we will be able to sell securities on terms that the Company is
seeking, or at all. Management believes that its current cash position, along with its anticipated revenue growth and proceeds from future sales of its securities, when combined
with prudent expense management, cannot alleviate substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern and to fund its operations for at least one year from the
date the financial statements included in this report are available. If these sources do not provide the capital necessary to fund the Company’s operations during the next twelve
months, from the date of the issuance of the financial statement, we  may need to drastically curtail certain aspects of its operations or expansion activities, consider the sale of
additional assets, (although the Company would not expect to obtain the expected proceeds on a forced liquidation) or consider other means of financing. The Company can
give no assurance that it will be successful in implementing its business plan and obtaining financing on advantageous terms, or that any such additional financing will be
available. If the Company is not successful in obtaining the necessary financing, we do not currently have the cash resources to meet our operating commitments for the next
twelve months. The consolidated financial statements included in this report do not include any adjustments for this uncertainty. Therefore, management has concluded that
Company that there is substantial doubt its ability to continue as a going concern for the next twelve months from the date of the issuance of the financial statement.
  
As of August 31, 2023, the Company had cash of $0.1 million and a working capital deficit of $51.0 million. During the year ended August 31, 2023, the Company used
approximately $9.2 million of cash from its continuing operations and incurred recurring losses, resulting in an accumulated deficit of $226.4 million. As of August 31, 2023,
the Company is delinquent with respect to remitting payroll tax payments to the IRS. The Company has retained tax counsel and has been in near constant communication with
the IRS regarding processing its Employee Retention Tax Credits (“ERTCs”).  On September 14, 2023, the IRS has a moratorium on processing new ERTC claims and many of
the Company’s clients are seeking refunds.
 
The Company does not know when the IRS will start processing ERTC claims. In addition, the Company has received notices from the IRS that it has approximately $11.8
million for unpaid tax liabilities including penalties and interest outstanding. This is a partial amount of approximately $22.8 million inclusive of the IRS, states, and local
jurisdiction outstanding payroll liabilities as of August 31, 2023. Should the IRS determine the collectability of tax be determined to be in jeopardy, the IRS can, with limited
notice, levy the Company’s bank accounts and is subject to enforcement collections. ShiftPixy has requested for a collection due process or equivalent hearing, which are
subject to enforced collection efforts.   ShiftPixy has also filed for an abatement of additions to the tax and related interest for the failure to make required deposits and the
failure to timely pay required tax that are subject to enforced collection.  That request is pending before the IRS Independent Office of Appeals. If the Company can’t get a
resolution of the payroll tax issues and related ERTC credits, an appeal to the US Tax Court can be filed.  There is no assurance that the IRS will abate the Company’s penalties,
interest, and process new ERTC claims.
 
Some clients have filed suits against the Company, demanding that the Company take action to file for additional ERTCs for certain tax periods. Until the matter is concluded,
and the taxes are paid, the IRS could, subject to its standard processes and the Company’s right to respond, implement collection actions, including such actions as levying
against Company bank accounts, to recover the amounts that it calculates to be due and owing.
 
The Company has taken aggressive steps to reduce its overhead expenses. The Company’s plans and expectations for the next twelve months include raising additional capital
which may help fund the Company’s operations and through acquisitions funded by debt and or stock, as the key driver towards its success. In addition, the Company is
changing its business model since it is operating at a loss and not generating positive cash flows from operations. The payroll tax liabilities, interest, and penalties are expected
to increase based upon the current Company’s business plans may cause the Company to file for bankruptcy in the near future.
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Our success depends on adoption of our products and services by our various types of customers. If these potential customers do not accept and acquire our products and
services, then our revenue will be severely limited.
 
The major customer groups to whom we believe our products and services will appeal (i.e. both clients and WSEs who rely upon shift work), may not embrace our products
and services. Acceptance of our products and services will depend on several factors, including cost, ease of use, familiarity of use, convenience, timeliness, strategic
partnerships, and reliability. If we fail to adequately meet our customers’ needs and expectations, our product offerings may not be competitive and our ability to commence or
continue generating revenues could be reduced. We also cannot be sure that our business model will gain wide acceptance among all targeted customer groups. If the market
fails to continue to develop, or develops more slowly than we expect, our ability to continue generating revenues could be reduced.
 
We assume the obligation to make wage, tax, and regulatory payments for WSEs, and, as a result, are exposed to client credit risks.
 
Under our typical customer service agreement, we assume the obligations to pay the salaries, wages and related benefits costs and payroll taxes for our WSEs. We assume such
obligations as an agent, not as a principal, of the client. Our obligations include responsibility for:
  
  · payment of the salaries and wages for work performed by WSEs, regardless of whether the client timely pays us the associated service fee; and
     
  · withholding and payment of federal and state payroll taxes with respect to wages and salaries reported by us.
 
If a client does not pay us, our ultimate liability for WSE payroll and benefits costs could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition or results of operations.
 
If we are unable to effectively manage growth and maintain low operating costs, our results of operations and financial condition may be adversely affected. (we have seen
a decline not growth)
 
We have experienced rapid growth since our inception, and our plans contemplate significant expansion of our business. If we are unable to manage our growth effectively,
(including having geographically dispersed offices and employees), or to anticipate and manage our future growth accurately, our business may be adversely affected. If we are
unable to manage our expansion and growth effectively, we may be unable to keep our operating costs low or effectively meet the requirements of an ever-growing,
geographically dispersed client base. Our business relies on data systems, billing systems and financial reporting and control systems, procedures and controls. Our success in
managing our expansion and growth in a cost-effective manner will require us to upgrade and improve these systems, procedures and controls. If we are unable to adapt our
systems and put adequate controls in place in a timely manner, our business may be adversely affected. In addition, our growth may place significant demands on our
management, and our overall operational and financial resources. A failure on our part to meet any of the foregoing challenges inherent in our growth strategy may have an
adverse effect on our results of our operations and financial condition.
 
Our targeted customer base is diverse, and we face a challenge in adequately meeting each group’s needs.
 
Because we serve both employers and employees, we must work constantly to understand the needs, standards and requirements of each group and must devote significant
resources to developing products and services for their interests. If we do not accurately predict our customers’ needs and expectations, we may expend valuable resources in
developing products and services that do not achieve broad acceptance across the markets, and we may fail to grow our business.
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We face intense competition across all markets for our services, which may lead to lower revenue or operating margins. Competing forms of Gig Economy oriented staffing
management products and services may be more desirable to consumers or may make our products and services obsolete.
 
Our competitors range in size from diversified global companies with significant research and development resources to small, specialized firms whose narrower service lines
may make them more effective in deploying technical, marketing, and financial resources. Barriers to entry in many of our businesses are low and many of the areas in which
we compete evolve rapidly with changing and disruptive technologies, shifting user needs, and frequent introductions of new products and services. Our ability to remain
competitive depends on our success in making innovative products, devices, and services that appeal to customers.
 
Companies compete with us based on a growing variety of business models. The competitive pressures described above may cause decreased sales volumes, price reductions,
and/or increased operating costs, such as for research and development, marketing, and sales incentives. This may lead to lower revenue, gross margins, and operating income.
 
There are currently several different competing Gig Economy oriented staffing management product and service technologies that are being marketed to our potential
customers. Further development of any of these technologies may lead to advancements in technology that will make our products and services obsolete. Consumers may prefer
alternative technologies and products and services. We cannot guarantee that users of Gig Economy oriented staffing management products and services who will be using our
products and services will continue to grow within the industry as a whole. Any developments that contribute to the obsolescence of our products and services may substantially
impact our business, reducing our ability to generate or sustain revenues.
 
Providing specialized Gig Economy oriented staffing management products and services is an emerging yet competitive business, and many of our competitors have greater
resources that may enable them to compete more effectively.
 
We compete in the same markets as many companies that offer not only staffing management products and services focused on the Gig Economy but also more traditional
staffing management products and services. There are limited barriers to entry and price competition in the industry, particularly from larger, more traditional industry model
competitors, is intense with pricing pressures from competitors and clients increasing. New competitors entering our markets may further increase pricing pressures.
 
We have observed that clients sometimes competitively bid on new contracts, which is a trend that we expect to continue for the foreseeable future. Some of our competitors
have greater resources than we, which may enable them to compete more effectively in this market. Our competitors may devote their resources to developing and marketing
products and services that will directly compete with our product lines, and new, more efficient competitors may enter the market. If we are unable to successfully compete with
existing companies and new entrants to the market, it will have a negative impact on our business and financial condition.
 
We operate in an immature and rapidly evolving industry and have a relatively new business model, which makes it difficult to evaluate our business and prospects.
 
The industry in which we operate is characterized by rapidly changing regulatory requirements, evolving industry standards and shifting user and client demands. Our business
model is also evolving and is different from models used by other companies in our industry. As a result of these factors, the success and future revenue and income potential of
our business is uncertain. Any evaluation of our business and our prospects must be considered in light of these risks and uncertainties, some of which relate to our ability to:
 
  · Expand client and WSE relationships;
     
  · Increase the number of our clients and grow our WSE base;
     
  · Develop relationships with third-party vendors, HCM providers, and insurance companies;
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  · Expand operations and implement and improve our operational, financial and management controls;
     
  · Raise capital at attractive costs, or at all;
     
  · Attract and retain qualified management, employees and independent service providers;
     
  · Successfully introduce new processes, technologies, products and services, and upgrade our existing processes, technologies, products and services;
     
  · Protect our proprietary processes and technologies and our intellectual property rights; and
     

  · Respond to government regulations relating to the internet, personal data protection, email, software technologies, cyber security and other regulated aspects of
our business.

 
If we are unable to successfully address the challenges posed by operating in an immature and rapidly evolving industry and having a relatively new business model, our
business could suffer.
 
We have claims and lawsuits against us that may result in adverse outcomes.
 
We are subject to a variety of claims and lawsuits. These claims arise from a wide variety of business practices, significant business transactions, operational claims, and
employment practices. Adverse outcomes in some or all of these claims may result in significant monetary damages or injunctive relief that could adversely affect our ability to
conduct our business. Such litigation and other claims are subject to inherent uncertainties and management’s view of these matters may change in the future. A material
adverse impact on our consolidated financial statements could occur for the period in which the effect of an unfavorable outcome becomes probable and reasonably estimable.
 
We have identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting. If our internal control over financial reporting is not effective, we may not be able
to accurately report our financial results or file our periodic reports in a timely manner, which may cause adverse effects on our business, may cause investors to lose
confidence in our reported financial information and may lead to a decline in stock price.
 
Effective internal control over financial reporting is necessary to provide reliable financial reports in a timely manner. In connection with the audit of our consolidated financial
statements for Fiscal 2023, we concluded that there were material weaknesses. The Company did not properly or maintain effective entity level monitoring controls over
financial reporting and lacked segregation of duties. In addition, the Company did not properly design, implement and constantly operate effective controls over the
completeness and accuracy of its penalty and interest calculation associated with its outstanding payroll tax liabilities. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of
deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the annual or interim financial statements will
not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.
  
The Company has limited staff in its financial department and the plans on effective; remediating these deficiencies is to engage  third-party experts to first review the
Company’s financial operations, consider what is the most cost-effective way to assist ShiftPixy to perform  the following:
    
  · Review, asses and effectively design the Company’s s internal controls for reliable financial reporting;
  · Review the Company’s 10-Q and 10-K prior to submission to the auditors for compliance over financial reporting and

  · Review the detailed calculations of interest and penalties associated with the outstanding payroll tax liabilities for accuracy, completeness and compliance to the
IRS, states and local to the applicable guidelines.

 
In addition, the Company did not design or maintain effective controls over its’ service organizations and IT vendors. More specifically, the company did not properly design or
implement appropriate user access controls or have controls in place to review applicable complementary user entity controls described in service organizations’ reports for
their potential impact on the Company’s financial reporting.
 
If we are unable to successfully remediate our material weaknesses or identify any future significant deficiencies or material weaknesses, the accuracy and timing of our
financial reporting may be adversely affected, a material misstatement in our consolidated financial statements could occur, or we may be unable to maintain compliance with
securities law requirements regarding timely filing of periodic reports, all of which could adversely affect our business and cause our stock price to decline as a result. In
addition, even if we remediate our material weaknesses, we will be required to expend significant time and resources to further improve our internal controls over financial
reporting, including by further expanding our finance and accounting staff to meet the demands that are placed upon us as a public company, including the requirements of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act. If we fail to adequately staff our accounting and finance function to remediate our material weaknesses or fail to maintain adequate internal control over
financial reporting, any new or recurring material weaknesses could prevent us from concluding that our internal control over financial reporting is effective and impair our
ability to prevent material misstatements in our consolidated financial statements, which could cause our business to suffer.
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If we are unable to secure or pay for the insurance coverage required for our business operations, or if we lose any existing coverage, we may not be able to offer some of
our services and our revenues could be reduced.
 
We are required to obtain and maintain various types of insurance coverage for our business, in particular health and workers’ compensation insurance related to our
employment of WSEs. Although we have contracts with all types of providers currently necessary for our business, if in the future we are unable to secure the insurance
coverage required for our business operations, or if we lose any existing coverage, we may not be able to offer some of our services and our revenues could be reduced. In
addition, any increases in the cost of insurance coverage we are required to maintain could reduce our profitability (or increase our net losses).
 
We may be subject to penalties and interest payable on taxes as a result of data entry into our software or manual error.
 
Our input of data in our tax processing software must be entered properly to process the data and payments correctly with regard to clients, co-employees and applicable tax
agencies. If we input incorrect data or input accurate data incorrectly, we could inadvertently overbill or underbill our clients or overpay or underpay applicable taxes, resulting
in the loss of net income and/or clients and/or the incurrence of tax penalties and interest. Despite our efforts to reconcile taxes on a monthly basis, we may incur additional
taxes, penalties and interest for which we may or may not bill our clients.
 
We may be subject to increases in penalties and interest payable on our payroll taxes due to delinquent payroll taxes to the Internal Revenue Service, states and local
jurisdiction.
 
The Company has outstanding delinquent payroll tax liabilities to the Internal Revenue Service, states and local authorities that have increased from August 31, 2022 to August
31, 2023 from not paying the required current and past payroll taxes from $12.9 million to $22.8 million as of August 31, 2022 and August 31, 2023, respectively. The accrued
penalty and interest have increased from $0.9 million to $6.5 million as of August 31, 2022 to August 31, 2023, respectively, The IRS, states and local jurisdictions can levy the
Company’s bank accounts and is subject to enforcement collections. ShiftPixy has requested for a collection due process or equivalent hearing, that are subject to enforced
collection.  ShiftPixy has also filed for an abatement of additions to tax and related interest for the failure to make required deposits and the failure to timely pay required tax
that are subject to enforced collection.  That request is pending before the IRS Independent Office of Appeals.
 
Our ability to adjust and collect service fees for increases in unemployment tax rates may be limited.
 
We record our State Unemployment Tax (“SUI”) expense based on taxable wages and tax rates assigned by each state. SUI tax rates vary by state and are determined, in part,
based on prior years’ compensation experience in each state. Prior to the receipt of final tax rate notices, we estimate our expected SUI tax rate in those states for which tax rate
notices have not yet been received for purposes of pricing. In a period of adverse economic conditions state unemployment funds may experience a significant increase in the
number of unemployment claims. Accordingly, SUI tax rates would likely increase substantially. Some states have the ability under law to increase SUI tax rates retroactively
to cover deficiencies in the unemployment fund.
 
In addition, taxes under the Federal Unemployment Tax Act (“FUTA”) may be retroactively increased in certain states in the event the state fails to timely repay federal
unemployment loans. Employers in such states are experiencing higher FUTA tax rates as a result of not repaying their unemployment loans from the federal government in a
timely manner. The credit reduction is an additional tax on the FUTA wage base for employers in states that continue to have outstanding federal unemployment insurance loans
beginning with the fifth year in which there is a balance due on the loan. States have the option to apply for a waiver before July 1st of the year in which the credit reduction is
applicable.
 
Generally, our contractual agreements allow us to incorporate such statutory tax increases into our service fees upon the effective date of the rate change. However, our ability
to fully adjust service fees in our billing systems and collect such increases over the remaining term of the clients’ contracts could be limited, resulting in a potential tax
increase not being fully recovered. As a result, such increases could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition or results of operations.
  
 

33



Table of Contents
 
Risks Relating to Technology
 
We collect, use, transmit and store personal and business information with the use of data service vendors, and a security or privacy breach may damage or disrupt our
businesses, result in the disclosure of confidential information, damage our reputation, increase our costs or cause losses.
 
In connection with our business, we collect, use, transmit and store with data services vendors large amounts of personal and business information about our clients and shift
employees, including payroll information, healthcare information, personal and limited business financial data, social security numbers, bank account numbers, tax information
and other sensitive personal and business information. In addition, as we continue to grow the scale of our business, we will process and store with data services vendors an
increasing volume of personally identifiable information from our users. Our data services vendors include PrismHR, Amazon Web Services, Microsoft OneDrive, ShareFile,
Dropbox, Egnyte, Smartsheet, Sage Intacct, MasterTax, Microsoft Outlook, Microsoft Office 365, DocuSign and RightSignature. We believe these vendors implement industry
standard or more stringent data security measures to protect the data that we transmit through and/or store with them. Despite our efforts to protect customer data, perceptions
that the collection, use, and storage of personal information are not satisfactorily protected could inhibit sales and limit adoption of our services. In addition, the continued
occurrence of high-profile data breaches provides evidence of an external environment increasingly hostile to information security.
 
We are focused on ensuring that our operating environments safeguard and protect personal and business information, and we will devote significant resources to maintaining
and regularly updating our systems and processes. The cost to maintain these safeguards is significant and may increase as we grow, which may limit our ability to employ our
resources elsewhere and slow our ability to grow. Despite our efforts to maintain security controls across our business, it is possible our security controls over personal data, our
training of employees and vendors on data security, and other practices we follow may not prevent the improper disclosure of customer data that we or our vendors store and
manage. In addition, attacks on information technology systems continue to grow in frequency, complexity and sophistication, and we may be targeted by unauthorized parties
using malicious tactics, code and viruses.
 
We engage third party contractors who monitor our activities in a manner designed to prevent, detect and respond to data security incidents. However, because the techniques
used to obtain unauthorized access, disable or degrade service, or sabotage systems change frequently and may be difficult to detect for long periods of time, we may be unable
to anticipate these techniques or implement adequate preventive measures. In addition, hardware, software, or applications we develop or procure from third parties may
contain defects in design or manufacture or other problems that could unexpectedly compromise the confidentiality, integrity or availability of data or our systems.
Unauthorized parties may also attempt to gain access to our systems or facilities, or those of third parties with whom we do business, through fraud, trickery, or other methods
of deceiving our employees, contractors, or temporary staff. As these threats continue to evolve, we may be required to invest significant additional resources to modify and
enhance our information security and controls or to investigate and remediate any security vulnerabilities. In addition, while our operating environment is designed to safeguard
and protect personal and business information, we do not have the ability to monitor the implementation of similar safeguards by our clients, vendors or their respective
employees, and, in any event, third parties may be able to circumvent those security measures.
 
Any cyber-attack, unauthorized intrusion, malicious software infiltration, network disruption, denial of service, corruption of data, theft of non-public or other sensitive
information, any similar act by a malevolent party, or inadvertent acts by our own employees, could result in the disclosure or misuse of confidential or proprietary information,
harm our reputation, and could have a materially adverse effect on our business operations, or that of our clients, create financial liability, result in regulatory sanction, or
generate a loss of confidence in our ability to serve clients or cause current or potential clients to choose another service provider, or subject us to liability under laws that
protect personal data, resulting in increased costs or loss of revenue. Although we believe that through our third party contractors, we maintain an adequate program of
information security and controls and any threats that we might have encountered to date have not materially impacted us, the impact of a data security incident could have a
materially adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. In addition, any further security measures we may undertake to address further
protections may cause higher operating expenses.
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We are also subject to various federal and state laws, rules and regulations relating to the collection, use, transmission and security of personal and business information. In
addition, the possession and use of personal information and data in conducting our business subjects us to laws that may require notification to regulators, clients or employees
in the event of a privacy breach and may impose liability on us for privacy deficiencies, including but not limited to liability under laws that protect the privacy of personal
information, such as HIPAA, and regulatory penalties. These laws continue to develop, the number of jurisdictions adopting such laws continues to increase, and these laws
may be inconsistent from jurisdiction to jurisdiction. The future enactment of more restrictive laws, rules or regulations could have a materially adverse impact on us through
increased costs or restrictions on our businesses and noncompliance could result in regulatory penalties and significant legal liability. In addition, enforcement actions and
investigations by regulatory authorities related to data security incidents and privacy violations continue to increase.
 
Some of the activities in which our shift workers could become involved include health care information-related responsibilities that could invoke the need for compliance with
HIPAA as amended by the HITECH Act. The United States Department of Health and Human Services has issued regulations that establish uniform standards governing the
conduct of certain electronic health care transactions and protect the privacy and security of protected health information used or disclosed by health care providers and other
covered entities. Three principal regulations with which we are required to comply have been issued in final form under HIPAA: privacy regulations, security regulations, and
standards for electronic transactions, which establish standards for common health care transactions. Privacy regulations cover the use and disclosure of protected health
information by health care providers. They also set forth certain rights that an individual has with respect to his or her protected health information maintained by a health care
provider, including the right to access or amend certain records containing protected health information or to request restrictions on the use or disclosure of protected health
information. The security regulations establish requirements for safeguarding the confidentiality, integrity, and availability of protected health information that is electronically
transmitted or electronically stored. The HITECH Act, among other things, establishes certain health information security breach notification requirements. A covered entity
must notify any individual whose protected health information is breached. The HIPAA privacy and security regulations establish a uniform federal “floor” and do not
supersede state laws that are more stringent or provide individuals with greater rights with respect to the privacy or security of, and access to, their records containing protected
health information. These laws contain significant fines and other penalties for wrongful use or disclosure of protected health information. Additionally, to the extent that we
submit electronic health care claims and payment transactions that do not comply with the electronic data transmission standards established under HIPAA and the HITECH
Act, payments to us may be delayed or denied.
 
We may be vulnerable to security breaches that could disrupt our operations and adversely affect our business.
 
Despite security measures and business continuity plans, our information technology networks, and infrastructure may be vulnerable to damage, disruptions, or shutdowns due
to unauthorized access, computer viruses, cyber-attacks, distributed denial of service, and other security breaches. An attack on our security breach of our network could result
in interruption or cessation of access and services, our inability to meet our access and service level commitments, and potentially compromise customer data transmitted over
our network. We cannot guarantee that our security measures will not be circumvented, resulting in network failures or interruptions that could impact our network availability
and have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results. We may be required to expend significant resources to protect against such threats. If an
actual or perceived breach of our security occurs, the market perception of the effectiveness of our security measures could be harmed, and we could lose customers. Any such
events could result in legal claims or penalties, disruption in operations, misappropriation of sensitive data, damage to our reputation, and/or costly response measures, which
could adversely affect our business.
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If we are unable to protect our proprietary and technology rights our operations will be adversely affected.
 
Our success will depend in part on our ability to protect our proprietary rights and technologies, including those related to our products and services. Protecting our intellectual
property rights and combating unlicensed copying and use of our software and other intellectual property is difficult. Except as otherwise noted herein, we have not obtained
any formal patent, trademark or similar protection. Our failure to adequately protect our proprietary rights may adversely affect our operations. Despite our efforts to protect our
proprietary rights, unauthorized parties may attempt to copy aspects of our services or to obtain and use trade secrets or other information that we regard as proprietary. Based
on the nature of our business, we may or may not be able to adequately protect our rights through patent, copyright and trademark laws. Our means of protecting our proprietary
rights in the United States or abroad may not be adequate, and competitors may independently develop similar technologies. In addition, litigation may be necessary in the
future to:
 
  · Enforce intellectual property rights;
     
  · Protect our trade secrets;
     
  · Determine the validity and scope of the rights of others; or
     
  · Defend against claims of infringement or invalidity.
  
Any such litigation could result in substantial costs if we are held to have willfully infringed upon another party’s intellectual property, or to expend significant resources to
develop non-infringing technology and would divert the attention of management from the implementation of our business strategy. Furthermore, the outcome of any litigation
is inherently difficult to predict, and we may not prevail in any litigation in which we become involved.
 
Software products we use in our business may contain defects which will make it more difficult for us to establish and maintain customers.
 
We currently use PrismHR software for our payroll processing. We also use MasterTax to process our tax reports and filings, and a host of other software products in the course
of conducting our business. Our mobile application, along with the client portal and the ShiftPixy Command Hub, constitute our proprietary software and contain components
that are licensed from third parties that constitute public domain software. Our payroll processing software and other software products that we use in our business, including
our mobile application, could contain undetected design faults and software errors, or “bugs” that are discovered only after they have been installed and used by a significant
number of customers. Any such defect or error in new or existing software or applications could cause delays in delivering our technology or require design modifications.
These developments could adversely affect our competitive position and cause us to lose potential customers or opportunities. Since our technologies are intended to be utilized
to supply human resources related services, the effect of any such bugs or delays will likely have a detrimental impact on us. In addition, given that our specialized human
resources software and services have yet to gain widespread acceptance in the market, any delays or other problems caused by software bugs would likely have a more
detrimental impact on our business than if we were a more established company.
 
If a contract relating to our mission critical software that we use in our business is terminated or not renewed, our business could be seriously disrupted, and our revenues
significantly reduced.
 
If a contract relating to our mission-critical software services, such as that applicable to payroll and payroll tax processing, is terminated or not renewed, and we do not have an
effective replacement software, our business and revenues will suffer. Although there are other software vendors we can use, it may take time to negotiate an agreement and
make any replacement software operational. Accordingly, if the software agreements that we use in our business are terminated or not renewed, our business could be seriously
disrupted, and our revenues significantly reduced until we locate replacement software and make it operational.
 
Our systems may be subject to disruptions that could have a materially adverse effect on our business and reputation.
 
Our business is and will continue to be highly dependent on our ability to process, on a daily basis, a large number of complicated transactions. We rely heavily on our payroll,
financial, accounting, and other data processing systems. We may not be successful in preventing the loss of client data, service interruptions or disruptions to our operations
from system failures. If any of these systems fail to operate properly or become disabled even for a brief period of time, we could suffer financial loss, a disruption of our
businesses, liability to clients, regulatory intervention, or damage to our reputation, any of which could have a materially adverse effect on our results of operation or financial
condition.
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Because we store data in the cloud with providers such as Microsoft and Amazon, any disruptions in our ability to access this data or any breach of security concerning
this data in the cloud could have a materially adverse effect on our business and reputation.
 
Our business is and will continue to be highly dependent on data storage in the cloud with providers such as Microsoft and Amazon. These cloud storage systems may fail to
operate properly or become disabled. We expect our use of data to increase, including through the use of analytics, artificial intelligence (AI) and machine learning. There could
also be security breaches of our data stored in the cloud. If there is loss of client data, service interruptions or disruptions to our operations related to our cloud data storage,
even for a brief period of time, we could suffer financial loss, a disruption of our business, liability to clients, regulatory intervention, or damage to our reputation, any of which
could have a materially adverse effect on our results of operation or financial condition.
 
We made significant investments in our software that may not meet our expectations.
 
Developing new technologies is complex. It can require long development and testing periods. Significant delays in new releases or significant problems in creating new
products or services could adversely affect our revenue.
 
We may not be able to protect our source code from copying in the event of an unauthorized disclosure.
 
Source code, the detailed program commands for our operating systems and other software programs, is critical to our business. We take significant measures to protect the
secrecy of large portions of our source code. If a significant portion of our source code leaks, we could lose future trade secret protection for that source code. It may become
easier for third parties to compete with our products by copying functionality, which could adversely affect our revenue and operating margins. Unauthorized disclosure of
source code also could increase the security risks described in the next paragraph.
 
We may have outages, data losses, and disruptions of our online services if we fail to maintain an adequate operations infrastructure.
 
Our increasing user traffic, growth in services, and the complexity of our services demand more computing power. We spend substantial amounts to build, purchase, or lease
data centers and equipment and to upgrade our technology and network infrastructure to handle more data. These demands continue to increase as we grow our workforce.
Maintaining, securing, and expanding this infrastructure is expensive and complex. It requires that we maintain an internet connectivity infrastructure that is robust and reliable
within competitive and regulatory constraints that continue to evolve. Inefficiencies or operational failures, including temporary or permanent loss of customer data or
insufficient internet connectivity, could diminish the utility or functionality of our products, and adversely impact the quality of our services and user experience, resulting in
contractual liability, claims by users and other third parties, regulatory actions, damage to our reputation, and loss of current and potential users, subscribers, and advertisers,
each of which could have a materially adverse impact on our operating results and financial condition.
  
Our software may experience quality or supply problems.
 
Our software may experience quality or reliability problems. The highly sophisticated software we have been developing may contain bugs and other defects that interfere with
their intended operation. Any defects we do not detect and fix in pre-release testing could cause reduced sales and revenue, damage to our reputation, repair or remediation
costs, delays in the release of new products or versions, or legal liability. Although our license agreements typically contain provisions that limit our exposure to liability, there
is no assurance these provisions will withstand legal challenge.
 
We intend to use open source blockchain technology in our technology platform. This technology has been scrutinized by regulatory agencies and therefore we may be
impacted by unfavorable regulatory action in one or more jurisdictions.
 
We intend to use open source blockchain technology as a secure repository for “device reputation” information acquired by our technology platform. Blockchain technologies
have been the subject of scrutiny by various regulatory bodies around the world. We could be impacted by one or more regulatory inquiries or actions, including but not limited
to restrictions on the use of blockchain technology, which could impede or limit the use of this technology within our product offerings.
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We depend heavily on Scott W. Absher, our Chief Executive Officer and director. The loss of his services could harm our business.
 
Our future business and operations depend in significant part upon the continue contributions of Scott W. Absher, our Chief Executive Office and Chair of our bord of directors.
If we lose his services, or if he fails to perform his current position, or if we are unable to attract, retain skilled employees in addition to Mr. Abwehr, this could adversely affect
the development and implementation of our business plan and harm our business.
 
If we are not recognized as an employer of WSEs under federal and state regulations, or we are deemed to be an insurance agent or third-party administrator, we and our
clients could be adversely impacted.
 
While in our client engagements we sometimes arrange for our clients to act as sponsor of employee benefit plans, we also sponsor the benefit plans applicable to their WSEs.
For us to sponsor employee benefit plan offerings for WSEs, we must qualify as an employer for certain purposes under the Code and ERISA. In addition, our status as an
employer is important for the purposes of ERISA’s preemption of certain state laws. The definition of an employer under various laws is not uniform, and under both the Code
and ERISA, the term is defined in part by complex multi-factor tests.
 
Generally, these tests are designed to evaluate whether an individual is an independent contractor or employee, and they provide substantial weight to whether a purported
employer has the right to direct and control the details of an individual’s work. Some factors that the IRS has considered important in the past have included the employer’s
degree of behavioral control (the extent of instructions, training and the nature of the work), the financial control and the economic aspects of the relationship, and the intent of
the parties, as evidenced by (i) the specific benefit, contract, termination and other similar arrangements between the parties, and (ii) the “on-going” versus “project-oriented”
nature of the work to be performed. However, a definitive judicial interpretation of “employer” in the context of employer relationships such as those in which we engage has
not been established. For ERISA purposes, for example, courts have held that test factors relating to ability to control and supervise an individual are less important, while the
U.S. Department of Labor has issued guidance that certain entities in the HR outsourcing industry do not qualify as common law employers for ERISA purposes. Moreover,
when our mobile application is fully functional, the scope of our employer status will increase, changing the legal analysis. Although we believe that we qualify as an employer
of WSEs under ERISA, and the U.S. Department of Labor has not provided guidance otherwise, we are not able to predict the outcome of any future regulatory challenge.
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If we are not recognized as an employer under the Code or ERISA, we may be required to change the method by which we report and remit payroll taxes to the tax authorities
and the method by which we provide, or discontinue providing, certain employee benefits to WSEs, which could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of
operations.
 
We may also need to qualify as an employer of WSEs under state regulations, which govern licensing, certification and registration requirements. Nearly all states have enacted
laws and regulations in this regard. While we believe that we qualify as an employer of WSEs under these state regulations, these requirements vary from state to state and
change frequently and if we are not able to satisfy existing or future licensing requirements or other applicable regulations of any states, we may be prohibited from doing
business in that state.
 
Lapses in our WSE screening process may harm our reputation or relationship with clients, or result in litigation, which may impact our financial condition.
 
Our business model is dependent on hiring WSEs who will provide high quality service for our clients. Lapses in our screening process may result in WSEs being hired who do
not meet the standard expected by our clients. This may hurt our relationship with our clients or result in them placing their business elsewhere, which would negatively impact
on our ability to remain in business. Criminal behavior by our WSEs resulting from a lapse in our screening process may subject us to litigation from our clients or government
regulators, which may also be costly and/or damage our reputation.
 
We are in the business of providing WSEs to clients, and there is a risk that we will be sued and/or held liable for claims resulting from actions by or against our WSEs.
 
Our WSEs perform their jobs in the workplaces of our clients. Our ability to control the workplace environment of our clients is extremely limited. Further, many WSEs have
access to our clients’ information systems and confidential information. Based on our relationship with these WSEs, we incur a risk of liability arising from various workplace
events, including claims of physical injury, discrimination, harassment or failure to protect confidential personal information. Other inherent risks include possible claims of
errors and omissions; intentional misconduct; release, misuse or misappropriation of client intellectual property; employment of undocumented immigrants; criminal activity;
torts; or other claims. These claims can carry significant financial penalties and damages.
 
We have not experienced significant claims for damages or losses to date arising from the actions of WSEs. However, there is a risk that we will be subject to such claims in the
future and may be held liable even if our contribution to the injury is minimal or absent. We may also be required to indemnify our clients against claims brought against them
by or against WSEs. Even if we are successful in defending against these claims, the costs of mounting our defense might be significant and damaging to us. We may incur
reputational costs and/or be subject to investigations by public agencies, which could result in associated negative publicity. We may also lose clients as a result of claims
against us.
 
Risks Relating to Regulations and Compliance
 
Failure to comply with, or changes in, laws and regulations applicable to our business, particularly potential changes to the ACA, could have a materially adverse effect on
our marketing plan as well as our reputation, results of operations or financial condition, or have other adverse consequences.
 
Our business is subject to a wide range of complex laws and regulations. For example, many states regulate entities offering employment related services such as those offered
by us directly or through our subsidiaries and require licenses as a prerequisite to the operation of such enterprises in their respective jurisdictions. There can be no assurance
that either we or our subsidiaries will be successful in either securing or maintaining a license or licenses in compliance with a particular state’s laws and regulations. Further,
many states require that workers’ compensation policies offered by employment related firms such as ours be managed according to strict rules and/or that unemployment
insurance filings be administered according to strict rules.
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Failure to comply with such laws and regulations could result in the suspension or revocation of licenses or registrations, the limitation, suspension or termination of services,
and the imposition of consent orders or civil and criminal penalties, including fines, that could damage our reputation and have a materially adverse effect on our results of
operation or financial condition.
 
In addition, changes in laws or regulations, or changes in the interpretation of laws or regulations by a regulatory authority, may decrease our revenues and earnings and may
require us to change the manner in which we conduct some aspects of our business. For example, a change in regulations either decreasing the amount of taxes to be withheld
or allowing less time to remit taxes to government authorities would adversely impact interest income from investing client funds before such funds are remitted to the
applicable taxing authorities. Changes in taxation regulations could adversely affect our effective tax rate and our net income. Changes in laws that govern the co-employment
arrangement between a PEO and its WSEs may also require us to change the manner in which we conduct some aspects of our business.
 
Changes to the ACA, as amended, related state laws, and the regulations adopted or to be adopted thereunder, have the potential to impact substantially the way that employers
provide health insurance to employees and the health insurance market for the small and mid-sized businesses that constitute our clients and prospects. The repeal or
replacement of the ACA, the elimination of employer mandates and similar employer requirements currently imposed by the ACA, and other regulatory changes could in the
future reduce our revenues. Amendments to money transmitter statutes have required us to obtain licenses in some jurisdictions. The adoption of new money transmitter statutes
in other jurisdictions, changes in regulators’ interpretation of existing state and federal money transmitter or money services business statutes or regulations, or disagreement by
a regulatory authority with our interpretation of such existing statutes or regulations, could require additional registration or licensing, limit certain business activities until they
are appropriately licensed, and expose us to financial penalties. These occurrences could also require changes to our compliance programs and to the manner in which we
conduct some aspects of our money movement business or client funds investment strategy, which could adversely impact interest income from investing client funds before
such funds are remitted.
 
Failure to secure any necessary registrations or licensure could affect our ability to operate certain segments of our business in certain jurisdictions.
 
Some states require licensure or registration of businesses offering professional employer offering “PEO” services. While some elements of our service offering overlap with
PEO services, we believe that our human capital platform is more in line with a traditional staffing model. However, if we need and are unable to secure registration or
licensure of such service offerings in a particular state, our ability to grow that segment of our business in such state would be impaired and could affect our ability to increase
our revenues and meet certain customer requirements in such states.
 
We may be subject to Private Attorney General’s Act (“PAGA”) claims which we may require additional capital to defend.
 
Our work force currently resides mostly in the State of California. Employment laws in the State of California can be complex and undefined where a direct employment or co-
employment relationship exists, both of which are contemplated to some extent in our current business and, (to a lesser extent), our future plans. PAGA allows plaintiffs to
bring class action-like lawsuits against employers that can result in substantial costs to defend and can result in large fines for seemingly insignificant or inadvertent clerical
errors. As our business expands, the risk will increase that such PAGA claims will be filed and litigated, which may result in increased costs to us.
 
Laws related to the classification of Gig Economy workers are changing, and we may be subject to state and local regulations impacting how we classify our workers.
 
A significant portion of our business is located in the State of California which recently passed AB-5 relating to the classification of certain gig workers as employees instead of
independent contractors. This legislation, to the extent it applied to “app-based drivers”, was repealed by Proposition 22, which restored these drivers to the status of
independent contractors. Nevertheless, Proposition 22 also instituted various labor and wage policies that are specific to app-based drivers and their employers that do not apply
to other independent contractors, including: (i) minimum wage requirements; (ii) working hours limitations; (iii) requiring companies to pay healthcare subsidies under certain
circumstances; and (iv) requiring companies to provide or make available occupational accident insurance and accidental death insurance to their app-based drivers. Other
states such as New York and New Jersey, two of our potential markets, are also considering legislation designed to change the status of gig workers from independent
contractors to employees, or at least provide some of the wage, hour and benefit guarantees currently provided to traditional employees to gig workers. We anticipate that
classification status will continue to be an unsettled area of law for the foreseeable future. Changes in classification can result in a change to various requirements associated
with the payment of wages, tax withholding, and the provision of unemployment, health, and other traditional employer-employee related benefits. While we currently classify
all WSEs as employees, our business plans potentially include the use of large numbers of independent contractors.
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If we are unable to utilize independent contractors, or the cost to use independent contractors becomes more expensive, our future growth opportunities may be limited or
reduced. Costs or delays associated with revising our services to account for changes in the status of employees and independent contractors may have a significant impact on
our future growth. Changes to the law may impact the desirability or applicability of our business model, which could impact our ability to continue as a going concern.
 
Financial Market Risks
 
Our Common Stock is thinly traded, which can cause volatility in its price.
 
Our Common Stock is listed for trading on the Nasdaq Stock Market, LLC (“Nasdaq”), and is thinly traded. Thinly traded stock can be more susceptible to market volatility.
This market volatility could significantly affect the market price of our common stock without regard to our operating performance. Securities markets worldwide experience
significant price and volume fluctuations. In addition, the price of our common stock could be subject to wide fluctuations in response to the following factors, among others:
 
  · a deviation in our results from the expectations of public market analysts and investors;
     
  · statements by research analysts about our common stock, our company or our industry;
     

  · changes in market valuations of companies in industries to which our company is compared and market evaluations of our industries in which our company is
deemed to be operating generally;

     
  · actions taken by our competitors;
     
  · sales or other issuances of common stock by us, our senior officers, directors or other affiliates;
     

  · trading activity by investment speculators in various securities related to the Company, including trading in call options, put options, or engaging in “short
selling”, which may or may not be related to the Company’s actual business condition or operating results; or

     
  · other general economic, political or market conditions, many of which are beyond our control.
 
The market price of our Common Stock will also be impacted by our quarterly operating results, which can fluctuate from quarter to quarter.
 
A controlling stake of our common stock is closely held by our board of directors Chair and CEO, Scott W. Absher, which may limit a minority shareholder from
influencing corporate governance.
 
Our President, CEO and director, Scott W. Absher, currently owns approximately as of December  11, 2023, 88%   of the issued and outstanding shares of the Company’s
common stock; accordingly, he may be deemed to control the Company as a result of his voting power and otherwise has significant influence over the voting matters of the
shareholders of the Company’s common stock, including but not limited to the power to elect directors and approve other actions that require stockholder approval.
Notwithstanding Mr. Absher’s share ownership percentage, no action has been taken to seek the Controlled Company Exemption available under Nasdaq Listing Rule 5615I(2).
If the Company were to seek Controlled Company status, (a) we would not be required to comply with certain governance requirements set forth in the listing standards,
including requiring a majority of independent Directors on our Board, the determination of the compensation of our executive officers solely b’ independent Directors, and the
recommendation of nominees for Director solely by independent Directors, and (b) as a result, the Company’s stockholders would not have certain of the same protections as a
stockholder of other publicly-traded companies, and the market price of the Company’s common stock could be adversely affected. The concentration of ownership with
respect to the Company’s common stock also results in there being a limited trading volume, which may make it more difficult for stockholders to sell their shares and increase
the price volatility of the Company’s common stock.
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If we are unable to continue to meet the listing requirements of Nasdaq, our common stock will be delisted.
 
Our common stock currently trades on Nasdaq, where it is subject to various listing requirements. Prior to effecting the one-for-twenty-four (1:24) reverse stock split on
October 14, 2023, we were notified by Nasdaq that we were not in compliance with certain of this listing requirement.  On October 30, 2023, Nasdaq notified us that we had
achieved compliance with Nasdaq Listing Rule 5550(a)(2) in as much as the closing bid price of the Company’s common stock had been at $1.00 per share or greater for the
requisite period. On June 5, 2023, Nasdaq notified us that we are not in compliance with Nasdaq Listing Rule 5550(b)(1) in as much as our listed securities have a market value
of less than $35 million. In addition, we do not currently meet the alternative compliance standards relating to stockholders’ equity or net income from continuing operations.
On August 2, 2023, Nasdaq notified the Company that we were not in compliance NASDAQ’s Listing Rule 560. This was due to the resignation of our independent director
who was a member of the Company’s audit committee. The Company does not presently comply with NASDAQ’s requirement   that a majority of the Company’s board of
directors be comprised of independent directors, and that the Company has an audit committee comprised of at least three independent directors, one of which “has past
employment experience in finance or accounting, requisite professional certification in accounting, or any other comparable experience or background which results in the
individual’s financial sophistication, including being or having been a chief executive officer, chief financial officer or other senior officer with financial oversight
responsibilities. This does not have any immediate effect on the listing of the Company’s common stock on the Nasdaq Capital Market, and the Company has until the earlier of
the Company’s next annual shareholders’ meeting or July 25, 2024 (or, if the next annual shareholders’ meeting is held before January 22, 2024, then by that date), to regain
compliance, the “Compliance Period”).   If the Company does not achieve compliance within the Compliance Period, it will receive written notice from Nasdaq that its
securities are subject to delisting, which is a determination that the Company could appeal to the Nasdaq Hearings Panel. If we are unable to achieve and maintain compliance
with this listing standards or other Nasdaq listing requirements in the future, we could be subject to suspension and delisting proceedings. A delisting of our common stock and
our inability to list on another national securities market could negatively impact us by: (i) reducing the liquidity and market price of our common stock; (ii) reducing the
number of investors willing to hold or acquire our common stock, which could negatively impact our ability to raise equity financing; (iii) limiting our ability to use certain
registration statements to offer and sell freely tradable securities, thereby limiting our ability to access the public capital markets; and (iv) impairing our ability to provide equity
incentives to our employees.     
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If we are unable to pay delinquent payroll taxes and interest to the Internal Revenue Service, states and local tax jurisdictions.
 
We are responsible for remitting payroll taxes for our clients on a timely basis. As of August 31, 2023, we have approximately $29.5 million related to outstanding payroll taxes
and associated penalties and interest. The IRS, states and local jurisdictions can place liens on our Company. Although the Company is appealing penalties and interest, there is
no assurance that this will occur. Our bank accounts can be frozen, and the Company may be forced to file for bankruptcy.
 
Risks Relating to Our Business     
 
We maintained limited self-insurance for the workers’ compensation services that we provide to our clients. If we experience claims in excess of our collected premiums, we
might incur additional losses, higher costs, and reduced margins, resulting in a need for more liquidity.
 
We are responsible for and pay workers’ compensation costs for our WSEs. Until March 1, 2021, we self-insured for up to $500,000 per occurrence and we purchased
reinsurance for claims in excess of $500,000. After March 1, 2021, our workers’ compensation coverage moved to a prepaid premium model that does not require us to record
additional reserves. Our workers’ compensation billings are designed to cover expected claims based on insurance annuity calculations. These calculations are based on our
claims experienced during our limited operating history. At times, these costs have risen substantially as a result of increased claims and claim trends, general economic
conditions, changes in business mix, increases in healthcare costs, and government regulations. Although we carry insurance and believe that we currently have reserves
sufficient to insulate us against projected losses, any unexpected changes in claim trends, including the severity and frequency of claims, actuarial estimates, and medical cost
inflation, could result in us exceeding these projections. If future claims-related liabilities increase due to unforeseen circumstances, or if new laws, rules, or regulations are
implemented, costs could increase significantly. There can be no assurance that we will be able to increase the fees charged to our clients in a timely manner and in a sufficient
amount to cover increased costs as a result of any changes in claims-related liabilities.
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Our success depends on the adoption of our products and services by our various types of customers. If these potential customers do not accept and acquire our products
and services, then our revenue will be severely limited.
 
The major customer groups to whom we believe our products and services will appeal (i.e. both clients and WSEs who rely upon shift work), may not embrace our products
and services. Acceptance of our products and services will depend on several factors, including cost, ease of use, familiarity of use, convenience, timeliness, strategic
partnerships, and reliability. If we fail to adequately meet our customers’ needs and expectations, our product offerings may not be competitive and our ability to commence or
continue generating revenues could be reduced. We also cannot be sure that our business model will gain wide acceptance among all targeted customer groups. If the market
fails to continue to develop, or develops more slowly than we expect, our ability to continue generating revenues could be reduced.
  
If we are unable to effectively manage growth and maintain low operating costs, the results of operations and financial condition may be adversely affected. (we have seen
a decline not growth)
 
Since our inception, our plans contemplate significant expansion of our business. If we are unable to manage our growth effectively, (including having geographically dispersed
offices and employees), or to anticipate and manage our future growth accurately, our business may be adversely affected. If we are unable to manage our expansion and growth
effectively, we may be unable to keep our operating costs low or effectively meet the requirements of an ever-growing, geographically dispersed client base. Our business relies
on data systems, billing systems and financial reporting and control systems, procedures and controls. Our success in managing our expansion and growth in a cost-effective
manner will require us to upgrade and improve these systems, procedures and controls. If we are unable to adapt our systems and put adequate controls in place in a timely
manner, our business may be adversely affected. In addition, our growth may place significant demands on our management, and our overall operational and financial
resources. A failure on our part to meet any of the foregoing challenges inherent in our growth strategy may have an adverse effect on our results of our operations and financial
condition.
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Our targeted customer base is diverse, and we face a challenge in adequately meeting each group’s needs.
 
Because we serve both employers and employees, we must work constantly to understand the needs, standards and requirements of each group and must devote significant
resources to developing products and services for their interests. If we do not accurately predict our customers’ needs and expectations, we may expend valuable resources in
developing products and services that do not achieve broad acceptance across the markets, and we may fail to grow our business.
 
We face intense competition across all markets for our services, which may lead to lower revenue or operating margins. Competing forms of Gig Economy oriented staffing
management products and services may be more desirable to consumers or may make our products and services obsolete.
 
Our competitors range in size from diversified global companies with significant research and development resources to small, specialized firms whose narrower service lines
may make them more effective in deploying technical, marketing, and financial resources. Barriers to entry in many of our businesses are low and many of the areas in which
we compete evolve rapidly with changing and disruptive technologies, shifting user needs, and frequent introductions of new products and services. Our ability to remain
competitive depends on our success in making innovative products, devices, and services that appeal to customers.
 
Companies compete with us based on a growing variety of business models. The competitive pressures described above may cause decreased sales volumes, price reductions,
and/or increased operating costs, such as for research and development, marketing, and sales incentives. This may lead to lower revenue, gross margins, and operating income.
 
There are currently several different competing Gig Economy oriented staffing management product and service technologies that are being marketed to our potential
customers. Further development of any of these technologies may lead to advancements in technology that will make our products and services obsolete. Consumers may prefer
alternative technologies and products and services. We cannot guarantee that users of Gig Economy oriented staffing management products and services who will be using our
products and services will continue to grow within the industry as a whole. Any developments that contribute to the obsolescence of our products and services may substantially
impact on our business, reducing our ability to generate or sustain revenues.
 
Providing specialized Gig Economy oriented staffing management products and services is an emerging yet competitive business, and many of our competitors have greater
resources that may enable them to compete more effectively.
 
We compete in the same markets as many companies that offer not only staffing management products and services focused on the Gig Economy but also more traditional
staffing management products and services. There are limited barriers to entry and price competition in the industry, particularly from larger, more traditional industry model
competitors, is intense with pricing pressures from competitors and clients increasing. New competitors entering our markets may further increase pricing pressures.
 
We have observed that clients sometimes competitively bid new contracts, which is a trend that we expect to continue for the foreseeable future. Some of our competitors have
greater resources than we, which may enable them to compete more effectively in this market. Our competitors may devote their resources to developing and marketing
products and services that will directly compete with our product lines, and new, more efficient competitors may enter the market. If we are unable to successfully compete with
existing companies and new entrants to the market, it will have a negative impact on our business and financial condition.
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We operate in an immature and rapidly evolving industry and have a relatively new business model, which makes it difficult to evaluate our business and prospects.
 
The industry in which we operate is characterized by rapidly changing regulatory requirements, evolving industry standards and shifting user and client demands. Our business
model is also evolving and is different from models used by other companies in our industry. As a result of these factors, the success and future revenue and income potential of
our business is uncertain. Any evaluation of our business and our prospects must be considered in light of these risks and uncertainties, some of which relate to our ability to:
 
  · Expand client and WSE relationships;
     
  · Increase the number of our clients and grow our WSE base;
     
  · Develop relationships with third-party vendors, HCM providers, and insurance companies;
     
  · Expand operations and implement and improve our operational, financial and management controls;
     
  · Raise capital at attractive costs, or at all;
     
  · Attract and retain qualified management, employees and independent service providers;
     
  · Successfully introduce new processes, technologies, products and services, and upgrade our existing processes, technologies, products and services;
     
  · Protect our proprietary processes and technologies and our intellectual property rights; and
     

  · Respond to government regulations relating to the internet, personal data protection, email, software technologies, cyber security and other regulated aspects of
our business.

 
If we are unable to successfully address the challenges posed by operating in an immature and rapidly evolving industry and having a relatively new business model, our
business could suffer.
 
We may never successfully commercialize ShiftPixy Labs.
 
We have invested a substantial amount of our time and resources in developing ShiftPixy Labs and its related services and technology. Commercialization of ShiftPixy Labs
will require additional development, customer engagement, significant marketing efforts and ongoing investment before it can provide us with any additional revenue. Despite
our efforts, ShiftPixy Labs may not become commercially successful. Failure to successfully deploy and commercialize ShiftPixy Labs could adversely affect our operating
results and financial condition.
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We use and leverage open-source technology in our technology platform which may create risks of security weaknesses.
 
Some parts of our technology that we currently use, and that we intend to develop in the future, incorporate (or may incorporate in the future) open-source technology,
including the blockchain technology that we intend to use in our technology platform. There is a risk that the development team, or other third parties may, intentionally or
unintentionally, introduce weaknesses or bugs into the core infrastructure elements of our technology solutions that interfere with the use of such technology which, in turn,
could have a material negative impact on our business and operations.
 
Risks Relating to Management and Personnel
 
We depend heavily on Scott W. Absher, our Chief Executive Officer and director. The loss of his services could harm our business.
 
Our future business and results of operations depend in significant part upon the continued contributions of Scott W. Absher, our Chief Executive Officer and Chair of our board
of directors. If we lose his services or if he fails to perform in his current position, or if we are not able to attract and retain skilled employees in addition to Mr. Absher, this
could adversely affect the development and implementation of our business plan and harm our business.
 
If we are not recognized as an employer of WSEs under federal and state regulations, or we are deemed to be an insurance agent or third-party administrator, we and our
clients could be adversely impacted.
 
While in our client engagements we sometimes arrange for our clients to act as sponsor of employee benefit plans, we also sponsor the benefit plans applicable to their WSEs.
For us to sponsor employee benefit plan offerings for WSEs, we must qualify as an employer for certain purposes under the Code and ERISA. In addition, our status as an
employer is important for the purposes of ERISA’s preemption of certain state laws. The definition of an employer under various laws is not uniform, and under both the Code
and ERISA, the term is defined in part by complex multi-factor tests.
 
Generally, these tests are designed to evaluate whether an individual is an independent contractor or employee, and they provide substantial weight to whether a purported
employer has the right to direct and control the details of an individual’s work. Some factors that the IRS has considered important in the past have included the employer’s
degree of behavioral control (the extent of instructions, training and the nature of the work), the financial control and the economic aspects of the relationship, and the intent of
the parties, as evidenced by (i) the specific benefit, contract, termination and other similar arrangements between the parties, and (ii) the “on-going” versus “project-oriented”
nature of the work to be performed. However, a definitive judicial interpretation of “employer” in the context of employer relationships such as those in which we engage has
not been established. For ERISA purposes, for example, courts have held that test factors relating to ability to control and supervise an individual are less important, while the
U.S. Department of Labor has issued guidance that certain entities in the HR outsourcing industry do not qualify as common law employers for ERISA purposes. Moreover,
when our mobile application is fully functional, the scope of our employer status will increase, changing the legal analysis. Although we believe that we qualify as an employer
of WSEs under ERISA, and the U.S. Department of Labor has not provided guidance otherwise, we are not able to predict the outcome of any future regulatory challenge.
 
If we are not recognized as an employer under the Code or ERISA, we may be required to change the method by which we report and remit payroll taxes to the tax authorities
and the method by which we provide, or discontinue providing, certain employee benefits to WSEs, which could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of
operations.
 
We may also need to qualify as an employer of WSEs under state regulations, which govern licensing, certification and registration requirements. Nearly all states have enacted
laws and regulations in this regard. While we believe that we qualify as an employer of WSEs under these state regulations, these requirements vary from state to state and
change frequently and if we are not able to satisfy existing or future licensing requirements or other applicable regulations of any states, we may be prohibited from doing
business in that state.
 
 

47



Table of Contents
 
Lapses in our WSE screening process may harm our reputation or relationship with clients, or result in litigation, which may impact our financial condition.
 
Our business model is dependent on hiring WSEs who will provide high quality service for our clients. Lapses in our screening process may result in WSEs being hired who do
not meet the standard expected by our clients. This may hurt our relationship with our clients or result in them placing their business elsewhere, which would negatively impact
on our ability to remain in business. Criminal behavior by our WSEs resulting from a lapse in our screening process may subject us to litigation from our clients or government
regulators, which may also be costly and/or damage our reputation.
 
We are in the business of providing WSEs to clients, and there is a risk that we will be sued and/or held liable for claims resulting from actions by or against our WSEs.
 

 

· Our WSEs perform their jobs in the workplaces of our clients. Our ability to control the workplace environment of our clients is extremely limited. Further, many
WSEs have access to our clients’ information systems and confidential information. Based on our relationship with these WSEs, we incur a risk of liability arising
from various workplace events, including claims of physical injury, discrimination, harassment or failure to protect confidential personal information. Other
inherent risks include possible claims of errors and omissions; intentional misconduct; release, misuse or misappropriation of client intellectual property;
employment of undocumented immigrants; criminal activity; torts; or other claims. These claims can carry significant financial penalties and damages.

     

 

· We have not experienced significant claims for damages or losses to date arising from the actions of WSEs. However, there is a risk that we will be subject to
such claims in the future and may be held liable even if our contribution to the injury is minimal or absent. We may also be required to indemnify our clients
against claims brought against them by or against WSEs. Even if we are successful in defending against these claims, the costs of mounting our defense might be
significant and damaging to us. We may incur reputational costs and/or be subject to investigations by public agencies, which could result in associated negative
publicity. We may also lose clients as a result of claims against us.

 
Risks Relating to Regulations and Compliance
 
Failure to comply with, or changes in, laws and regulations applicable to our business, particularly potential changes to the ACA, could have a materially adverse effect on
our marketing plan as well as our reputation, results of operations or financial condition, or have other adverse consequences.
 
Our business is subject to a wide range of complex laws and regulations. For example, many states regulate entities offering employment related services such as those offered
by us directly or through our subsidiaries and require licenses as a prerequisite to the operation of such enterprises in their respective jurisdictions. There can be no assurance
that either we or our subsidiaries will be successful in either securing or maintaining a license or licenses in compliance with a particular state’s laws and regulations. Further,
many states require that workers’ compensation policies offered by employment related firms such as ours be managed according to strict rules and/or that unemployment
insurance filings be administered according to strict rules.
 
Failure to comply with such laws and regulations could result in the suspension or revocation of licenses or registrations, the limitation, suspension or termination of services,
and the imposition of consent orders or civil and criminal penalties, including fines, that could damage our reputation and have a materially adverse effect on our results of
operation or financial condition.
 
In addition, changes in laws or regulations, or changes in the interpretation of laws or regulations by a regulatory authority, may decrease our revenues and earnings and may
require us to change the manner in which we conduct some aspects of our business. For example, a change in regulations either decreasing the amount of taxes to be withheld
or allowing less time to remit taxes to government authorities would adversely impact interest income from investing client funds before such funds are remitted to the
applicable taxing authorities. Changes in taxation regulations could adversely affect our effective tax rate and our net income. Changes in laws that govern the co-employment
arrangement between a PEO and its WSEs may also require us to change the manner in which we conduct some aspects of our business.
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Changes to the ACA, as amended, related state laws, and the regulations adopted or to be adopted thereunder, have the potential to impact substantially the way that employers
provide health insurance to employees and the health insurance market for the small and mid-sized businesses that constitute our clients and prospects. The repeal or
replacement of the ACA, the elimination of employer mandates and similar employer requirements currently imposed by the ACA, and other regulatory changes could in the
future reduce our revenues. Amendments to money transmitter statutes have required us to obtain licenses in some jurisdictions. The adoption of new money transmitter statutes
in other jurisdictions, changes in regulators’ interpretation of existing state and federal money transmitter or money services business statutes or regulations, or disagreement by
a regulatory authority with our interpretation of such existing statutes or regulations, could require additional registration or licensing, limit certain business activities until they
are appropriately licensed, and expose us to financial penalties. These occurrences could also require changes to our compliance programs and to the manner in which we
conduct some aspects of our money movement business or client funds investment strategy, which could adversely impact interest income from investing client funds before
such funds are remitted.
 
Failure to secure any necessary registrations or licensure could affect our ability to operate certain segments of our business in certain jurisdictions.
 
Some states require licensure or registration of businesses offering PEO services. While some elements of our service offering overlap with PEO services, we believe that our
human capital platform is more in line with a traditional staffing model. However, if we need and are unable to secure registration or licensure of such service offerings in a
particular state, our ability to grow that segment of our business in such state would be impaired and could affect our ability to increase our revenues and meet certain customer
requirements in such states.
 
Laws related to the classification of Gig Economy workers are changing, and we may be subject to state and local regulations impacting how we classify our workers.
 
A significant portion of our business is located in the State of California which recently passed AB-5 relating to the classification of certain gig workers as employees instead of
independent contractors. This legislation, to the extent it applied to “app-based drivers”, was repealed by Proposition 22, which restored these drivers to the status of
independent contractors. Nevertheless, Proposition 22 also instituted various labor and wage policies that are specific to app-based drivers and their employers that do not apply
to other independent contractors, including: (i) minimum wage requirements; (ii) working hours limitations; (iii) requiring companies to pay healthcare subsidies under certain
circumstances; and (iv) requiring companies to provide or make available occupational accident insurance and accidental death insurance to their app-based drivers. Other
states such as New York and New Jersey, two of our potential markets, are also considering legislation designed to change the status of gig workers from independent
contractors to employees, or at least provide some of the wage, hour and benefit guarantees currently provided to traditional employees to gig workers. We anticipate that
classification status will continue to be an unsettled area of law for the foreseeable future. Changes in classification can result in a change to various requirements associated
with the payment of wages, tax withholding, and the provision of unemployment, health, and other traditional employer-employee related benefits. While we currently classify
all WSEs as employees, our business plans potentially include the use of large numbers of independent contractors.
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If we are unable to utilize independent contractors, or the cost to use independent contractors becomes more expensive, our future growth opportunities may be limited or
reduced. Costs or delays associated with revising our services to account for changes in the status of employees and independent contractors may have a significant impact on
our future growth. Changes to the law may impact the desirability or applicability of our business model, which could impact our ability to continue as a going concern.
   
General Risk Factors
 
Third parties may claim we infringe their intellectual property rights. 
 
From time to time, others claim we infringe their intellectual property rights. The number of these claims may grow because of constant technological change in the markets in
which we compete, the extensive patent coverage of existing technologies and the rapid rate of issuance of new patents. To resolve these claims, we may enter into royalty and
licensing agreements on terms that are less favorable than currently available, stop selling or redesign affected products or services, or pay damages to satisfy indemnification
commitments to our customers. These outcomes may cause operating margins to decline. Besides money damages, equitable relief is available in some jurisdictions that, if
granted, could limit or eliminate our ability to import, market, or sell our products or services that contain infringing technologies.  
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Our business depends on our ability to attract and retain talented employees. 
 
Our business is based on successfully attracting and retaining talented employees. The market for highly skilled workers and leaders in our industry is extremely competitive. If
we are less successful in our recruiting efforts, or if we cannot retain key employees, our ability to develop and deliver services successfully may be adversely affected. If we
cannot hire additional qualified personnel, we may continue to have internal control weaknesses. Effective succession planning is also important to our long-term success.
Failure to ensure effective transfer of knowledge and smooth transitions involving key employees could hinder our strategic planning and execution. How employment- related
laws are interpreted and applied to our workforce practices may result in increased operating costs and less flexibility in how we meet our workforce needs. 
 
Catastrophic events or geopolitical conditions may disrupt our business.  
 
Monetary and fiscal policies and political and economic conditions may substantially change. When there is a slowdown in the economy, employment levels may decrease with
a corresponding impact on our businesses.  
 
Clients may react to worsening conditions by reducing their spending on payroll and other outsourcing services or renegotiating their contracts with us.  
 
Worsening economic conditions, including inflation, recession, or other changes in economic conditions, may cause businesses to rely less on vendors in our business, which
could adversely affect our revenue. If demand for our services declines, or business spending for such services declines, our revenue will be adversely affected.
 
Challenging economic conditions also may impair the ability of our customers to pay for products and services they have purchased. As a result, allowances for doubtful
accounts and write-offs of accounts receivable may increase. 
 
We are dependent upon various large banks to execute Automated Clearing House and wire transfers as part of our client payroll and tax services. A systemic shutdown of the
banking industry would impede our ability to process funds on behalf of our payroll and tax services clients and could have an adverse impact on our financial results and
liquidity. 
 
A disruption or failure of our systems or operations because of a major earthquake, weather event, cyber-attack, terrorist attack, fire, pandemic, (including the COVID-19
pandemic), or other catastrophic event could cause delays in completing sales, providing services, or performing other critical functions. A significant portion of our research
and development activities and certain other essential business operations are located in the Irvine, California area, which is a seismically active region, and the Miami, Florida
area, which is subject to extreme seasonal weather events such as hurricanes and flooding. A catastrophic event that results in the destruction or disruption of any of our critical
business or IT systems could harm our ability to conduct normal business operations. California has also experienced destructive fires recently. As a result of these fires, power
and utilities are occasionally shut off parts of the state. A fire or risk of fire may result in damage to our facilities, the temporary or permanent shut down of our or our clients’
facilities, disruption to our power supply or utilities, or other disruptions that may harm our ability to conduct business.  
 
Abrupt political change and terrorist activity may pose threats to our business and increase our operating costs. These conditions also may add uncertainty to the timing and
budget for technology investment decisions by our customers and may cause supply chain disruptions for hardware manufacturers. Geopolitical change may result in changing
regulatory requirements that could impact our operating strategies, hiring, and profitability.  
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Changes in tax laws or regulations that are applied adversely to us or our customers may have a material adverse effect on our business, cash flow, financial condition, or
results of operations.  
 
In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the CARES Act was signed into law in March 2020. The CARES Act modifies certain of the changes made by the Tax Cuts and Jobs
Act of 2017 (the “Tax Act”). Changes in corporate tax rates, the realization of net deferred tax assets relating to our U.S. operations, and the deductibility of expenses under the
Tax Act, as amended by the CARES Act, or future tax reform legislation could have a material impact on the value of our deferred tax assets, could result in significant one-
time charges in the current or future taxable years, and could increase our future U.S. tax expense. The foregoing items, as well as any other future changes in tax laws, could
have a material adverse effect on our business, cash flow, financial condition, or results of operations. In addition, it is uncertain if and to what extent various states will
conform to the Tax Act, as amended by the CARES Act, or any newly enacted federal tax legislation.
 
Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
 
None.
 
Item 2. Properties
 
Principal Offices and ShiftPixy Labs
 
We leased space for our principal office and kitchens and production facilities associated with ShiftPixy Labs at 4101 NW 25 Street, Miami, Florida 33142. Our landlord is
Runway 1 LLC. We began leasing 23,500 square feet on November 1, 2020. The lease term is for 64 months, with an expiration date of February 28, 2026. Our corporate office
was moved to this location since we needed to move from our lease at 501 Brickell Key Drive, Suite 300, Miami, FL 33131.There was extensive renovations of the campus and
building in which the Company’s offices were situated, citing substantial impairments to the Company’s ability to conduct business as well as concerns regarding the health and
well-being of the Company’s employees and guests, and the landlord’s inability and refusal to provide any adequate relief. See Note 15. Contingencies to the Company’s
accompanying Consolidated Financial Statement.
 
Item 3. Legal Proceedings
 
In the normal course of business, we are subject to various claims and litigation. While the outcome of any litigation is inherently unpredictable, we believe that we have valid
defenses with respect to the legal matters pending against us and that the ultimate resolution of these matters will not have a materially adverse impact on our financial
condition, results of operations, or cash flows, except as discussed in Note 15. Contingencies to the Consolidated Financial Statements, which is incorporated herein by
reference.
 
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
 
Not applicable.
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PART II
 
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters, and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
 
Trading History
 
Our common stock was listed for trading on Nasdaq on June 28, 2017, under the symbol “PIXY.”
 
Number of Equity Security Holders
 
As of December 11, 2023, the Company had 72 holders of record of our common stock. This does not include beneficial owners holding common stock in street name. As such,
the number of beneficial holders of our shares could be substantially larger than the number of shareholders of record.
 
Dividends
 
We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock. For the foreseeable future, we intend to retain any earnings to finance the development and
expansion of our business, and we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends on our common stock. Any future determination to pay dividends will be at the discretion of the
board of directors and will be dependent upon then existing conditions, including our financial condition and results of operations, capital requirements, contractual restrictions,
business prospects and other factors that the board of directors considers relevant. There are no restrictions in our articles of incorporation or bylaws that prevent us from
declaring dividends. The Wyoming Statutes, however, prohibit us from declaring dividends that were, after giving effect to the distribution of the dividend:
 
• we would not be able to pay our debts as they become due in the usual course of business; or
 
• our total assets would be less than the sum of our total liabilities plus (unless the articles of incorporation permit otherwise) the amount that would be needed, if the
corporation were to be dissolved at the time of the distribution, to satisfy the preferential rights upon dissolution of shareholders whose preferential rights are superior to those
receiving the distribution.
 
Reverse Stock Split
 
On October 14, 2023, the Company effected a (1:40) reverse stock split. All common shares and common stock equivalents are presented retroactively to reflect the reverse
split.
  
As discussed in Note 16, Subsequent Events to the Consolidated Financial Statements, which is incorporated herein by reference, effective August 31, 2022, the Company filed
articles of amendment to the Company’s articles of incorporation to effect a one-for-one hundred (1:24) reverse split of the Company’s issued and outstanding shares of
Common Stock. The reverse split became effective on Nasdaq October 16, 2023. All common shares and common stock equivalents are presented retroactively to reflect the
reverse split.
  
Sale of Unregistered Securities
 
None
 
Stock Option / Stock Issuance Plan
 
In March  2017, the Company adopted its 2017 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan (the “Plan”). The Plan provides incentives to eligible employees, officers, directors and
consultants in the form of incentive stock options (“ISOs”), non-qualified stock options (“NQs”), (each of which is exercisable into shares of common stock) (collectively,
“Options”) or shares of common stock (“Share Grants”).
 
On March 6, 2023, the shareholders approved an increase in the number of shares of common stock issuable under the Plan from 1,250 to 31,250. Under the terms of the Plan,
options granted prior to July 1, 2020, each option has a term of service vesting provision over a period of time as follows: 25% vest after a 12-month service period following
the award, with the balance vesting in equal monthly installments over the succeeding 36 months. Options granted on or after July 1, 2020, typically vest over four years, with
25% of the grant vesting one year from the grant date, and the remainder in equal quarterly installments over the succeeding 12 quarters. All options granted to date have a
stated ten-year term.
 
Stock grants are issued at fair value, considered to be the market price on the grant date. The fair value of option awards is estimated on the grant date using the Black-Scholes
stock option pricing model, which uses certain assumptions related to risk-free interest rates, expected volatility, expected life of the stock options and future dividends.
 
The Company elected to account for forfeitures under the Plan as they occur. Any compensation cost previously recognized for an unvested award that is forfeited because of a
failure to satisfy a service condition is reversed in the period of the forfeiture.
 
As of August 31, 2023, there are 30,833 shares available under the Plan.
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Preferred Shares Convertible into Common Stock
  
Prior to the shareholder vote to approve the reverse stock split, the Company on August 2, 2022, amended its Articles of Incorporation to state that only the common stock is
affected if the reverse stock split is effectuated with no intention to affect the preferred series A stock of the company. The reverse stock split was subsequently approved by the
shareholders, and effectively the terms and conditions of the preferred stock were “deemed modified” and treated as an extinguishment (in accordance with ASC 470-50 and
ASC 260-10-S99-2 for the disproportionate value received (the carrying compared to the fair value received).
 
On September 1, 2022, Mr. Absher converted 358,333 preferred shares series A to 358,333 shares of the Company’s common stock. Pursuant to Rule 144, these 358,333 shares
of common stock are subject to a six-month holding period during which they may not be sold in the marketplace. All of the 358,333 preferred shares series A were converted
into common shares on September 1, 2022, after the Company's reverse stock split had taken effect. Accordingly, no preferred stock series A shares are issued and outstanding
as of August 31, 2023. As noted in Note 15, Contingencies, however, the trustee of the bankruptcy estate of Mr. Holmes is now asserting rights to preferred options and has
attempted to convert preferred options into shares of preferred series A stock. See Subsequent Events Note 15, and the Company has come to an understanding in this matter to
settle for $550,000, which has been accrued for in accounts payable and accrued liabilities as of August 31, 2023, in the accompany consolidated balance sheet.
 
On August 21, 2023, holders of an aggregate of 358,672 (representing 70.7%) of the Company’s outstanding shares of common stock, approved by written consent (a) a one-
for-twenty four (1:24) (or such other ratio as may be determined by the Board) reverse split of the Company’s common stock, and, separately, (b) the Company’s grant to its
founder and CEO of the Option Agreement providing to him  a conditional right to receive 4,744,234 shares of the Company’s preferred stock series A. This was approved by
the shareholders.
 
On August 22, 2023, the Company entered into an agreement (the “Option Agreement”) with the Company’s founder and CEO, Mr. Absher, providing for the conditional
issuance to him of a right to receive 4,744,234 shares of the Company’s preferred stock series A. The Company used the following assumptions to value the expense related to
the preferred shares of series A: (i) life of 1.1years; (ii) risk free rate of 5.57%; (iii) volatility of 186.168%; (iv) exercise price of $0.0001 per share; and (v) market price of
$0.66 per share common (based upon the Company’s traded stock price) (vi) a fair value of $0.65999 per share of the Company’s common stock. The Company recorded $3.1
million as stock-based compensation expense that is included general and administrative expenses for the year ending August 31, 2023, in the accompanying Consolidated
Statements of Operations. See Note 16, Subsequent Events for the issuance of 4,744,234 shares to Mr. Absher on October 17, 2023. and the Company will be recording a
preferential dividend on preferred series A of $67.4 million will be recorded. This has no impact on Stockholders’ Deficit.
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Item 6. [Reserved.]
 
Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis or Plan of Operation.
 
The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our financial statements and the related notes, and other
financial information included in this Form 10-K.
 
Our Management’s Discussion and Analysis contains not only statements that are historical facts, but also statements that are forward-looking. Forward-looking statements
are, by their very nature risky, and are subject to uncertainties that could cause actual results or events to differ materially from those expressed or implied by the forward-
looking statements in this Form 10-K. These risks and uncertainties include international, national, and local general economic and market conditions; our ability to sustain,
manage, or forecast growth; our ability to successfully make and integrate acquisitions; new product development and introduction; existing government regulations and
changes in, or the failure to comply with, government regulations; adverse publicity; competition; the loss of significant customers or suppliers; fluctuations and difficulty in
forecasting operating results; change in business strategy or development plans; business disruptions; the ability to attract and retain qualified personnel; the ability to protect
technology; the risk of foreign currency exchange rate; and other risks that might be detailed from time to time in our filings with the SEC. We do not undertake any obligation
to update forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances occurring after the date of this Form 10-K.
 
Although the forward-looking statements in this Form 10-K reflect the good faith judgment of our management, such statements can only be based on facts and factors currently
known by them. You are urged to carefully review and consider the various disclosures made by us in this Form 10-K as we attempt to advise interested parties of the risks and
factors that may affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations and prospects. For a more detailed discussion of the inclusion of forward-looking statements
in this Form 10-K, please refer to the discussion, above, entitled “Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements and Information.”
 
Overview
 
We are a human capital management (”HCM") platform. We provide payroll and related employment tax processing, human resources and employment compliance,
employment related insurance, and employment administrative services solutions for our business clients (“clients” or “operators”) and shift work or “gig” opportunities for
worksite employees (“WSEs” or “shifters”). As consideration for providing these services, we receive administrative or processing fees as a percentage of a client’s gross
payroll. The level of our administrative fees is dependent on the services provided to our clients, which ranges from basic payroll processing to a full suite of human resources
information systems ("”RIS") technology. Our primary operating business metric is gross billings, consisting of our clients’ fully burdened payroll costs, which includes, in
addition to payroll, workers’ compensation insurance premiums, employer taxes, and benefits costs.
 
Our goal is to be the best online fully-integrated workforce solution and employer services support platform for lower-wage workers and employment opportunities. We have
built an application and desktop capable marketplace solution that allows for workers to access and apply for job opportunities created by our clients and to provide traditional
back-office services to our clients as well as real-time business information for our clients’ human capital needs and requirements.
 
We have designed our business platform to evolve to meet the needs of a changing workforce and a changing work environment. We believe our approach and robust
technology will benefit from the observed demographic workplace shift away from traditional employee/employer relationships towards the increasingly flexible work
environment that is characteristic of the gig economy. We believe this change in approach began after the 2008 financial crisis and is currently being driven by the labor
shortage created out of the COVID-19 economic crisis. We also believe that a significant problem underpinning the lower wage labor crisis is the sourcing of workers and
matching temporary or gig workers to short-term job opportunities.
 
We have built our business on a recurring revenue model since our inception in 2015. Our initial market focus has been to monetize a traditional staffing services business
model, coupled with developed technology, to address underserved markets containing predominately lower wage employees with high turnover, including the light industrial,
food service, restaurant, and hospitality markets.
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Our primary focus was on clients in the restaurant and hospitality industries, market segments traditionally characterized by high employee turnover and low pay rates. We
believe that these industries will be better served by our HRIS technology platform and related mobile smartphone application that provides payroll and human resources
tracking for our clients. The use of our HRIS platform should provide our clients with real-time human capital business intelligence and we believe will result in lower
operating costs, improved customer experience, and revenue growth. All of our clients enter into service agreements with us or one of our wholly-owned subsidiaries to provide
these services.
 
We believe that our value proposition is to provide a combination of overall net cost savings to our clients, for which they are willing to pay increased administrative fees that
offset the costs of the services we provide, as follows:
 
  · Payroll tax compliance and management services
     
  · Governmental HR compliance such as for Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (“ACA”) compliance requirements;
     
  · Reduced client workers’ compensation premiums or enhanced coverage;
     
  · Access to an employee pool of potential qualified applicants to reduce turnover costs;
     
  · Ability to fulfill temporary worker requirements in a “tight” labor market with our intermediation (“job matching”) services; and
     

  · Reduced screening and onboarding costs due to access to an improved pool of qualified applicants who can be onboarded through a highly efficient, and virtually
paperless technology platform.

  
Our management believes that providing this baseline business, coupled with our technology solution, provides a unique, value-added solution to the HR compliance, staffing,
and scheduling problems that businesses face. Over the past twenty-four months, in the face of the COVID-19 and post COVID-19 pandemic, we have instituted various
growth initiatives described below that are designed to accelerate our revenue growth. These initiatives include the matching of temporary job opportunities between workers
and employers under a fully compliant staffing solution through our HRIS platform. For this solution to be effective, we need to obtain a significant number of WSEs in
concentrated geographic areas to fulfill our clients’ unique staffing needs and facilitate the client-WSE relationship. 
  
Managing, recruiting, and scheduling a high volume of low-wage employees can be both difficult and expensive. Historically, the acquisition and recruiting of such an
employee population has been a labor intensive and expensive process in part due to high onboarding costs and complex issues surrounding such matters as tax information
capture or I-9 verification. Early in our history, we evaluated these costs and found that proper process flows that are automated with blockchain and cloud technology, coupled
with access to lower cost workers’ compensation policies resulting from economies of scale, could result in a profitable and low-cost scalable business model.
 
Over the past five years, we have invested heavily in a robust, cloud-based HRIS platform to:
   
  · reduce client WSE management costs;
     
  · automate new WSE and client onboarding;
     
  · accumulate a large pool of qualified WSEs across multiple geographical markets;
     
  · facilitate the intermediation (job matching) of WSEs with job opportunities; and
     
  · supply additional value-added services for our clients that generate additional revenue streams for us.
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In the past, our executive team spent an enormous effort on the failed SPAC transaction, and it cost the Company significant amount of money. We did gain many contacts from
this which we have identified as target for acquisition. Our current business plan is to raise debt and issue stock for acquisitions to grow our business.
 
In addition, we face many challenges from ongoing legal issues which is disclosed in Note 15, Contingencies to our Consolidated Financial Statement, delinquent payroll tax
liability and associated penalties and interest which is approximately $29.5 million.
 
The Company has a guaranteed cost program for its workers compensation program. In the past, the Company had a self-insured workers compensation program and is still
dealing with the insured carrier over the claim liability of approximately $5.6 million. The insurance carrier, Sunz Insurance Solutions, LLC has filed a litigation case against
the Company, see Note 15, Contingencies to our Consolidated Financial Statements.
 
Software Development  
 
We believe that our HRIS platform and the related mobile functionality that we are developing will be key differentiators and drivers of our low-cost customer acquisition
strategy. As such, we have invested heavily in our HRIS platform over the past five years.
 
The heart of ShiftPixy’s employment services solutions is a technology platform, including a smartphone application, through which our WSEs will be able to find available
shifts at our clients' locations, solving a problem of finding available shifts for both the shifters looking for additional shifts when they want to work and businesses looking to
fill open shifts.
 
A key element of our software development involves using our blockchain ledger to process and record our critical Peer-to-Peer (“P2P”) connections. While not necessarily a
new development, we note that we intend to use blockchain technology to keep our data secure. Any data considered to be a human capital validation point or part of the hiring
and onboarding process will be utilized and recorded in our blockchain ledger. For example, we expect the employee I-9 verification process—one of the most stringent,
rigorous, and penalty-laden compliance procedures – to be positively impacted by blockchain utilization of biometric authentication and automatic verification of I-9 data,
removing human error in the process of screening for fraudulent information. Verification of that data on the blockchain will allow both employers and auditing agencies to
confidently validate additional criteria such as employment dates, and candidates’ backgrounds (i.e., education, references, certifications, etc.), and share the verification status
directly on multiple distributed sources within the blockchain, further underscoring the reliability and accuracy of candidates’ information and corporate compliance.
 
Future implementation of blockchain technology within the ShiftPixy Ecosystem is anticipated to include extended applications for payroll and real-time payments, and
utilization of smart contracts for employment contracts, which will facilitate recording of credible, trackable, and irreversible transactions without third parties. For purposes of
clarification, we note that ShiftPixy has never, does not now and will never use its blockchain technology in any form of cryptocurrency or crypto-currency related application.
 
Our smartphone application is one of the software components of what we call the mobile platform, and together with the ShiftPixy “Command Hub” and the client portal, is
being developed, tested and released in stages. We have released and are currently using the multilingual onboarding feature of our software, which enables us to capture all
application process related data regarding our assigned WSEs and to introduce WSEs to and integrate them into the ShiftPixy Ecosystem. This multilingual feature will allow us
to move faster into outside markets and will reduce the time and cost to bring new WSEs onto our HRIS platform.
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Our smartphone onboarding functionality streamlines the typical burdensome pile of new employee paperwork into a seamless user-friendly workflow that is fully compliant
with governmental requirements. By leveraging artificial intelligence capabilities, new hires are guided by a conversation with a “Pixy” chatbot that asks the necessary
questions and generates the required employment documents in a highly personal and engaging way. Following completion of the questions, applicable onboarding paperwork
is prepopulated with the data and prepared for the employee’s signature to be affixed digitally via the app as well.
 
We believe that our technology and approach to human capital management provides our clients’' management with a unique real-time business intelligence window into their
human capital needs. In addition to standard management reporting, our technology provides real-time tools for management to quickly assess and plan their human capital
staffing requirements.
 
Prior to March 2019, we primarily used turnkey contract software development firms to build the software code, mobile application, and license integrations required to build
the functional solution, with our internal personnel maintaining principally an oversight role. Beginning in March 2019, we hired and assembled an internal development team
for cost-cutting and for better feature and implementation control. Our development team was fully in place by August 2019 and focused on delivering a version of our mobile
application and software solution using a combination of third-party licensed software and internally developed software.
 
We began building our internal software development team and transitioned away from our former software development vendor to expedite our technology deployment. We
launched version 2.0 of our mobile application and enhanced user features, including onboarding, scheduling and driver management, during the fourth quarter of Calendar
2019.
 
We continued our software development internally primarily by focusing on feature enhancements such as delivery, scheduling, and onboarding functionality improvement, as
well as better integration and more seamless process flow improvements. We believe that this has resulted in an improved user experience, reduced internal staff time required
for onboarding, and increased trials of  
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Results of Operations
 
The following table summarizes the consolidated results of our operations for the year ended August 31, 2023 and August 31, 2022:
 
Fiscal 2023 vs. Fiscal 2022
  
Our financial performance for the years ended August 31, 2023, compared to August 31, 2022, included the following significant items:
 
    For The Years Ended  

   
August 31,

2023    
August 31,

2022  

Revenue, net   $ 17,129,000    $ 36,002,000 
Cost of revenue     16,251,000      34,227,000 
Gross profit     878,000      1,775,000 
                 
Operating expenses:                

Salaries, wages, and payroll taxes     15,762,000      14,821,000 
Professional fees     3,609,000      7,673,000 
Research and software development     263,000      2,529,000 
Depreciation and amortization     523,000      509,000 
Impaired asset expense     1,435,000      - 
Right-of-use asset impairment expense     2,497,000      3,851,000 
General and administrative     10,746,000      15,636,000 

Total operating expenses     34,835,000      45,019,000 
                 

Operating loss     (33,957,000)     (43,244,000)
                 
Other (expense) income:                

SPAC offering expenses     -      (515,000)
Other income     642,000      316,000 

Total other (expense) income     642,000     (199,000)
Loss from continuing operations before income taxes     (33,315,000)     (43,443,000)
                 
Income tax expense (benefit)     13,000      (38,000)
Loss from continuing operations     (33,328,000)     (43,405,000)
                 
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax     242,000      (590,000)
Non-controlling interest     (540,000)     - 
                 
Net loss attributable to ShiftPixy, Inc   $ (33,626,000)   $ (43,995,000)
                 
Preferred stock preferential dividend     (127,145,000)     - 
Deemed dividend from change in fair value from warrants modification     -      (15,703,000)

Net loss attributable to common stockholders   $ (160,771,000)   $ (59,698,000)
                 
Net Loss per share, Basic and diluted                
Continuing operations   $ (299.27)   $ (3,523.58)
Discontinued operations   $ 0.45    $ (35.17)
Net loss per common share – Basic and diluted   $ (298.82)   $ (3,558.75)
                 
Weighted average common stock outstanding – Basic and diluted     538,017      16,775 
    
Revenue, net decreased $18.9 million or 52.4%, from $36.0 million for the year ended August 31, 2022 to $17.1 million for the year ended August 31, 2023. This decrease is
related to the loss of clients during the end of Fiscal 2022 due to executives who focused their time on the SPAC the impact of this is reflected in during the year ended August
31, 2023. The Company was expected clients from the SPAC transaction which would have resulted in additional revenues, an increase in gross margins and expected cost
savings. The Company’s plans to increase revenues from acquisitions which are expected to be funded from debt and stock.
  
Gross Profit for the years ended August 31, 2023 compared to August 31, 2022 was 5.1% and 4.9 %, respectively, remained consistent.
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Operating expenses decreased $10.2 million  from $45.0 million for the year ended August 31, 2022 to $34.8 million. For the year ended August 31. 2023. The components of
operating expenses change for such periods are as follows:
 
Salaries, wages and payroll taxes decreased $4.0 million from $14.8. million for the year August 31, 2022 to $158 for the year ended August 31, 2023, the decrease is directly
related to the reduction in employees from 61 employees to 31 employees for the year ended August 31, 2022 to August 31, 2023, respectively. Included in salaries, wages and
payroll taxes is penalties and interest expense for payroll taxes owed to the Internal Revenue Service, states and local taxing authorities. For the year ended August 31, 2022
penalties and interest expense was $1.2 million as compared to $6.1 million for the year ended August 31, 2023. The increase of $4.9 million resulted due to an increase in
payroll tax owed to the Internal Revenue Service, states and local taxing authorities from $12.9 million to $22.8 million as of August 31, 2022 and August 31, 2023,
respectively. The Company is expected to record additional penalties from its outstanding payroll obligations to the IRS, states and local authorities.
 
Professional fees primarily consist of legal fees, accounting and public company costs, board fees, and consulting fees. Professional fees decreased by $4.1 million, from $7.7
million for the year ended August 31, 2022 to $3.6 million for the year ended August 31, 2023. The decrease is primarily related to the ceased operations of our sponsored
SPAC for which the Company is no longer incurring expenses of $1.7 million. In addition, the Company experienced a decrease in legal fees of $1.6 million. 
 
Research and expense of costs associated with research and development outsourced to third parties. Software development costs decreased by $2.3 from $2.5 million for the
year ended August 31, 2022  to $0.3 million for the year ended August 31, 2023. The decrease is related to the reduction of external IT consultants as the application was
essentially completed during the second half of Fiscal 2022.
 
Impairment asset expense is a non-cash charge for the year ended August 31, 2023 and was $1.4 million related to the assets related for Labs the launch of which the Company
postponed its launch. The Company wrote down long-term assets to its estimated fair value by $1.0 million and $0.4 million from its non-recoupable security deposits related to
its abandoned leases. 
 
Right-of-use asset impairment for the years ended August 31, 2023 and August 31, 2022 the Company recorded a non-cash impairment charge based upon the asset value at
each reporting period. The non-recurring impairment for the year ended August 31, 2023 of $2.5 million was the result of the Company decision abandoning the leases for its
offices in Irvine California and Sunrise, Florida. The right-of-use asset impairment for the year ended August 31, 2022 was $3.9 million which related to an abandoned lease in
Brickell, Florida. The determination was based on the Company’s inability to utilize the premises as they were under extensive construction by the landlord resulting in a
significant negative impact on the Company’s ability to conduct business and the health and well-being of the Company’s employees and guests.
  
General and administrative expenses consist of office rent and related overhead, software licenses, insurance, stock- based compensation, insurance. marketing, travel and
entertainment, a reserve for uncollectable purchase price note receivable and other general business expenses. General and administrative expenses decreased by $4.9 million
from $15.6 million for the ended August 31, 2022 to $10.7 million for the year ended August 31, 2023. The decrease primarily relates to  a decrease from a $4.0 million
uncollectable purchase price note receivable resulting from a January 2020 transaction. In addition, there were decreases from insurance related to the SPAC of $1.9 million and
other expenses due to the reduction in various expenses as the Company as a result in decreases cost cutting offset by an increase legal settlement of $1.4 million and marketing
expenses of 0.6 million.
 
SPAC offering expanses was $0.5 million for the year ended August 31, 2022 and was due to the abandonment of the initial public offering.  
  
Income (loss) from discontinued operations represents the reassessment of the workers' compensation claims reserve associated with our former clients that we transferred to
Vensure as part of the Vensure Asset Sale. Income from discontinued operations increased by $0.8 million was primarily related to the gain recorded from the settlement with
Everest.
 
Net loss for the years ended August 31, 2023 decreased by $10.4 million from $44.0 million compared to $33.6 million based upon the factors above. 
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LIQUIDITY, CAPITAL RESOURCES AND GOING CONCERN
 
As of August 31, 2023, the Company had cash of $0.1 million and a working capital deficit of $51.0 million. During the year ended August 31, 2023, the Company used
approximately $9.2 million of cash from its continuing operations and incurred recurring losses, resulting in an accumulated deficit of $226.4 million. As of August 31, 2023,
the Company is delinquent with respect to remitting payroll tax payments to the IRS, states, and local jurisdictions. The Company has retained tax counsel and has been in near
constant communication with the IRS regarding processing its Employee Retention Tax Credits (“ERTCs”).  On September 14, 2023, the IRS has a moratorium on processing
new ERTC claims and many of the Company’s clients are seeking refunds. The Company has filed recent ETRC claims and has not received any notifications of acceptance
from the IRS. Some clients have filed suits against the Company, demanding that the Company take action to file for additional ERTCs for certain tax periods.
 
ShiftPixy has received notices from the IRS owe approximately $11.8 million for unpaid tax liabilities, including penalties and interest. The balances reported on such notices
do not represent the full payroll tax liability of as of August 31, 2023. The Company expects payroll tax liabilities, penalties and interest to increase in the future.  Moreover, the
IRS has threatened to take enforced collection against ShiftPixy potentially. ShiftPixy has taken steps to preserve so-called “collection due process rights” and present
collection alternatives to the proposed enforced collection.  Specifically:
 

 
· The Company had a collection due process hearing with the IRS Independent Office of Appeals on October 24, 2023.  On October 24 and November 6, 2023,

ShiftPixy requested that the IRS Independent Office of Appeals (“Appeals”), among other things, abate additions to tax and related interest for the failure to make
required deposits and the failure to timely pay required tax.  That request is pending before Appeals; and

     

 

· On October 27, 2023, the IRS issued to the Company a Letter 1058, Final Notice, Notice of Intent to Levy and Notice of Your Right to a Hearing, with respect to
the Company’s (a) Form 941 liabilities for the tax periods ending March 31, June 30, September 30, and December 31, 2022, and (b) Form 940 liabilities for the
tax period ending December 31, 2022 (such liabilities, “That Are Subject to Enforced Collection”).  On November 26, 2023, ShiftPixy timely filed a Form 12153,
Request for a Collection Due Process or Equivalent Hearing, with respect to the Company Liability That Are Subject to Enforced Collection.  That Form 12153
requested, among other things, an abatement of additions to tax and related interest for the failure to make required deposits and the failure to timely pay required
tax that are included within ShiftPixy That Are Subject to Enforced Collection.  That request is pending before the IRS Independent Office of Appeals.

 
Notwithstanding the above-described requests for a collection due process hearing, should the IRS determine the collectability of tax be in jeopardy, the IRS can, with limited
notice, levy the affected Company’s bank accounts and subject it to enforced collection if ShiftPixy cannot obtain a resolution of the payroll tax issues, the United States Tax
Court can review Appeals’ determination.  There is no assurance that the IRS will abate penalties and interest currently assessed against ShiftPixy. If ShiftPixy cannot get
abated the outstanding penalties, and interest or raise the necessary capital to fund its payroll tax obligations and collection alternative, it may cause ShiftPixy to file for
bankruptcy protection in the near future.
 
The Company has taken aggressive steps to reduce its overhead expenses. The Company’s plans and expectations for the next twelve months include raising additional capital
which may help fund the Company’s operations and strengthening the Company’s sales force strategy by focusing on staffing services as the key driver towards its success. In
addition, the Company is changing its business model since it is operating at a loss and not generating positive cash flows from operations. The payroll tax liabilities, interest,
and penalties to increase. Based upon the current Company’s business plans may cause the Company to file for bankruptcy in the near future. 
 
The Company expects to engage in additional sales register securities during Fiscal 2024, either through registered offerings or private placements, the proceeds of which the
Company intends to use to fund its operations. If these sources do not provide the capital necessary to fund the Company’s operations during the next twelve months, it may
need to curtail certain aspects of its operations or expansion activities, consider the sale of additional assets, or consider other means of financing. The Company is also seeking
acquisition targets for growth, a recurring revenue base, significant gross profit conversion, margin expansion opportunities, a light industrial sector focus, a blue-chip client
base, cyclical tailwinds, and a tenured management team willing and able to execute a comprehensive integration plan. The Company can give no assurance that it will be
successful in implementing its business plan and obtaining financing on advantageous terms, or that any such additional financing will be available. If the Company is not
successful in obtaining the necessary financing, we do not currently have the cash resources to meet our operating commitments for the next twelve months from the issuance
of the financial statements. The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements do not include any adjustments for this uncertainty.
 
Under the existing accounting guidance, management must evaluate whether there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the date the consolidated financial statements are issued. This evaluation initially does not take into
consideration the potential mitigating effect of management’s plans that have not been fully implemented as of the date the consolidated financial statements are issued. When
substantial doubt is determined to exist, management evaluates whether the mitigating effect of its plans sufficiently alleviates substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern. The mitigating effect of management’s plans; however, is only considered if both (1) it is probable that the plans will be effectively implemented
within one year after the date the  Consolidated Financial Statements are issued, and (2) it is probable that the plans, when implemented, may mitigate the relevant conditions or
events that raise substantial doubt about the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the date the Consolidated Financial Statements are issued.
Therefore, management has concluded that there is substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern from twelve months the date of the issuance of
issuance of the financial statements.
 
Historically, the Company’s principal source of financing has come through the sale of the Company’s common stock, including in certain instances, warrants and the issuance
of convertible notes.
 
On October 5, 2023, the Company,  entered into a securities purchase agreement with an institutional investor, pursuant to which the Company issued and sell to the investor (i)
in a registered direct offering, 56,250 shares of common stock of the Company common stock at a price of $26.40 per share, and pre-funded warrants (the “Pre-Funded
Warrants”) to purchase up to 38,125 shares of common stock at a price of $26.40 per share and an exercise price of $0.0001 per share of common stock, and (ii) in a concurrent
 private placement, common stock purchase warrants (the “Private Placement Warrants”), exercisable for an aggregate of up to 56,250 shares of common stock, at an exercise
price of $26.40 per share of common stock. The Pre-Funded warrants were exercised. The net proceeds of this offering were $2.0 million.
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The following table sets forth a summary of changes in cash flows for the years ended August 31, 2023 and August 31, 2022.
 

   
For the Years Ended

August 31,  

    2023     2022  
Net cash used in operating activities   $ (9,243,000)   $ (17,520,000)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities     117,228,000      (117,463,000)
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities     (108,528,000)     134,402,000 
Decrease in cash   $ (543,000)   $ (581,000)
   
Operating Activities
 
Cash used in operations for the year ended August 31, 2023 was $ 9.2 million, primarily consisting of a net loss from continuing operations of $33.3 million from continuing
operations, an increase in accounts payable and accrued  liabilities, payroll related liabilities and payroll, payroll tax liabilities and accrued workers compensation  of $16.5
million  a decrease in unbilled receivable of $0.3 million offset by an increase in accounts receivable, and prepaid expenses and other assets of prepaid expense of $1.0 million
a decrease in operating lease liabilities of $0.6 million. In addition, cash from operations increased from non-cash expenses of $8.9 million.
 
Cash used in operations for the year ended August 31, 2022 was $17.5 million primarily consisting of the net loss of $43.4 million from continuing operations, an increase in
accounts payable and accrued liabilities and payroll related payable and  payroll tax related liabilities of $14.6 million, a decrease in accounts receivable, unbilled receivable,
workers compensation deposits of $1.4 million, offset by a decrease in accrued workers compensation of $0.5 million and an increase in prepaid and other current assets of $0.2
million  Cash from operations increased for non in non-cash expenses of $10.5 million.
 
Investing Activities
 
Net cash provided by investing activities for the year ended August 31, 2023, was $117. 2 million primarily from the redemption of IHC Trust Account of $117.6 million and
offset by from the purchase of fixed assets of $0.3 million. Net cash used in investing activities for the year ended August 31, 2022, was $117.5 million which was primarily
from an investment of $117.0 million from the proceeds of an initial public offering into the IHC Trust Account and from the purchase fixed assets of $0.5 million.
 
Financing Activities
 
Net cash used in financing activities for the year ended August 31, 2023, was $ 108.5 million which was from primary from the net proceeds of $7.1 million related to three
private placements, $2.0 million from the net proceeds of an ATM offering and offset by $117.6 million payment to IHC shareholders. Net cash provided by financing activities
for the year ended August 31 2022 was $134.4 million, primarily from the net proceeds of $116.7 million for an initial public offering of IHC, $11.0 million from the net
proceeds from two private placements, $6.6 million net proceeds from the issuance of common stock for the exercise of warrants, net proceeds of $3.7 million for the issuance
of preferred stock series A and a payment of $3.7 million of SPAC related offering cost.
  
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
 
None
 
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
 
A critical accounting policy and related estimates are both important to the portrayal of a company’s financial condition and results of operations and requires management’s
most difficult, subjective or complex judgments, often as a result of the need to make estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain. Refer to the Company’s
Annual Report for a complete listing of the critical accounting estimates. Below summarizes a few significant accounting policies for your reference.
 
Our Consolidated Financial Statements are presented in accordance with U.S. GAAP, and all applicable U.S. GAAP accounting standards effective as of August 31, 2023 have
been taken into consideration in preparing the Consolidated Financial Statements. The preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements require estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, expenses and related disclosures. Some of those estimates are subjective and complex, and, consequently, actual results could
differ from those estimates. The following accounting policies and estimates have been highlighted as significant because changes to certain judgments and assumptions
inherent in these policies could affect our unaudited consolidated financial statements:
  

  · Assumption as a going concern; management assumes that the Company will continue as a going concern, which contemplates continuity of operations,
realization of assets and liquidation of all liabilities in the normal course of business;

     
  · Liability for legal contingencies;
     
  · Deferred income taxes and related valuation allowance;
     
  · Projected development of workers’ compensation litigation.
     
  · Payroll taxes and associated penalties and interest.  
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
 
Not required.
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To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of
ShiftPixy, Inc.
Opinion on the Financial Statements
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated  balance sheets of ShiftPixy, Inc. (the “Company”) as of August 31, 2023 and 2022  the related consolidated  statements of 
operations  stockholders’ deficit and cash flows for each of the two  years in the period ended August 31, 2023 , and the related notes  (collectively referred to as the “financial
statements”).  In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of August 31, 2023 and 2022 , and the
results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the two  years in the period ended August 31, 2023 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America
 
Explanatory Paragraph – Going Concern
 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern. As more fully described in Note 2 , the
Company has a significant working capital deficiency, has incurred significant losses and needs to raise additional funds to meet its obligations and sustain its operations. As of
August 31, 2023, the Company is delinquent with respect to remitting payroll tax payments to the IRS, states, and local jurisdictions, and has incurred significant interest and
penalties. There is no certainty that the Company will be able to meet this obligation. These conditions raise substantial doubt about the Company's ability to continue as a
going concern. Management's plans in regard to these matters are also described in Note 2 . The consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments that might
result from the outcome of this uncertainty.
 
Basis for Opinion
 
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's financial statements based on our
audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) ("PCAOB") and are required to be independent with
respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the
PCAOB.
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an
audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
 
Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures
that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also
included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We
believe that our audits provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
 
Emphasis of Matter- Payroll Tax Liabilities
 
In forming our opinion, we have considered the adequacy of the disclosures included in the financial statements concerning among other things the risks and uncertainties
related to the Company’s delinquent payroll tax liabilities, and associated penalties and interest. The current outstanding balances owed to the Internal Revenue Service
(“IRS”), and various state and local jurisdictions, as of August 31, 2023 aggregated $29,595,000. The delinquent amounts may have a materially adverse effect on the
Company’ ability to continue its operations, and in certain instances, should the IRS determine the collectability of the tax to be in jeopardy, the IRS can, with limited notice,
levy the Company’s bank accounts. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter.
 
/s/ Marcum LLP
 
Marcum LLP
 
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2017.
 
New York, NY
 
December 14, 2023
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ShiftPixy Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

 

   
August 31,

2023    
August 31,

2022  

         
ASSETS  

Current assets            
Cash   $ 75,000    $ 618,000 
Accounts receivable, net     590,000      279,000 
Unbilled accounts receivable     1,784,000      2,105,000 
Prepaid expenses     839,000      696,000 
Other current assets     532,000      187,000 
Cash and marketable securities held in Trust Account (See Notes 2 and 5)     —      116,969,000 
Total current assets     3,820,000      120,854,000 
                 
Fixed assets, net     1,622,000      2,769,000 
Right-of-use asset     866,000      4,076,000 
Deposits and other assets     192,000      919,000 
Total assets   $ 6,500,000    $ 128,618,000 
                 

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT
                 
Current liabilities                
Accounts payable and other accrued liabilities   $ 16,692,000    $ 16,225,000 
Payroll tax related liabilities     29,595,000      14,175,000 
Payroll related liabilities      2,940,000       2,777,000 
Accrued workers’ compensation costs (Note 3)     1,219,000      567,000 
Current liabilities of discontinued operations (Note 3)     4,389,000      1,362,000 
Class A common shares subject to possible redemption 11,500,000 and no shares at $10.15 per share redemption value as of August
31, 2022 (See Notes 2 and 5)     —      116,969,000 

Total current liabilities     54,835,000      152,075,000 
Non-current liabilities                
Operating lease liability, non-current     2,790,000      3,541,000 
Accrued workers’ compensation costs     —      1,227,000 
Non-current liabilities of discontinued operations     —      3,269,000 
Total liabilities     57,625,000      160,112,000 
Commitments and contingencies (See Notes 14 and 15)                
Stockholders’ deficit                
Convertible preferred stock series A, 50,000,000 authorized shares; $0.0001 par value: 0 and 358,333 shares issued and outstanding
as of August 31, 2023 and August 31, 2022.     —      — 

Common stock, 750,000,000 authorized shares; $0.0001 par value; and 507,383 shares 21,390 issued and outstanding as of August
31, 2023 and August 31, 2022     —      — 

Additional paid-in capital     175,226,000      151,737,000 
Accumulated deficit     (226,351,000)     (192,725,000)
Total ShiftPixy, Inc. Stockholders’ deficit     (51,125,000)     (40,988,000)
Non-controlling interest in consolidated subsidiaries (See Note 4)     —      9,494,000 
Total stockholders’ deficit     (51,125,000)     (31,494,000)
Total liabilities and stockholders’ deficit   $ 6,500,000    $ 128,618,000 
   

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ShiftPixy Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations

 
    For The Years Ended  

   
August 31,

2023    
August 31,

2022  

Revenue, net   $ 17,129,000    $ 36,002,000 
Cost of revenue     16,251,000      34,227,000 
Gross profit     878,000      1,775,000 
                 
Operating expenses:                

Salaries, wages, and payroll taxes     15,762,000      14,821,000 
Professional fees     3,609,000      7,673,000 
Research and software development     263,000      2,529,000 
Depreciation and amortization     523,000      509,000 
Impaired asset expense     1,435,000      - 
Right-of-use asset impairment expense     2,497,000      3,851,000 
General and administrative     10,746,000      15,636,000 

Total operating expenses     34,835,000      45,019,000 
                 

Operating loss     (33,957,000)     (43,244,000)
                 
Other (expense) income:                

SPAC offering expenses     -      (515,000)
Other income     642,000      316,000 

Total other (expense) income     642,000     (199,000)
Loss from continuing operations before income taxes     (33,315,000)     (43,443,000)
                 
Income tax expense (benefit)     13,000      (38,000)
Loss from continuing operations     (33,328,000)     (43,405,000)
                 
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax     242,000      (590,000)
Non-controlling interest     (540,000)     - 
                 
Net loss attributable to ShiftPixy, Inc   $ (33,626,000)   $ (43,995,000)
                 
Preferred stock preferential dividend     (127,145,000)     - 
Deemed dividend from change in fair value from warrants modification     -      (15,703,000)

Net loss attributable to common stockholders   $ (160,771,000)   $ (59,698,000)
                 
Net Loss per share, Basic and diluted                
Continuing operations   $ (299.27)   $ (3,523.58)
Discontinued operations   $ 0.45    $ (35.17)
Net loss per common share – Basic and diluted   $ (298.823)   $ (3,558.75)
                 
Weighted average common stock outstanding – Basic and diluted     538,017      16,775 
   

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ShiftPixy Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Deficit

 

    Convertible
Preferred Stock Series A     Common Stock     Additional           Total

Stockholders’     Non     Total  

    Issued     Issued     Paid-In     Accumulated     Deficit     controlling     Stockholders’  
    Shares     Amount     Shares     Amount     Capital     Deficit     ShiftPixy, Inc.    interest     Deficit  
Balance, August
31, 2021     -    $ -      10,777    $ -    $ 142,789,000    $ (149,338,000)   $ (6,549,000)   $ 47,472,000    $ 40,923,000 

ASC 842 adoption
catch up
adjustment

   
-
     

-
     

-
     

-
     

-
     

608,000
     

608,000
     

-
     

608,000
 

Common stock
issued for private
placement, net of
offering costs

   

-

     

-

     

1,188

     

-

     

4,183,000

     

-

     

4,183,000

     

-

     

4,183,000

 

Common stock
issued on exercised
warrants, net of
offering cost (1)

   

-

     

-

     

4,009

     

-

     

5,409,000

     

-

     

5,409,000

     

-

     

5,409,000

 

Common stock
issued on exercised
warrants, net of
offering costs (2)

   

-

     

-

     

2,083

     

-

     

1,163,000

     

-

     

1,163,000

     

-

     

1,163,000

 

Prefunded warrants
for private
placement, net of
offering cost

   

-

     

-

     

-

     

-

     

6,861,000

     

-

     

6,861,000

     

-

     

6,861,000

 

Stock-based
compensation
expense

   
-
     

-
     

-
     

-
     

1,286,000
     

-
     

1,286,000
     

-
     

1,286,000
 

Remeasurement of
IHC temporary
equity

   
-
     

-
     

-
     

-
     

(13,675,000)
   

-
     

(13,675,000)
   

-
     

(13,675,000)
Preferred stock
series A issued     691,666      -      -      -      3,721,000      -      3,721,000      -      3,721,000 

Common stock
issued for preferred
stock series A
conversion

   

(333,333)

   

-

     

3,333

     

-

     

-

     

-

     

-

     

-

     

-

 

Cancellation of
non-controlling on
withdrawal of
SPACs S-1
registration
statements

   

-

     

-

     

-

     

-

     

-

     

-

     

-

     

(37,978,000)

   

(37,978,000)
Net loss     -      -      -      -      -      (43,995,000)     (43,995,000)     -      (43,995,000)
Balance, August
31, 2022     358,333      -      21,390      -      151,737,000      (192,725,000)     (40,988,000)     9,494,000      (31,494,000)
Fair market value
increase of
preferred stock
series A prior to
reverse stock split

   

-

     

-

     

-

     

-

     

127,145,000

     

-

     

127,145,000

     

-

     

127,145,000

 

Preferential
dividend of
preferred series A
stock

   

-

     

-

     

-

     

-

     

(127,145,000)

   

-

     

(127,145,000)

   

-

     

(127,145,000)
Common stock
issued on exercised
prefunded warrants

   
-
     

-
     

5,175
     

-
     

1,000
     

-
     

1,000
     

-
     

1,000
 

Common stock
issued for private
placement, net of
offering costs

   

-

     

-

     

17,361

     

-

     

4,387,000

     

-

     

4,387,000

     

-

     

4,387,000

 

Common stock
issued for private
placement, net of
offering costs

   

-

     

-

     

86,112

     

-

     

2,685,000

     

-

     

2,685,000

     

-

     

2,685,000

 

Common stock
issued on
conversion of
preferred stock
series A

   

(358,333)

   

-

     

358,333

     

-

     

-

     

-

     

-

     

-

     

-

 

Stock-based
compensation
expense

   
-
     

-
     

-
     

-
     

954,000
     

-
     

954,000
     

-
     

954,000
 



Warrant
modification
expense

   
-
     

-
     

-
     

-
     

324,000
     

-
     

324,000
     

-
     

324,000
 

Additional shares
issued due to
reverse stock split

   
-
     

-
     

707
     

-
     

-
     

-
     

-
     

-
     

-
 

Net proceeds of
ATM, net of
offering expenses

   
-
     

-
     

18,305
     

-
     

1,973,000
     

-
     

1,973,000
     

-
     

1,973,000
 

Stock-based
compensation
conditional option
preferred series A
grant

   

-

     

-

     

-

     

-

     

3,131,000

     

-

     

3,131,000

     

-

     

3,131,000

 

Deconsolidation of
VIE     -      -      -      -      10,034,000      -      10,034,000      (10,034,000)     - 

Net loss     -      -      -      -      -      (33,626,000)     (33,626,000)     540,000      (33,086,000)
Balance, August
31, 2023     -    $ -      507,383    $ -    $ 175,226,000    $ (226,351,000)   $ (51,125,000)   $ -    $ (51,125,000)
  
(1) January 26, 2022, Warrant Exercise Agreement
(2) July 18, 2022Warrant Exercise Agreement
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ShiftPixy, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

 
    For the Years Ended  

   
August 31,

2023    
August 31,

2022  

OPERATING ACTIVITIES            
Net loss   $ (33,626,000)   $ (43,995,000)
Net loss from discontinued operations     242,000      (590,000)
Net loss from non-controlling interest     (540,000)     - 
Net loss from continuing operations     (33,328,000)     (43,405,000)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss from continuing operations to net cash used in continuing operating activities:                
Bad debt expense     187,000      - 
Depreciation and amortization     523,000      509,000 
Impaired asset expense     1,435,000      - 
Reserve for uncollectable purchase price note receivable      -       4,004,000 
Right-of-use asset impairment     2,497,000      3,851,000 
Stock-based compensation     954,000      1,283,000 
Stock compensation – shares for services to directors accrued for     150,000      - 
Stock-compensation related to conditional option grant preferred series A to CEO     3,131,000      - 
Warrant modification expense     324,000      - 
Expensed SPAC offering costs     -      515,000 
Non-cash lease expense     713,000      382,000 
Gain from settlement      (1,040,000)       - 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities                
Accounts receivable     (498,000)     219,000 
Unbilled accounts receivable     321,000      636,000 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets     (488,000)     (152,000)
Deposits – workers’ compensation     -      541,000 
Deposits and other assets     -      25,000 
Accounts payable and other accrued liabilities     459,000      6,409,000 
Payroll tax liabilities      15,420,000       4,091,000 
Payroll related liabilities      163,000       4,088,000 
Operating lease liability     (631,000)     - 
Accrued workers’ compensation     465,000     (515,000)
Total Adjustments     24,085,000      25,886,000 

Net cash used in continuing operating activities     (9,243,000)     (17,519,000)
Net cash used in discontinued operating activities     -      (1,000) 
Net cash used in operating activities     (9,243,000)     (17,520,000)
                 
INVESTING ACTIVITIES                

Purchase of fixed assets     (346,000)     (494,000)
Investment of IHC proceeds into IHC Trust Account     -      (116,969,000)
Redemption from IHC Trust Account     117,574,000      - 

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities     117,228,000      (117,463,000)
                 
FINANCING ACTIVITIES                

Proceeds from initial public offering IHC     -      116,725,000 
Payment to IHC shareholders     (117,574,000)     - 
SPAC offering costs paid     -      (3,663,000)
Proceeds from private placement, net of offering costs     7,072,000      4,183,000 
Proceeds from At-The-Market offering, net of offering costs     1,973,000      - 
Proceeds from private placement prefunded warrants, net of offering costs     1,000      6,861,000 
Proceeds from exercised warrants     -      6,573,000 
Preferred stock series A issued     -      3,723,000 

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities     (108,528,000)     134,402,000 
                 
Net decrease in cash     (543,000)     (581,000)
Cash - Beginning of Year     618,000      1,199,000 
Cash - End of Year   $ 75,000    $ 618,000 
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flows Information:                

Cash paid for interest   $ 175,000    $ 1,000 
Income taxes   $ 31,000    $ 4,000 

Non-cash Investing and Financing Activities:                
Increase in marketable securities in the Trust Account and Class A mandatory redeemable common shares   $ 801,000    $ - 

Deconsolidation of VIE   $ 9,494,000    $ - 
Conversion of preferred stock series A to common stock   $ 1,000    $ - 
Remeasurement of Class A ordinary shares subject to redemption   $  -    $   244,000 

 
See accompanying notes are an integral part to these consolidated financial statements.
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ShiftPixy, Inc.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

August 31, 2023
 
Note 1: Nature of Operations
 
ShiftPixy, Inc. (the “Company”) was incorporated on June 3, 2015, in the State of Wyoming. The Company is a specialized Human Capital service provider that provides
solutions for large, contingent, part-time workforce demands, primarily in the restaurant and hospitality service trades. The Company’s historic focus has been on the quick
service restaurant industry in Southern California, but the Company has expanded into other geographic areas and industries that employ temporary or part-time labor sources,
notably including the healthcare industry.
 
The Company functions as an employment administrative services (“EAS”) provider primarily through its wholly owned subsidiary, ReThink Human Capital Management, Inc.
(“HCM”), as well as a staffing provider through another of its wholly owned subsidiaries, ShiftPixy Staffing, Inc. (“Staffing”). These subsidiaries provide a variety of services
to our clients typically as a co-employer through HCM and a direct employer through Staffing, including the following: administrative services, payroll processing, human
resources consulting, and workers’ compensation administration and coverage (as permitted and/or required by state law). The Company has built a human resources
information systems (“HRIS”) platform to assist in client acquisition that simplifies the onboarding of new clients into the Company’s closed proprietary operating and
processing information system (the “ShiftPixy Ecosystem”).
 
In January 2020, the Company sold the assets of Shift Human Capital Management Inc. (“SHCM”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, pursuant to which the
Company assigned the majority of the Company’s billable clients at the time of the sale to a third party for cash. The continuing impact of this transaction on the Company’s
financial statements is described below in Note 3, Discontinued Operations.
 
Effective August 31, 2022, ShiftPixy, Inc. filed articles of amendment to the Company’s articles of incorporation to effect a one-for-one hundred (1:100) reverse split of the
Company’s issued and outstanding shares of common stock. The reverse split became effective on Nasdaq September 1, 2022.
 
Effective October 14, 2023, the Company filed articles of amendment to the Company’s articles of incorporation to affect a one-for-twenty four (1:24) reverse split of the
Company’s issued and outstanding shares of common stock. The reverse split became effective on Nasdaq October 16, 2023. All references to common stock, warrants and
options except for the conditional preferred stock option granted in August 2023, to purchase common stock, including per share data and related information contained in
the Consolidated Financial Statements have been retroactively adjusted to reflect the effect of the reverse stock split for all periods presented.
 
Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, Going Concern and Liquidity
 
Basis of Presentation
 
The consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
(“GAAP”) and the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”).
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Principles of Consolidation
 
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of ShiftPixy, Inc., and its wholly owned subsidiaries. The  consolidated financial statements previously included the
accounts of Industrial Human Capital, Inc. (“IHC”), which was a special purpose acquisition company, or “SPAC,” for which our wholly owned subsidiary, ShiftPixy
Investments, Inc., served as the financial sponsor (as described below), and which SPAC was deemed to be controlled by the Company  a result of the Company’s 15% equity
ownership stake, the overlap of three of our executive officers for a period of time as executive officers of IHC, and significant influence that the Company exercised over the
funding and acquisition of new operations for an initial business combination (“IBC”). (See below, Note 2, Variable Interest Entity, see below.). All intercompany balances have
been eliminated in consolidation until February 7, 2023, at which time it was deconosolidated. As of February 7, 2023, IHC was not a part of the Company’s operations, and
consolidation. IHC was dissolved on November 14, 2022, and the Trustee released all the redemption funds from the Trust Account, See Note 4, to IHC shareholders on
December 1, 2022, effectively liquidating the Trust. On February 7, 2023, three creditors of IHC filed an involuntary petition for liquidation under Chapter 7 against IHC in the
US Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of Florida. See Note 4, Pursuant to ASC 810-10-15, consolidation is precluded where control does not rest for a non-controlling
interest in legal reorganization or bankruptcy. In addition, IHC did not meet the criteria of a Variable Interest Entity (“VIE”), see Note 4.
 
Use of Estimates
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires the Company to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting
period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Significant estimates include:
 

  · Continuation as a going concern; management assumes that the Company will continue as a going concern, which contemplates continuity of operations,
realization of assets and liquidation of all liabilities in the normal course of business

     
  · Liability for legal contingencies
     
  · Projected development of workers’ compensation claims
     
  · Payroll tax and associated penalties and interest
     
  · Impairment of long-lived assets
 
These significant accounting estimates or assumptions bear the risk of change due to the fact that there are uncertainties attached to these estimates or assumptions that are
difficult to measure of value.
 
Management regularly reviews the key factors and assumptions to develop the estimates utilizing currently available information, changes in facts and circumstances, historical
experience, and reasonable assumptions. After such valuation, if deemed appropriate, those estimates are adjusted accordingly.
 
Liquidity, Capital Resources and Going Concern
 
 
As of August 31, 2023, the Company had cash of $0.1 million and a working capital deficit of $50.1 million. During the year ended August 31, 2023, the Company used
approximately $9.2 million of cash from its continuing operations and incurred recurring losses, resulting in an accumulated deficit of $226.4 million. As of August 31, 2023,
the Company is delinquent with respect to remitting payroll tax payments to the IRS, states and local jurisdictions. The Company has retained tax counsel and has been in near
constant communication with the IRS regarding processing its Employee Retention Tax Credits (“ERTCs”).  On September 14, 2023, the IRS has a moratorium on processing
new ERTC claims and many of the Company’s clients are seeking refunds. Recently, the Company has filed ERTC claims for our clients and has not received any acceptance
from the IRS. Some clients have filed suits against the Company, demanding that the Company take action to file for additional ERTCs for certain tax periods.
 
ShiftPixy have received notices from the IRS that they owe approximately $11.8 million for unpaid tax liabilities, including penalties and interest. The balances reported on
such notices do not represent the full payroll tax liability of ShiftPixy as of August 31, 2023. ShiftPixy expects its payroll tax liabilities, penalties and interest to increase in the
future. Moreover, the IRS has threatened to take enforced collection against ShiftPixy, Inc. and ShiftPixy, potentially in addition to other subsidiaries.   ShiftPixy have taken
steps to preserve so-called “collection due process rights” and present collection alternatives to the proposed enforced collection.  Specifically: 
 
· ShiftPixy had a collection due process hearing with the IRS Independent Office of Appeals on October 24, 2023. On October 24 and November 6, 2023, ShiftPixy

requested that the IRS Independent Office of Appeals (“Appeals”), among other things, abate additions to tax and related interest for the failure to make required deposits
and the failure to timely pay required tax. That request is pending before Appeals; and

  
· On October 27, 2023, the IRS issued to ShiftPixy a Letter 1058, Final Notice, Notice of Intent to Levy and Notice of Your Right to a Hearing, with respect to ShiftPixy's

(a) Form 941 liabilities for the tax periods ending March 31, June 30, September 30, and December 31, 2022, and (b) Form 940 liabilities for the tax period ending
December 31, 2022 (such liabilities, “ShiftPixy’s Liability That Are Subject to Enforced Collection”). On November 26, 2023, ShiftPixy timely filed a Form 12153,
Request for a Collection Due Process or Equivalent Hearing, with respect to ShiftPixy's Liability That Are Subject to Enforced Collection. That Form 12153 requested,
among other things, an abatement of additions to tax and related interest for the failure to make required deposits and the failure to timely pay required tax that are
included within ShiftPixy Corporate Services’ Liability That Are Subject to Enforced Collection. That request is pending before the IRS Independent Office of Appeals.

  
   
Notwithstanding the above-described requests for a collection due process hearing, should the IRS determine the collectability of tax be in jeopardy, the IRS can, with limited
notice, levy the affected Company’s bank accounts and subject it to enforced collection if ShiftPixy cannot obtain a resolution of the payroll tax issues, the United States Tax
Court can (and will be asked to) review Appeals’ determination. There is no assurance that the IRS will abate penalties and interest currently assessed against ShiftPixy. If
ShiftPixy gets abated the outstanding penalties, and interest or raise the necessary capital to fund its payroll tax obligations and collection alternative, it may cause ShiftPixy to
file for bankruptcy protection in the near future.
 
The Company has taken aggressive steps to reduce its overhead expenses. The Company’s plans and expectations for the next twelve months include raising additional capital
which may help fund the Company’s operations and seeking acquisitions targets funded by debt or stock by Company’s in staffing services as the key driver towards its
success.
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The Company expects to engage in additional sales of its securities during Fiscal 2024, either through registered public offerings or private placements, the proceeds of which
the Company intends to use to fund its operations. If these sources do not provide the capital necessary to fund the Company’s operations during the next twelve months, it may
need to curtail certain aspects of its operations or expansion activities, consider the sale of additional assets at distressed prices, or consider other means of financing. The
Company is also seeking acquisition targets funded by debt and stock, for growth, a recurring revenue base, significant gross profit conversion, margin expansion opportunities,
a light industrial sector focus, a blue-chip client base, cyclical tailwinds, and a tenured management team willing and able to execute a comprehensive integration plan. The
Company can give no assurance that it will be successful in implementing its business plan and obtaining financing on advantageous terms, or that any such additional
financing will be available. These Consolidated Financial Statements do not include any adjustments for this uncertainty.
 
Under the existing accounting guidance, management must evaluate whether there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the date the Consolidated Financial Statements are issued. This evaluation initially does not take into
consideration the potential mitigating effect of management’s plans that have not been fully implemented as of the date the Consolidated Financial Statements are issued. When
substantial doubt is determined to exist, management evaluates whether the mitigating effect of its plans sufficiently alleviates substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern. The mitigating effect of management’s plans; however, is only considered if both (1) it is probable that the plans will be effectively implemented
within one year after the date the  Consolidated Financial Statements are issued, and (2) it is probable that the plans, when implemented, may mitigate the relevant conditions or
events that raise substantial doubt about the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the date the consolidated financial statements are issued.
Therefore, management has concluded that there is substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for the next twelve months from the date of the
issuance of the financial statements.
 
Historically, the Company’s principal source of financing has come through the sale of the Company’s common stock, including in certain instances, warrants and the issuance
of convertible notes.
 
On October 5, 2023, the Company, entered into a securities purchase agreement with an institutional investor, pursuant to which the Company agreed to issue and sell to the
investor (i) in a registered direct offering, 56,250 shares at a  price of $26.40 per share, and pre-funded warrants, to purchase up to 38,125 shares of common Stock at a price of
$26.40 per share and an exercise price of $0.0001 per share of common stock, and (ii) in a concurrent securities private placement, common stock purchase warrants (the
“Private Placement Warrants”), exercisable for an aggregate of up to 56,250 shares of common stock, at an exercise price of $26.40 per share of common stock. The pre-funded
warrants were exercised in October 2023 and the Company issued 38,125 shares of common stock. The net proceeds of this offering were $2.0 million.
 
Revenue and Direct Cost Recognition
 
The Company’s revenues are primarily disaggregated into fees for providing staffing solutions and EAS/HCM services. The Company enters into contracts with its clients for
Staffing based on a stated rate and price in the contract. Contracts generally have a term of 12 months, are cancellable at any time by either party with 30 days’ written
notice. Revenue is (i) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists; (ii) the services have been rendered to the customer; (iii) the sales price is fixed or determinable; and (iv)
collectability is reasonably assured. The performance obligations in the agreements are generally combined into one performance obligation, as they are considered a series of
distinct services, and are satisfied over time because the client simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided as the Company performs the services. The
Company does not have significant financing components or significant payment terms for its clients and consequently has no material credit losses. The Company uses the
output method based on a stated rate and price over the payroll processed to recognize revenue, as the value to the client of the goods or services transferred to date
appropriately depicts the Company’s performance towards complete satisfaction of the performance obligation.
 
Staffing Solutions
 
The Company records gross billings as revenues for its staffing solutions clients. The Company is primarily responsible for fulfilling the staffing solutions services and has
discretion in establishing price. The Company includes the payroll costs in revenues with a corresponding increase to cost of revenues for payroll costs associated with these
services. As a result, we are the principal in this arrangement for revenue recognition purposes.
 
 

F-9



Table of Contents
    
EAS Solutions / HCM
 
EAS solutions  and Human Capital Management “HCM” revenues are primarily derived from the Company’s gross billings, which are based on (i) the payroll cost of the
Company’s worksite employees (“WSEs”) and (ii) an administrative fee and (iii) if eligible, WSE can elect certain pass-through benefits.
 
Gross billings are invoiced to each EAS and HCM client, concurrently with each periodic payroll. Revenues are offset by payroll cost component and pass through costs which
are presented on a net basis for revenue recognition. WSEs perform their services at the client's worksite. The Company assumes responsibility for processing and remitting
payroll to the WSE and payroll related obligations, it does not assume employment-related responsibilities such as determining the amount of the payroll and related payroll
obligations. Revenues that have been recognized but not invoiced are included in unbilled accounts receivable on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets were $1.8 million
and $2.1 million, as of August 31, 2023 and August 31, 2022, respectively.
 
Disaggregation of Revenue
 
The Company’s primary revenue streams include HCM / EAS and staffing services. The Company’s disaggregated revenues for the year ended August 31,2023 and August 31,
2022, respectively, were as follows (in millions):
 
    For the Years Ended  

Revenue (in thousands):  
August 31,

2023    
August 31,

2022  

             
HCM / EAS (1)   $ 1.6    $ 6.4 
Staffing      15.5      29.6 
Total   $ 17.1    $ 36.0 
 
(1) HCM / EAS revenue is presented net, $39.0 gross less worksite employees payroll cost of $37.4 for the years end August 31, 2023 and August 31, 2022, $52.2 million gross
less worksite employees payroll cost of $45.8, respectively. 
   
For the years ended August 31, 2023, and August 31, 2022, respectively, the following states represented more than 10% of total revenues:
 
    For the Years Ended    

States:    
August 31,

2023    
August 31,

2022  

California      51.7%    52.1%
Washington     11.6%    13.3%
New Mexico     10.8%  8.1%
.
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Incremental Cost of Obtaining a Contract
 
Pursuant to the “practical expedients” provided under Accounting Standards Update “ASC” No 2014-09, the Company expenses sales commissions when incurred because the
terms of its contracts are cancellable by either party upon 30-day notice. These costs are recorded in commissions in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations.
 
Segment Reporting
 
The Company operates as one reportable segment under Accounting Standards Codification “ASC” 280, Segment Reporting. The chief operating decision maker regularly
reviews the financial information of the Company at a consolidated level in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance.  
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents
 
The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less when purchased as cash equivalents. The Company had no cash
equivalent as of August 31, 2023, and August 31, 2022.
 
Marketable Securities Held in Trust
 
As of August 31, 2022, all of the assets held in the Trust Account were invested in U.S. Treasury securities with maturities of 180 days or less. These funds were restricted for
use and were only be used for purposes of completing an initial business combination (“IB”) or redemption of the public common shares of IHC. On December 1, 2022, the
Company distributed $117.6 million to the shareholders of IHC. As of August 31, 2023, and August 31, 2022, assets held in the Trust Account were $0 and $117.0 million.
 
Concentration of Credit Risk
 
The Company maintains cash with a commercial bank, which is insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”). At various times, the Company has deposits in
this financial institution in excess of the amount insured by the FDIC. The Company has not experienced any losses related to these balances and believes its credit risk to be
minimal. As of August 31, 2023, and August 31, 2022, there was $0.0 million and $0.6 million, respectively, of cash on deposit in excess of the amounts insured by the FDIC.
 
The following represents clients who have ten percent of total accounts receivable as of August 31, 2023, and August 31, 2022, respectively.
 
    As of  

   
August 31,

2023    
August 31,

2022  

Client 1     64.5%    0.0%
Client 2     23.6%    41.9%
Client 3     5.6%    13.7%
Client 4     3.3%    21.9%
Client 5     0.0%    20.7%
 
The following represents clients who have ten percent of gross revenues for the years ended August 31, 2023, and August 31, 2022, respectively.
 

   
August 31,

2023    
August 31,

2022  

Client 1     13.9%    7.8%
Client 2     10.6%    10.7%
 
Fixed Assets
 
Fixed assets are recorded at cost, less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Expenditures for major additions and improvements are capitalized and minor replacements,
maintenance, and repairs are charged to expense as incurred. When fixed assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and accumulated depreciation are removed from
the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is included in the results of operations for the respective period. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the useful
life or the initial lease term.
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Fixed assets are recorded at cost and are depreciated over the estimated useful lives of the related assets using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives of fixed assets
for purposes of computing depreciation are as follows:
 
Equipment:   5 years
Furniture & Fixtures:   5 – 7 years
Leasehold improvements   Shorter of useful life or the remaining lease term, typically 5 years
 
Depreciation and amortization expense for the years ended August 31, 2023, and August 31, 2022 were $0.5 million and $0.5 million, respectively, and included on the
Consolidated Statements of Operations.
 
Computer Software Development
 
Software development costs relate primarily to software coding, systems interfaces and testing of the Company’s proprietary employer information systems and are accounted
for in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification “ASC” 350-40, Internal Use Software.
 
Internal software development costs are capitalized from the time the internal use software is considered probable of completion until the software is ready for use. Business
analysis, system evaluation and software maintenance costs are expensed as incurred. The capitalized computer software development costs are reported under the section fixed
assets, net in the Consolidated Balance Sheets and are amortized using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of the software, generally three to five years from
when the asset is placed in service. The net book value for computer software development is $0 as of August 31, 2023, and August 31, 2022.
 
The Company determined that there was no material capitalized internal software development costs for the years ended August 31, 2023 and August 31, 2022. All capitalized
software recorded was purchased from third party vendors. Capitalized software development costs are amortized using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life
of the software, generally three to five years from when the asset is placed in service.
 
 The Company incurred research and development costs of $0.3 million and $2.5 million for the years ended August 31, 2023, and August 31, 2022, respectively. All costs were
related to internally developed or externally contracted software and related technology for the Company’s HRIS platform and related mobile applications.
 
Lease Recognition
 
The Financial Accounting Standards Board “FASB” established Topic 842, Leases, by issuing ASU No. 2016-02 “ASC” 842, which required lessees to recognize leases on the
balance sheet and disclose key information about leasing arrangements. Topic 842 was subsequently amended by ASU No. 2018-01, Land Easement Practical Expedient for
Transition to Topic 842; ASU No. 2018-10, Codification Improvements to Topic 842, Leases; and ASU No. 2018-11, Targeted Improvements. The standard established a right-
of-use asset model (“ROU”) that required a lessee to recognize an ROU operating lease asset and lease liability on the balance sheets for all leases with a term longer than 12
months. Leases are classified as finance or operating, with classification affecting the pattern and classification of expense recognition in the Consolidated Statement of
Operations.
 
Impairment and Disposal of Long-Lived Assets
 
The Company periodically evaluates its long-lived assets for impairment in accordance with ASC 360-10, Property, Plant, and Equipment. ASC 360-10 requires that an
impairment loss be recognized for assets to be disposed of or held-for-use when the carrying amount of an asset is deemed not to be recoverable. If events or circumstances
were to indicate that any of the Company’s long-lived assets might be impaired, the Company would assess recoverability based on the estimated undiscounted future cash
flows to be generated from the applicable asset. In addition, the Company may record an impairment loss to the extent that the carrying value of the asset exceeds the fair value
of the asset. Fair value is generally determined using an estimate of discounted future net cash flows from operating activities or upon disposal of the asset. The Company
recorded an impairment expense for its long-lived assets including its right-of of use assets for the years ended August 31, 2023 and August 31, 2022 of $3.9 million and $7.9
million, respectively.
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Workers’ Compensation
 
Everest Program
 
Until July 2018, a portion of the Company’s workers’ compensation risk was covered by a retrospective rated policy through Everest National Insurance Company, which
calculates the final policy premium based on the Company’s loss experience during the term of the policy and the stipulated formula set forth in the policy. The Company
funded the policy based on standard premium rates on a monthly basis and based on the gross payroll applicable to workers covered by the policy. During the policy term and
thereafter, periodic adjustments may involve either a return of previously paid premiums or a payment of additional premiums by the Company or a combination of both. If the
Company’s losses under that policy exceed the expected losses under that policy, then the Company could receive a demand for additional premium payments. The Company
became engaged in litigation regarding such a demand for additional premium payments; however, the Company reached a settlement agreement with Everest for $0.4 million
in June 2023 to end its litigation. As a result of the settlement, the Company recorded a gain of $1.0 million during the year ended August 31, 2023. The Company made an
initial payment of $0.1 million and has monthly payment of $0.1 million. The Company owes Everest $0.3 million as of August 31, 2023, which is included in accounts payable
and accrued liabilities in the accompanying balance sheet. 
 
Sunz Program
 
From July 2018 through February 28, 2021, the Company’s workers’ compensation program for its WSEs was provided primarily through an arrangement with United
Wisconsin Insurance Company and administered by Sunz Insurance Solutions, LLC (“Sunz”). Under this program, the Company has financial responsibility for the first $0.5
million of claims per occurrence. The Company provided and maintained a loss fund that is earmarked to pay claims and claims related expenses. The workers’ compensation
insurance carrier establishes monthly funding requirements comprised of premium costs and funds to be set aside for payment of future claims (“claim loss funds”). The level
of claim loss funds is primarily based upon anticipated WSE payroll levels and expected workers’ compensation loss rates, as determined by the insurance carrier. The
Company has not funded into the program for incurred claims that was expected to be paid within one year. As of August 31, 2023 and August 31, 2022, the liability owed to
Sunz that is recorded in accrued workers compensation cost discounted operations liabilities is $5.6 million and $5.0 million, respectively. The Company is currently engaged
in litigation with Sunz for additional claims loss funds, as discussed in Note 15, Contingencies, Sunz.
 
Under the Everest and Sunz programs, the Company utilized a third party to estimate its loss development rate, which was based primarily upon the nature of WSEs’ job
responsibilities, the location of WSEs, the historical frequency and severity of workers’ compensation claims, and an estimate of future cost trends. Each reporting period,
changes in the assumptions resulting from changes in actual claims experience and other trends are incorporated into its workers’ compensation claims cost estimates.
 
There were no workers compensation deposits related to these programs as of August 31, 2023, and as of August 31, 2022, respectively.
 
Current Program
 
Effective March 1, 2021, the Company migrated its clients to a guaranteed cost program. Under this program, the Company’s financial responsibility is limited to the cost of the
workers’ compensation premium. The Company funds the workers’ compensation premium based on standard premium rates on a monthly basis and based on the gross payroll
applicable to workers covered by the policy. Any final adjustments to the premiums are based on the final audited exposure multiplied by the applicable rates, classifications,
experience modifications and any other associated rating criteria.
 
With regard to the prior programs, which continue until fully concluded, the Company’s estimate of incurred claim costs expected to be paid within one year is included in
short-term liabilities, while its estimate of incurred claim costs expected to be paid beyond one year is included in long-term liabilities on its consolidated balance sheets. As of
August 31, 2023 and August 31, 2022, the Company had short-term accrued workers’ compensation costs of $1.2 million and $0.6 million, and long-term accrued workers’
compensation costs of $0 million and $1.2 million, respectively.
 
The Company retained workers’ compensation asset reserves and workers’ compensation related liabilities for former WSEs of clients transferred to Shiftable HR Acquisition,
LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of Vensure Employer Services, Inc. (“Vensure”), in connection with the Vensure Asset Sale described in Note 3, Discontinued Operations,
below. As of August 31, 2023, the workers’ compensation assets and liabilities are presented as a discontinued operations net asset or liability. As of August 31, 2023, and
August 31, 2022, the Company had $4.4 million and $1.4 million in short-term liabilities, and $0 million and $3.3 million in long-term liabilities, respectively. The Company
had no related long-term assets as of August 31, 2023 and as of August 31, 2022, respectively.
 
Because the Company bears the financial responsibility for claims up to the level noted above, such claims, which are the primary component of its workers’ compensation
costs, are recorded in the period incurred. Workers’ compensation insurance includes ongoing health care and indemnity coverage whereby claims are paid over numerous years
following the date of injury. Accordingly, the accrual of related incurred costs in each reporting period includes estimates, which take into account the ongoing development of
claims and therefore require a significant level of judgment. In estimating ultimate loss rates, the Company utilizes historical loss experience, exposure data, and actuarial
judgment, together with a range of inputs that are primarily based upon the WSE’s job responsibilities, their location, the historical frequency and severity of workers’
compensation claims, and an estimate of future cost trends. For each reporting period, changes in the actuarial assumptions resulting from changes in actual claims experience
and other trends are incorporated into the Company’s workers’ compensation claims cost estimates. The estimated incurred claims are based upon: (i) the level of claims
processed during each quarter; (ii) estimated completion rates based upon recent claim development patterns under the plan; and (iii) the number of participants in the plan.
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The Company has had very limited and immaterial COVID-19 related claims between March 2020 through the date of this Annual Report, although there is a possibility of
additional workers’ compensation claims being made by furloughed WSEs as a result of the employment downturn caused by the pandemic. On May 4, 2020, the State of
California indicated that workers who become ill with COVID-19 would have a potential claim against workers’ compensation insurance for their illnesses. There is a
possibility that additional workers’ compensation claims could be made by employees required to work by their employers during the COVID-19 pandemic, which could have a
material impact on the Company’s workers’ compensation liability estimates. While the Company has not seen significant additional expenses as a result of any such potential
claims to date, which would include claims for reporting periods after August 31 2023, we continue to monitor closely all workers’ compensation claims made in relation to the
COVID-19 pandemic.
 
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
 
Accounting Standard Codification “ASC” 820, Fair Value Measurement, requires entities to disclose the fair value of financial instruments, both assets and liabilities
recognized and not recognized on the balance sheet, for which it is practical to estimate fair value. ASC 820 defines fair value of a financial instrument as the amount at which
the instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties. As of August 31, 2023 and August 31, 2022, the carrying value of certain financial
instruments (cash, accounts receivable and payable) approximated fair value due to the short-term nature of the instruments. Notes Receivable is valued at the Company’s
estimate of expected collections value as described below, See Note 3, Discontinued Operations.
 
The Company measures fair value under a framework that utilizes a hierarchy prioritizing the inputs to relevant valuation techniques. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to
unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurements). The
three levels of inputs used in measuring fair value are:
 

  · Level 1: Inputs to the valuation methodology are unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets that the Company has the ability to
access.

     
  · Level 2: Inputs to the valuation methodology include
 
  · Quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets
     
  · Quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in inactive markets
     
  · Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability
     
  · Inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data by correlation or other means; and
     
  · If the asset or liability has a specified (contractual) term, the Level 2 input must be observable for substantially the full term of the asset or liability
 
  · Level 3: Inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable and significant to the fair value measurement
 
Funds held in Trust Account represent U.S. treasury bills that was restricted for use and may only be used for purposes of completing an IBC or redemption of the public shares
of common stock of the SPACs as set forth in their respective trust agreements. The funds held in trust are included within Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy and included in
cash and marketable securities held in Trust Account in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. The Trustee distributed all the funds in the Trust Account to the
shareholders of IHC on December 1, 2022.
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When the Company changes its valuation inputs for measuring financial assets and liabilities at fair value, either due to changes in current market conditions or other factors, it
could be required to transfer those assets or liabilities to another level in the hierarchy based on the new inputs used. The Company recognizes these transfers at the end of the
reporting period that the transfers occur. The development and determination of the unobservable inputs for Level 3 fair value measurements and the fair value calculations are
the responsibility of the Company’s chief financial officer and are approved by the chief executive officer. There were no transfers out of Level 3 for the years ended August 31,
2023 and August 31, 2022.
 
Level 1 assets consisted of cash and marketable securities (only for August 31, 2022) as of August 31, 2023, and August 31, 2022, respectively.  The Company did not have any
Level 2 or 3 assets or liabilities as of August 31, 2023, or August 31, 2022.
 
The Company has recorded approximately $1.0 million charge for an impairment expense for the year ended August 31, 2023 for its fixed assets. The Company asses the
impairment charge based upon Level 3 Inputs to the valuation methodology.
 
Below is non-recurring fair measurement, based upon significant unobservable inputs as of August 31, 2023.
 
    Fair Value at Reporting Data Using  
          Quoted Prices     Significant        
          in Active Market    Other Observable    Significant  
          for Identical     Observable     Unobservable  

    Total    
Assets

(Level 1)    
Inputs

(Level 2)    
Inputs

(Level 3)  

As of August 31, 2023                                
Fixed assets   $ 1,622,000    $ -    $ -    $ 1,622,000 
 
Advertising Costs
 
The Company expenses all advertising as incurred. Advertising expense for the year August 31, 2023 and August 31, 2022 was $2.3 million and $2.6 million, respectively.
Adverting expense includes salaries and external costs.
 
Income Taxes
 
The Company accounts for income taxes pursuant to ASC 740, Income Taxes. Under ASC 740, deferred income taxes are provided on a liability method whereby deferred tax
assets are recognized for deductible temporary differences and operating loss carryforwards and deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary differences.
Temporary differences are the differences between the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance
when, in the opinion of management, it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The provision for income taxes represents
the tax expense for the period, if any, and the change during the period in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are adjusted for the effects of
changes in tax laws and rates on the date of enactment. ASC 740 also provides criteria for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of uncertain tax positions.
Under ASC 740, the impact of an uncertain tax position on the income tax return may only be recognized at the largest amount that is more-likely-than-not to be sustained upon
audit by the relevant taxing authority. A full valuation allowance was recorded as of August 31, 2023, and August 31, 2022, respectively.
 
Stock-Based Compensation
 
The Company has one stock-based compensation plan under which the Company may issue awards, as described in Note 10, Stock Based Compensation, below. The Company
accounts for the Plan under the recognition and measurement principles of ASC 718, Compensation-Stock Compensation, which requires all stock-based payments to
employees, including grants of employee stock options, to be recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Operations at their fair values.
 
The grant date fair value is determined using the Black-Scholes-Merton (“Black-Scholes”) pricing model. For all employee stock options, the Company recognizes expense on
an accelerated basis over the employee’s requisite service period (generally the vesting period of the equity grant).
 
The Company’s option pricing model requires the input of highly subjective assumptions, including the expected stock price volatility and expected term. The expected
volatility is based on the historical volatility of the Company’s common stock since the Company’s initial public offering. Any changes in these highly subjective assumptions
significantly impact stock-based compensation expense.
 
The Company elects to account for forfeitures as they occur. As such, compensation cost previously recognized for an unvested award that is forfeited because of the failure to
satisfy a service condition is revised in the period of forfeiture.
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Net Loss Per Share
 
Basic net loss per common share is computed by dividing net loss attributable to common shareholders by the weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding
during the reporting period. Diluted net loss per share is computed similar to basic loss per share except that the denominator is increased to include additional common stock
equivalents available upon exercise of stock options, warrants, shares of common stock to be issued to directors for services provided and the option for preferred stock Class
Option using the treasury stock method. Dilutive common stock equivalents include the dilutive effect of in-the-money stock equivalents, which are calculated based on the
average share price for each period using the treasury stock method, excluding any common stock equivalents if their effect would be anti-dilutive and conditional option for
Preferred Stock Series A that is convertible into common stock. In periods in which a net loss has been incurred, all potentially dilutive common stock shares are considered
anti-dilutive and thus are excluded from the calculation.
 
The number used for the weighted average number of shares of common stock included convertible preferred shares series A for the year ended August 31, 2022 and
conditional preferred option  for the year ended August 31, 2023. These securities are convertible to common stock on a one for one basis to common stock without any
restrictions and considered common stock since the exercise price is par value.
 
The following potentially dilutive securities were not included in the calculation of diluted net loss per share attributable to common shareholder of ShiftPixy, Inx. Because
their effect would be antidilutive for the
periods presented: 
 

   

For the Year
Ended

August 31,
2023

   

For the Year
Ended

August 31,
2022

 

Options     417      490 
Shares to be issued for services to the board of directors     1,208       - 
Warrants     138,309      21,783 

Total potentially dilutive shares     139,934      22,272 
   
The conditional preferred  options were excluded from the potentially dilutive shares in the table above since they are included in the weighted average outstanding share count
for the basic earnings per share calculation. For the table above, “Options” represent all options granted under the Company’s 2017 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan (the
“Plan”), as described in Note 10, Stock Based Compensation, below. The number of options and warrants have been presented retroactively for the one-for-twenty-four (1:24)
reverse stock split, which was effective October 14, 2023, before the issuance of the financial statements.
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Recently Adopted Accounting Standards
 
In June 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board “FASB” issued ASU 2016-13, “Financial Instruments-Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on
Financial Instruments” (“ASU 2016-13”). This standard requires an impairment model (known as the current expected credit loss (“CECL”) model) that is based on expected
losses rather than incurred losses. Under the new guidance, each reporting entity should estimate an allowance for expected credit losses, which is intended to result in more
timely recognition of losses. This model replaces multiple existing impairment models in current. GAAP, which generally requires a loss to be incurred before it is recognized.
The new standard applies to trade receivables arising from revenue transactions such as contract assets and accounts receivable. Under ASC 606, revenue is recognized when,
among other criteria, it is probable that an entity will collect the consideration it is entitled to when goods or services are transferred to a client. When trade receivables are
recorded, they become subject to the CECL model and estimates of expected credit losses on trade receivables over their contractual life will be required to be recorded at
inception based on historical information, current conditions, and reasonable and supportable forecasts. On September 1, 2022, the Company adopted this guidance, and it was
not material to the results of operations.
 
Variable Interest Entity
 
The Company has been involved in the formation of various entities considered to be Variable Interest Entities (“VIEs”). The Company evaluates the consolidation of these
entities as required pursuant to ASC Topic 810 relating to the consolidation of VIEs. These VIEs are SPACs.
 
The Company’s determination of whether it is the primary beneficiary of a VIE is based in part on an assessment of whether or not the Company and its related parties are
exposed to the majority of the risks and rewards of the entity. Typically, the Company is entitled to substantially all or a portion of the economics of these VIEs. The Company
is the primary beneficiary of the VIE entities.
 
Through November 30, 2022, only one of the four SPAC companies existed, See Note 4 Special Purpose Acquisition Company Sponsorship that has more information
regarding the remaining SPAC company. There are no SPAC companies as of February 7, 2023.
 
In connection with the IPO in October 2021, the Company purchased, through its wholly owned subsidiary, ShiftPixy Investments, Inc. (“Investments” or the “Sponsor”),
4,639,102 private placement warrants (“Placement Warrants”) at a price of $1.00 per warrant, for an aggregate purchase price of $4.6 million, and the Company currently
own 2,110,000 Founder Shares of IHC common stock, representing approximately 15% of the issued and outstanding common stock of IHC. Before the closing of the IPO, the
Sponsor transferred 15,000 Founder Shares to IHC’s independent directors, reducing its shareholdings from 2,125,000 to 2,110,000. Each Placement Warrant was identical to
the warrants sold in the IPO, except as described in the IPO registration statement and prospectus. Following the completion of IHC’s IPO, the Company determined that IHC
was a VIE in which the Company had a variable interest because IHC did not have enough equity at risk to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial
support. The Company had also determined that IHC’s public stockholders did not have substantive rights, and their equity interest constitutes temporary equity, outside of
permanent equity, in accordance with ASC 480-10-S99-3A, at such time. As such, the Company concluded that they were the primary beneficiary of IHC as a VIE, as the
Company had the right to receive benefits or the obligation to absorb losses of the entity, as well as the power to direct a majority of the activities that significantly impact
IHC’s economic performance. Since the Company was the primary beneficiary, IHC to be consolidated into the Company’ Consolidated Financial Statements through February
7, 2023. See Note 4, for the dissolution of IHC and entire amount from the Trust Account to IHC shareholders on December 1, 2022. As of December 1, 2021, the Company
determined that IHC was not a VIE. The Company did not have the power to direct the operations of IHC since IHC was dissolved on November 14, 2022, and the assets of the
Trust Account were distributed to its shareholders on December 1, 2022. The Company lost its voting rights, and there is no possibility of recouping its investment. As a result,
the Company determined that IHC will not be consolidated into the Consolidated Financial Statements as of December 1, 2022, See Note 4 regarding three of IHC creditors
forcing them into bankruptcy. As a result of the deconsolidation of the VIE on February 7, 2023, the Company recorded the elimination of $9.4 million of the non-controlling
interest to additional paid-in capital as it was originally recorded. The net liabilities of IHC were $0.6 million as of February 7, 2023, that resulted in the Company recording
$0.6 million to other income and $0.5 million to non-controlling or, 85% of its non- ownership interest in IHC.
 
Subject to Possible Redemption
 
The Company previously accounts for its common stock holdings in its sponsored special purpose acquisition corporations “SPACs” (which were consolidated in the
Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements through February 7, 2023, which was previously subject to possible redemption in accordance with the guidance in ASC Topic
480 “Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity.” Shares of common stock subject to mandatory redemption are classified as a liability instrument and are measured at fair value.
Conditionally redeemable shares of common stock were classified as a current liability since the shares were redeemed as of August 31, 2022. Each sponsored SPAC’s shares of
common stock feature certain redemption rights that are considered to be outside of the SPAC’s control and subject to occurrence of uncertain future events. However, since the
common stock subject to redemption were paid to IHC shareholders on December 1. 2022, the fair market value as of August 31, 2022, was classified as a current liability. The
Company has recorded increases or decreases in the carrying amount of the redeemable common stock are affected by charges against additional paid in-capital and
accumulated deficit.
 
Reclassification
 
The Company reclassified certain expenses to conform to the current year's presentation, for accrued penalty and interest to payroll tax related liabilities, which was included on
the accompanying consolidated balances sheets. In addition for the consolidated statements of operations, penalties and interest expense was included with salaries, wages and
payroll taxes which was previously included in general and administrative expenses. For the year ended August 31, 2022, the reserve for uncollectible purchase price
adjustment note receivable was reclassified to general and administrative expenses.   
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Note 3 – Discontinued Operations
 
On January 3, 2020, the Company entered into an asset purchase agreement with Shiftable HR Acquisition, LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of Vensure, pursuant which was
the assigned client contracts was significant to its revenues for the three months ended November 30, 2019, including 100% of the Company’s existing professional employer
organization or PEO business. In connection with this transaction, the Company had a Note Receivable to be paid over four years.
 
The Company recorded the Note Receivable based on the Company’s estimate of expected collections which, in turn, was based on additional information obtained through
discussions with Vensure and evaluation of the Company’s records. On March 12, 2021, the Company received correspondence from Vensure proposing approximately $10.7
million of working capital adjustments under the terms of the Vensure Asset Sale agreement which, if accepted, would have had the effect of eliminating any sums owed to the
Company under the Note Receivable. As indicated in the reconciliation table below, the Company had recorded $2.6 million of working capital adjustments, subject to final
review and acceptance, and has provided an additional reserve of $2.9 million for potential claims. By letter dated April 6, 2021, the Company disputed Vensure’s proposed
adjustments and maintains that the amount Vensure owes the Company pursuant to the Note receivable is as much as $9.5 million. The Company assessed the collectability of
this note receivable during the reporting of its Fiscal Year End as of August 31, 2022, and determined that it was probable that all contractually required payments will not be
collected and recorded a reserve on collectability of approximately $4 million. The matter is discussed per Note  15 Contingencies, Vensure Litigation. In addition, on
November 15, 2023, the Company won an arbitration case for $2.5 million, and the Company received $2.5 million on November 22, 2023. This is considered a gain
contingency, and the Company will record a gain during the three months ended November 2023, see Note 16 Subsequent Events.
   
The following reconciliation of the gross proceeds to the net proceeds and the Note Receivable from the Vensure Asset Sale is presented in the Consolidated Balance sheets as
of August 31, 2023 and August 31, 2022
 
Gross proceeds   $ 19,166,000 
Cash received at closing – asset sale     (9,500,000)
Cash received at closing – working capital     (166,000)
Gross note receivable   $ 9,500,000 
Less:  Transaction reconciliation – estimated working capital adjustment     (2,604,000)
Adjusted note receivable     6,896,000 
Less: reserve for estimated potential claims     (2,892,000)
Less: reserve for uncollectable purchase price note receivable     (4,004,000)
Note receivable   $ — 
 
As discussed above, the Company was fully reserved for the note due to purchase price disputes and deemed the note receivable net realizable value was zero as of August 31,
2023 and August 31, 2022, respectively.
 
The Company expected a minimal tax impact from the Vensure Asset Sale as it utilized its net operating losses accumulated since inception to offset the gain resulting from
discontinued operations tax provision with a corresponding offset to the valuation allowance.
 
The Vensure Asset Sale met the criteria of discontinued operations set forth in ASC 205 and as such the Company has reclassified its discontinued operations for all periods
presented and has excluded the results of its discontinued operations from continuing operations for all periods presented.
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 The carrying amounts of the classes of assets and liabilities from the Vensure Asset Sale included in discontinued operations are as follows:
 

   
August 31,

2023    
August 31,

2022  

Deposits – workers’ compensation   $ —    $ — 
Total current assets     —      — 

Deposits – workers’ compensation     —      — 
Total assets   $ —    $ — 

                 
Accrued workers’ compensation cost   $ 1,303,000    $ 1,362,000 

Total current liabilities     1,303,000      1,362,000 
Accrued workers’ compensation cost     3,068,000      3,269,000 

Total liabilities     4,389,000      4,631,000 
                 
Net liability   $ (4,389,000)   $ (4,631,000)
 
Reported results for the discontinued operations for the year ended August 31,2023 and August 31, 2022 were as follows:
 
     For the Years Ended  

   
August 31,

2023    
August 31,

2022  

Revenues   $ —    $ — 
Cost of revenue     606,000      590,000 
Gross profit     (606,000)     (590,000)
                 
Operating expenses:                

Settlement gain     (848,000)     — 
Total operating expenses     (848,000)     — 

                 
Net income (loss) from discontinued operations   $ 242,000    $ (590,000)

    
During the years ended August 31, 2023 and August 31, 2022, the Company recorded net income (loss) loss from discontinued operations of $0.2 million and $0.6 million,
which has been fully reserved for income tax. The components of income tax expense (benefit) for discontinued operations are as follows:
 

   
For the Years Ended

August 31,  

    2023     2022  
Income expense tax (benefit)            
     Federal tax expense (benefit)   $ 47,000   $ (114,000)

State tax expense (benefit)     17,000      (45,000)
Total tax expense (benefit)     64,000     (159,000)
Loss carryforwards     (64,000)     159,000 

Income tax expense from discontinued operations   $ —    $ — 
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Note 4: Special Purpose Acquisition Company (“SPAC”) Sponsorship
   
IHC closed on its IPO effective October 2021, and its net proceeds of $116.7 million, the funds were placed in a trust account (the “Trust Account”) and was invested in U.S.
government securities. The Company owned approximately 15% of its issued and outstanding stock. Furthermore, we anticipated that IHC would operate as a separately
managed, publicly traded entity following the completion of its IPO. The operations of IHC have been consolidated in the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements
through November 30, 2022.
 
On October 14, 2022, the stockholders of IHC approved the proposed action to file an amended and restated certificate of incorporation to extend the date by which the
Company has to consummate a Business Combination from October 22, 2022, to April 22, 2023, or a such earlier date as determined by the board of directors. The Company
accordingly filed the Amendment with the Secretary of State of Delaware. In connection with the meeting, however, shareholders holding 270,032,328 Public Shares exercised
their right to redeem their shares for a pro rata portion of the funds in the Trust Account, leaving 5,967,672 of the Company’s remaining Public Shares outstanding and the Trust
Account substantially below the $5 million minimum net tangible asset amount required by IHC’s Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation to be available upon
consummation of such Business Combination. IHC’s efforts to secure the decisions of some shareholders to reverse their redemptions were unsuccessful, and IHC accordingly
declined to fund the extension, cancelled the Amendment as filed with the Secretary of State of Delaware, and proceeded to cease operations, dissolve and unwind. The board
of directors of IHC accordingly adopted resolutions to liquidate, dissolve and unwind the entity. IHC was dissolved on November 14, 2022, and the Trustee released all the
redemption funds from the Trust Account to IHC shareholders on December 1, 2022, effectively liquidating the Trust. The Class A common shares subject to redemption were,
however, classified as a current liability as of August 31, 2022 and through November 30, 2022. In view of the actions taken in November and December of 2022, the Company
has concluded that as of February 7, 2023, the operations of IHC shall not be included in the Company’s consolidation as IHC did not meet the criteria of a VIE. A net liability
of $0.6 million was recorded to other income, and $0.5 million was recorded for the non-controlling interest, applicable to the 85% interest that the Company did not own of
IHC.
 
On February 7, 2023, three creditors of IHC filed an involuntary petition for liquidation under Chapter 7 against IHC in the US Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of
Florida. The matter is proceeding, and the Company and its subsidiary, ShiftPixy Investments, Inc., are listed as two significant creditors of IHC. However, there can be no
assurance that either the Company or ShiftPixy Investments, Inc. will recover any of the amounts owed to them by IHC from the bankruptcy estate.
 
Note 5: Accounts Receivable, Unbilled Receivable and Advanced Payments
 
The Company’s accounts receivable represents outstanding gross billings to clients, net of an allowance for estimated credit losses. The Company in some instances may
require our clients to prefund payroll and related liabilities before payroll is processed or due for payment. If a client fails to fund payroll or misses the funding cut-off, at our
sole discretion, ShiftPixy may pay the payroll and the resulting amounts due to us are recognized as accounts receivable. When client payment is received in advance of our
performance under the contract, such amount is recorded as client deposits. We establish an allowance for credit losses based on the credit quality of clients, current economic
conditions, the age of the accounts receivable balances, historical experience, and other factors that may affect clients’ ability to pay, and charge-off amounts against the
allowance when they are deemed uncollectible. The allowance for doubtful accounts was $0.2 million and $0 as of August 31, 2023 and August 31, 2022, respectively.
 
The Company recognized unbilled revenue when work site employee payroll and payroll tax liabilities in the period in which the WSEs perform work. When clients'' pay
periods cross reporting periods, we accrue the portion of the unpaid WSE payroll where we assume, under state regulations, the obligation for the payment of wages and the
corresponding payroll tax liabilities associated with the work performed prior to period-end. These estimated payroll and payroll tax liabilities are recorded in accrued wages.
The associated receivables, including estimated revenues, offset by advance collections from clients and an allowance for credit losses, are recorded as unbilled revenue. As of
August 31, 2023 and August 31, 2022, advance collections included in unbilled revenue were $1.8 million and $2.1million, respectively.
 
The Company receives advanced payments from customers prior to a payment that their invoice. The Company records this as a liability and the amount as of August 31, 2023
and August 31, 2022 $0.2 million and $0, respectively.
 
Note 6: Fixed Assets
 
Fixed assets consisted of the following as of August 31, 2023, and August 31, 2022
 

   
August 31,

2023    
August 31,

2022  

Equipment   $ 2,182,000    $ 2,700,000 
Furniture & fixtures     614,000      614,000 
Leasehold improvements     604,000      710,000 
      3,400,000      4,024,000 
Accumulated depreciation & amortization     (1,778,000)     (1,255,000)
Fixed assets, net   $ 1,622,000    $ 2,769,000 
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Depreciation and amortization expense for the years ended August 31, 2023 and August 31, 2022 was $0.5 million and $0.5 million respectively.
 
The Company recorded an impairment expense related to its fixed assets of $1.0 million and $0 for the years ended August 31, 2023 and August 31, 2022, respectively and
reduced equipment and accumulated depreciation and amortization.
 
Software consists primarily of customized software purchased from third-party providers, which is incorporated into the Company’s HRIS platform and related mobile
applications.
 
The Company has evaluated certain development costs of its software solution in accordance with ASC Topic 350-40, Internal Use Software, which outlines the stages of
computer software development and specifies when capitalization of costs is required. Projects that are determined to be in the development stage are capitalized and amortized
over their useful lives of five years. Projects that are determined to be within the preliminary stage are expensed as incurred. For the years ending August 31, 2023 and August
31, 2022, no internally developed software was capitalized.
 
Note 7: Workers’ Compensation
 
In prior years, the Company had three workers’ compensation programs in effect at various points. The Everest program covered corporate employees and WSEs from July 1,
2017 through June 30, 2018 and the SUNZ program covered corporate employees and WSEs from July 1, 2018 through February 28, 2021.  
 
During Fiscal 2021, the Company made a strategic decision to change its approach to securing workers’ compensation coverage for our clients. This was primarily due to
rapidly increasing loss development factors stemming in part from the COVID-19 pandemic. The combination of increased claims from WSEs, the inability of WSEs to obtain
employment quickly and return to work after injury claims and increasing loss development factor rates from our insurance and reinsurance carriers resulted in significantly
larger potential loss exposures, claims payments, and additional expense accruals. Any final adjustments to the premiums are based on the final audited exposure multiplied by
the applicable rates, classifications, experience modifications and any other associated rating criteria Starting on January 1, 2021, we began to migrate our clients to our new
direct cost program, which we believe significantly limits our claims exposure. Effective March 1, 2021, all of our clients had migrated to the direct cost program. 
 
The Company is currently engaged in litigation regarding for additional premium payments from additional claims loss funds from Sunz, as discussed at Note 15
Contingencies, and Sunz Litigation, below.
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Note 8: Payroll Tax And Related Liabilities
 
Accrued payroll liabilities consisted of the following as of August 31, 2023, and August 31, 2022:
 

   
August 31,

2022    
August 31,

2022  

Payroll taxes liabilities   $ 22,840,000    $ 12,932,000 
Payroll related liabilities     237,000      346,000 
Accrued penalties and interest     6,518,000      897,000 
Total   $ 29,595,000    $ 14,175,000 
   
Payroll tax liabilities and payroll tax accrual are associated with the Company’s WSEs as well as its corporate employees. The Company has recorded approximately $6.5
million and $0.9 million in interest and penalties on approximately $22.8 million and $12.9 million on delinquent outstanding payroll taxes to the IRS and states and local
authorities. In addition, the has received notices from the IRS has for approximately $11.8 million for unpaid tax liabilities including penalties and interest. The IRS can levy
the Company’s bank accounts and is subject to enforcement collections. ShiftPixy has requested for a collection due process or equivalent hearing, that are subject to enforced
collection.  ShiftPixy has also filed for an abatement of additions to tax and related interest for the failure to make required deposits and the failure to timely pay required tax
that are subject to enforced collection.  That request is pending before the IRS Independent Office of Appeals.
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Note 9: Stockholders’ Deficit
 
Preferred Stock Series A
 
On October 22, 2021, the Company’s board of directors canceled  491,250  Preferred Options previously issued to its co-founder, J. Stephen Holmes. As noted in Note
15, Contingencies, the trustee of the bankruptcy estate of Mr. Holmes is now asserting rights to these preferred options. Were the trustee to be successful in its claim, the
Company would be obligated to issue up to  520,833  restricted shares of the Company's  common stock to the trustee, which issuance would materially dilute the share
ownership of the existing shareholders and could cause a material decline in the price per share of the Company's common stock. A total of Preferred Options, in excess of the
options claimed by the trustee of the bankruptcy estate of Mr. Holmes and issued pursuant to the September 2016 grant and triggered by the Vensure Asset Sale remain
unexercised. The Preferred Options expire on December 31, 2023, see Note 15, Contingencies and Note 16, Subsequent Events. The Company has made an informal
arrangement to conclude this matter. The Company has accrued $550,000 as of August 31, 2023, which is included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities in the accompany
balance sheets to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
 
On July 14, 2022, the Board of the Company approved the issuance to the Company’s founder and principal shareholder, Scott Absher, of 520,833 shares of the Company’s
preferred Series A stock .par value $0.0001 per share, in exchange for (a) the surrender by Mr. Absher of his options to acquire 520,833 Preferred Shares, which Preferred
Options provide for exercise upon certain triggering events as described above, and as detailed in the Company's prior filings, and (b) the tender of payment by Mr. Absher of
the sum of $5,000, representing four times the par value for such Preferred Shares. The Company evaluated the Preferred Shares on the same date using Level 2 inputs based on
the closing market price of the Company’s common stock. The resulting allocated common share price was then discounted for a lack of marketability of shares, which yielded
a fair value of $5.57 per preferred share Series A. The Company used the following assumptions to value the expense related to the preferred shares series A: (i) life of 10 years;
(ii) risk free rate of 3.1%; (iii) volatility of 125.7%; (iv) exercise price of $0.0001 per share; and (v) a fair value of $0.3 per share of the Company’s common stock. These were
recorded as compensation expense in the general and administrative expenses during the fiscal year August 31, 2022.
 
On August 12, 2022, the Company entered into an agreement with Mr. Absher whereby he waived claims to certain unpaid compensation due to him through July 31, 2022,
totaling $0.8 million, in exchange for an option to receive 170,833 shares of the Company's preferred stock series A. The Company evaluated the preferred shares series A on
the same date using Level 2 inputs based on the closing market price of the Company’s common stock. The resulting allocated common share price was then discounted for a
lack of marketability of shares, which yielded a fair value of $0.2025 per Preferred Share. The Company used the following assumptions to value the expense related to the
Preferred Shares: (i) life of 10 years; (ii) risk free rate of 3.0%; (iii) volatility of 125.7%; (iv) exercise price of $0.0001 per share; and (v) a fair value of $0.23 per share of the
Company’s common stock. Pursuant to Rule 144, 170,833, when converted into shares of common stock, are subject to a six-month holding period during which they may not
be sold in the marketplace. All of the 358,333 preferred shares were converted into common stock on September 1, 2022, after the Company's reverse stock split had taken
effect. As of November 30, 2022, there were no preferred shares options or preferred shares outstanding. As a result of this transaction, the Company recorded a preferential
dividend of $127.1 million based upon the incremental value of the stock that was held prior to the reverse stock split and the date of preferred stock conversion to common
stock. In addition, this had no effect on stockholders' deficit. Resulting in a reduction of the net loss available to common shareholders in the Company’s basic net loss per share
calculation.
 
Prior to the shareholder vote to approve the reverse stock split, the Company on August 2, 2022, amended its Articles of Incorporation to state that only the common stock is
affected if the reverse stock split is effectuated with no intention to affect the preferred series A stock of the company. The reverse stock split was subsequently approved by the
shareholders, and effectively the terms and conditions of the preferred stock were “deemed modified” and treated as an extinguishment (in accordance with ASC 470-50 and
ASC 260-10-S99-2 for the disproportionate value received (the carrying compared to the fair value received).
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On September 1, 2022, Mr. Absher converted 358,333 preferred shares series A to 358,333 shares of the Company’s common stock. Pursuant to Rule 144, these 358,333 shares
of common stock are subject to a six-month holding period during which they may not be sold in the marketplace. All of the 358,333 preferred shares series A were converted
into common shares on September 1, 2022, after the Company's reverse stock split had taken effect. Accordingly, no preferred stock series A shares are issued and outstanding
as of August 31, 2023. As noted in Note 15 Contingencies, however, the trustee of the bankruptcy estate of Mr. Holmes is now asserting rights to preferred options and has
attempted to convert preferred options into shares of preferred series A stock. On December 8. 2023, the Company reached a settlement for $550,000 and the Company has
accrued this in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of August 31, 2023, see Subsequent Events, Note 16.
 
On August 21, 2023, holders of an aggregate of 358,672 (representing 70.7%) of the Company’s outstanding shares of common stock, approved by written consent (a) a 1-for-
24 (or such other ratio as may be determined by the Board) reverse split of the Company’s common stock, and, separately, (b) the Company’s grant to the its founder and CEO
of the Option Agreement providing to him  a conditional right to receive 4,744,234 shares of the Company’s preferred stock series A. This was approved by the shareholders.
 
On August 22, 2023, the Company entered into an agreement (the “Option Agreement”) with the Company’s founder and CEO, Mr. Absher, providing for the conditional
issuance to him of a right to receive 4,744,234 shares of the Company’s preferred stock series A. The Company used the following assumptions to value the expense related to
the preferred shares of series A: (i) life of 1.1years; (ii) risk free rate of 5.57%; (iii) volatility of 186.168%; (iv) exercise price of $0.0001 per share; and (v) market price of
$0.66 per share common (based upon the Company’s traded stock price) (vi) a fair value of $0.65999 per share of the Company’s common stock. The Company recorded $3.1
million as stock-based compensation expense that is included general and administrative expenses for the year ending August 31, 2023, in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations. See Note 16, Subsequent Events for the issuance of 4,744,234 shares to Mr. Absher. on October 17, 2023, and the Company will be recording  a preferential
dividend on preferred series A of $67.4 million will be recorded. This has no impact on Stockholders’ Deficit.
 
Common Stock and Warrants
 
On September 23, 2022, the Company entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) with a large institutional investor (the “Purchaser”) pursuant
to which the Company sold to the Purchaser an aggregate of 17,361 shares of its common stock together with warrants (the “Warrants”) to purchase up to 34,772 shares of
common stock (collectively, the “Offering”). Each share of common stock and two accompanying Warrants were sold together at a combined offering price of $288.00. The
Warrants are exercisable for a period of seven years commencing upon issuance at an exercise price of $288.00, subject to adjustment. The private placement closed on
September 23, 2022. The net proceeds to the Company from the Offering were $4.4 million.
 
In connection with the Purchase Agreement, the Company and the Purchaser entered into Amendment No. 1 to Warrants (the “Warrant Amendment”). Pursuant to the Warrant
Amendment, the exercise price of (i) 1,051 warrants issued on September 3, 2021, and (ii) 4,124 warrants issued on January 28, 2022, was reduced to $0.01. As a result of the
warrant modification due to the change in the exercise price, the Company recorded an expense of $0.1 million for the year ended August 31, 2023. The incremental change in
the fair market values was based upon the Black- Scholes option pricing model with the following inputs. The risk free interest of 3.7%, expected volatility of 149.4%, dividend
yield of 0% and expected term of 6.7 to 6.8 years.
 
A.G.P./Alliance Global Partners (the “Placement Agent” or "AGP") acted as the exclusive placement agent in connection with the Offering pursuant to the terms of a Placement
Agent Agreement, dated September 20, 2022, between the Company and the Placement Agent (the “Placement Agent Agreement”). Pursuant to the Placement Agent
Agreement, the Company paid the Placement Agent a fee equal to 7.0% of the aggregate gross proceeds from the Offering. In addition to the cash fee, the Company issued to
the Placement Agent warrants to purchase up to  868  shares of common stock (5% of the number of shares sold in the Offering (the “Placement Agent Warrants”). The
Placement Agent Warrants are exercisable for a period commencing six months from issuance, will expire four years from the effectiveness of a registration statement for the
resale of the underlying shares, and have an initial exercise price of $316.80 per share.
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On January 31, 2023, the Company filed a S-3 registration statement on Form S-3 for $100 million for the sale of up to $100 million of equity securities over a three-year
period. The SEC declared the S-3 effective on February 2, 2023. There is a limitation on the amount of funds that the Company can access under the baby shelf rules which is
the value of a company’s public float if less than $75 million, The Company can only raise ⅓ of its float value over the previous 12-month period.
 
On January 31, 2023, the Company entered into an ATM Issuance Sales Agreement which was a part of the registration statement on Form S-3 and prospectus supplement. The
at the market offering was for up to $8.2 million in shares of its common stock, could be sold from time to time and at various prices at the Company’s sole control, subject to
the conditions and limitations in the sales agreement with AGP. For the year ended August 31, 2023, the Company received  net proceeds  of  $1.9  million from the sale
of 18,305 shares of the Company’s common stock, respectively. On May 22, 2023, the Company terminated the ATM.
 
On July 12, 2023, the Company priced a best-efforts public offering for the sale by the Company of an aggregate of  48,612  shares of common stock,  37,500  pre-funded
warrants, and  86,112  common warrants. The public offering price was $36.00  per share and accompanying common warrant, or $35.999  per pre-funded warrant and
accompanying common warrant. The pre-funded warrants were exercised for par value, or $0.0001.  The common warrants are exercisable immediately for a term of five years
and have an exercise price of $36.00 per share. 48,612 common shares, 37,500 pre-funded warrants and 86,112 common warrants under the offering were sold pursuant to a
securities purchase agreement with an investor. A.G.P./Alliance Global Partners acted as placement agent for the offering. The net proceeds from this offering were $2.7
million. The offering closed on July 14, 2023. Effective upon closing of the offering, the exercise price of outstanding warrants the Company issued to an investor in 2020 and
2022 was reduced to $36.00 per share, subject to further adjustment as provided in the warrants, pursuant to a warrant amendment the Company entered into with the investor.
The change in the exercise price results in a non-cash warrant modification expense for the year ended August 31, 2023, of $0.2 million.
 
In September 2021, the Company entered into a $12 million private placement transaction, inclusive of $0.9 million of placement agent fees and costs, with a large institutional
investor pursuant to which the Company sold to the investor an aggregate of (i) 1,188   shares of common stock, together with warrants (the “September 2021 common
warrants”) to purchase up to  1,188 shares of common stock, with each September 2021 common warrant exercisable for one share of common stock at a price per share of
$3,828.00, and (ii) 1,947 prefunded warrants (the “September 2021 Prefunded Warrants”), together with the September 2021 common warrants to purchase up to 3,135 shares
of common stock, with each September 2021 prefunded warrant exercisable for one share of common stock at a price per share at par value or $0.00001. Each share of common
stock and accompanying September 2021 common warrant were sold together at a combined offering price of $3,828.00 and each September 2021 prefunded warrant and
accompanying September 2021 common warrant were sold together at a combined offering price of $3,827.76.
 
On May 17, 2021, the Company issued warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of  2,062 shares of our common stock, with an exercise price of $5,820.00  "the "existing
warrants"). The existing warrants were immediately exercisable and expire on June 15, 2026. On January 26, 2022, we entered into a warrant exercise agreement ("the exercise
agreement") with the holder of the existing Warrants "the "Exercising Holder"). Pursuant to the Exercise Agreement, the Exercising Holder and the Company agreed that,
subject to any applicable beneficial ownership limitations, the Exercising Holder would cash exercise up to 2,062 of its existing warrants "the "investor warrants") into shares
of our common stock underlying such existing warrants "the "exercised shares"). To induce the exercising holder to exercise the investor warrants, the exercise agreement (i)
amended the investor warrants to reduce their exercise price per share to $2,880.00.and (ii) provided for the issuance of a new warrant to purchase up to approximately 4,164
shares of the Company’s common stock (the “January 2022 common warrant”), with such January 2022 common warrant being issued on the basis of two January 2022
common warrant shares for each share of the existing warrant that was exercised for cash. The January 2022 common warrant is exercisable commencing on July 28, 2022,
terminates on July 28, 2027, and has an exercise price per share of $3,077.00. The exercise agreement generated aggregate proceeds to the Company of approximately $5.9
million, prior to the deduction of $0.5 million of costs consisting of placement agent commissions and offering expenses payable by the Company. The Company expects to
engage in additional sales of its securities during Fiscal 2024, either through registered public offerings or private placements, the proceeds of which the Company intends to
use to fund its operations. If these sources do not provide the capital necessary to fund the Company’s operations during the next twelve months, it may need to curtail certain
aspects of its operations or expansion activities, consider the sale of additional assets at distressed prices, or consider other means of financing. The Company is also seeking
acquisition targets for growth, a recurring revenue base, significant gross profit conversion, margin expansion opportunities, a light industrial sector focus, a blue-chip client
base, cyclical tailwinds, and a tenured management team willing and able to execute a comprehensive integration plan. The Company can give no assurance that it will be
successful in implementing its business plan and obtaining financing on advantageous terms, or that any such additional financing will be available. If the Company is not
successful in obtaining the necessary financing, we do not currently have the cash resources to meet our operating commitments for the next twelve months. The accompanying
Consolidated Financial Statements do not include any adjustments for this uncertainty.
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January 2022 Warrant Exercise Agreement
 
On May 17, 2021, the Company issued warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 2,062 shares of our common stock, par value $0.0001 with an exercise price of $5,820.00
(the “existing warrants”). The existing warrants were immediately exercisable and expire on June 15, 2026.  On January 26, 2022, we entered into a warrant exercise agreement
(“the exercise agreement”) with the holder of the existing warrants (the “exercising holder”). Pursuant to the exercise agreement, the exercise holder and the Company agreed
that, subject to any applicable beneficial ownership limitations, the Exercising Holder would cash exercise up to 49,485 of its existing warrants (the “investor warrants”) into
shares of our common stock (the “exercised shares”). To induce the exercising holder to exercise the Investor warrants, the exercise Agreement (i)  amended the Investor
Warrants to reduce their exercise price per share to $2,880.00 and (ii) provided for the issuance of a new warrant to purchase up to an aggregate of approximately 4,124 shares
of our common stock (the “January 2022 common warrant”), with such January 2022 Common Warrant being issued on the basis of two January 2022 Common Warrant shares
for each share of the Existing Warrant that was exercised for cash. The January 2022 common warrant is exercisable commencing on July 28, 2022, terminates on July 28,
2027, and has an exercise price per share of $3,720.00. The Exercise Agreement generated net proceeds for the Company of approximately $       million. As a result of the
warrant modification, which reduced the exercise price of the existing warrants, as well as the issuance of the January 2022 common warrants, the Company recorded
approximately (i) $0.6 million for the increased fair value of the modified warrants; and (ii) $12.6 million as the fair value of the January 2022 common warrants on the date of
issuance.   The Company recorded approximately $5.5 million as issuance costs that offset the $5.5 million of additional paid-in capital the Company received for the cash
exercise of the Existing Warrants at the reduced exercise price, while the remaining $7.7 million was recorded as a deemed dividend on the Consolidated Statements of
Operations, resulting in a reduction of loss to common shareholders in the Company’s basic earnings per share calculation. The Company accounts for the warrants as equity-
classified.
 
July 19, 2022, Warrant Exercise Agreement
 
On July 18, 2022, the Company entered into a warrant exercise agreement (the “exercise Agreement”) with the holder of the September 2021 Warrants and January 2022
Warrants (the “exercising holder”). Pursuant to the exercise agreement, the exercising holder and the Company agreed that the exercising holder would exercise for cash
$2.083.00 of its September 2021 Warrants (the “Investor Warrants”). In order to induce the Exercising Holder to exercise the investor warrants, the exercise agreement (i)
amends the September 2021 Warrants and January 2022 Warrants to (a) reduce the exercise price per share of the September 2021 Warrants and January 2022 Warrants to
$624.00, (b) extends the expiration date of the September 2021 Warrants to May 3, 2029, and (c) extends the expiration date of the January 2022 warrants to July 28, 2029 and
(ii) provides for the issuance by the Company to the Exercising Holder of new warrants to purchase up to 348,408 shares of common stock (the “new warrants”) (equal to 200%
of the sum of the September 2021 warrants and January 2022 warrants). The new warrants are exercisable for a period of seven years commencing upon issuance and have an
exercise price per share of $624.00. On July 25, 2022, the Company entered into an amendment with the holder of the Company’s warrants to purchase 348,408 shares of
common stock, issued July 19, 2022. Pursuant to the amendment, the warrants were amended to be exercisable commencing January 19, 2023 (six months from the date of
issuance) and will terminate January 19, 2030.
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As a result of the warrant modification, which reduced the exercise price of the existing warrants, as well as the issuance of the July 2022 Common Warrants, the Company
recorded approximately (i) $488,700 and $599,700 for the increased fair value of the September 2021 and January 2022 modified warrants, respectively; and (ii) $8 million as
the fair value of the July 2022 Common Warrants on the date of issuance.  The Company recorded approximately $0.1 million in paid cost and $1.2 million as issuance costs
that offset the $0.1 million of additional paid-in capital the Company received for the cash exercise of the existing warrants at the reduced exercise price, while the remaining
$8.0 million was recorded as a deemed dividend on the Consolidated Statements of Operations, resulting in a reduction of loss available to common shareholders in the
Company’s basic net loss per share calculation. The Company accounts for the warrants as equity-classified.
 
Common Stock and Warrants             
 
During the year ending August 31, 2022, the Company issued the following securities pursuant to the transactions described above:
 

  · 1,188 shares of common stock, prefunded warrants to purchase 1,947 shares of common stocks and warrants to purchase 3,355 common stock pursuant to the
September 2021 PIPE.

     
  · 29,062 shares of common stock and warrants to purchase 4,124 shares of common stock pursuant to the January 2022 Warrant Exercise Agreement.
     
  · 50,000 shares of common stock and warrants to purchase 348,408 common stock in connection with the July 19 2022 Warrant Exercise Agreement.
     
  · 2,083 preferred stock series converted into 3,333 shares of the Company’s common stock, par value $0.0001 per share.
 
commencing six months from issuance, will expire four years from the effectiveness of a registration statement for the resale of the underlying shares, and have an initial
exercise price of $316.80 per share.
      
 

F-27



Table of Contents
     

The following table summarizes the changes in the Company’s issued and outstanding common stock and prefunded warrants from August 31 2022 to August 31,
2023:
 

    Number
of

shares

   

Weighted
average

remaining
life

(years)

   
Weighted
average
exercise
price $

 

Warrants outstanding, August 31, 2021     4,006      4.4    $ 9,216.00 
Issued     23,880      7.6      1,992.00 
Cancelled     (1)     —      662,400.00 
Exercised     (6,102)     5.2      — 
Warrants outstanding, August 31, 2022     21,783      7.2      1139.76 
Issued     159,201      5.4      29.05 
Cancelled     (5,175)     —      3,741.94 
Exercised     (37,500)     0      — 
Warrants outstanding, August 31, 2023, and exercisable     138,309      5.6    $ 208.78 
 
The following tables summarize the Company’s issued and outstanding warrants outstanding as of August 31, 2023:
 

   
Warrants

Outstanding

   

Weighted
Average Life of

Outstanding
Warrants
(In years)

   
Exercise

Price

 

July 2023 Common Warrants     86,611      4.9    $ 36.00 
September 2022 Common Warrants (Note 10)     34,772      6.1      36.00 
September 2022 Underwriter Warrants     868      3.6      316.80 
July 2022 Common Warrants (Note 10)     14,517      6.9      36.00 
Sep 2021Underwriter Warrants     157      5.7      4,210.80 
May 2021Underwriter Warrants     103      2.7      5,820.00 
October 2020 Common Warrants (1)     750      2.1      7920.00 
October 2020 Underwriter Warrants     208      2.1      36.00 
May 2020 Common Warrants     83      2.1      7960.00 
May 2020 Underwriter Warrants     532      1.7      12,960.00 
March 2020 Exchange Warrants     46      1.7      12,960.00 
Amended March 2019 Warrants     28      0.5      96,000.00 
March 2019 Services Warrants     1      0.5      168,000.00 
June 2018 Warrants     3      0.3      239,040.00 
June 2018 Services Warrants     2      0.3      239,040.00 
 Total     138,309      9.6    $ 208.78 
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Note 10: Stock Based Compensation
 
Employee Stock Option Plan
 
In March  2017, the Company adopted its 2017 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan (the “Plan”). The Plan provides incentives to eligible employees, officers, directors and
consultants in the form of incentive stock options (“ISOs”), non-qualified stock options (“NQs”), (each of which is exercisable into shares of common stock) (collectively,
“Options”) or shares of common stock (“Share Grants”).
 
On March 6, 2023, the shareholders approved an increase in the number of shares of common stock issuable under the Plan from 1,250 to 31,250. Under the terms of the Plan,
options granted prior to July 1, 2020, each option has a term of service vesting provision over a period of time as follows: 25% vest after a 12-month service period following
the award, with the balance vesting in equal monthly installments over the succeeding 36 months. Options granted on or after July 1, 2020, typically vest over four years, with
25% of the grant vesting one year from the grant date, and the remainer in equal quarterly installments over the succeeding 12 quarters. All options granted to date have a stated
ten-year term.
 
Stock grants are issued at fair value, considered to be the market price on the grant date. The fair value of option awards is estimated on the grant date using the Black-Scholes
stock option pricing model, which uses certain assumptions related to risk-free interest rates, expected volatility, expected life of the stock options and future dividends.
 
The Company elected to account for forfeitures under the Plan as they occur. Any compensation cost previously recognized for an unvested award that is forfeited because of a
failure to satisfy a service condition is reversed in the period of the forfeiture.
 
As of August 31, 2023, there are 30,833 shares available under the Plan.
 
The Company recognized approximately $1.0 million and $1.3 million. of stock-based compensation expense that is recorded in general and administrative expenses in the
Statement of Operations, for the year ended August 31, 2023 and August 31, 2022, respectively. This excludes stock-compensation recorded of $3.1 million  for the ended
August 31, 2023 for the issuance of the preferred option grant to the Company’s CEO, see Note 9, Stockholders Deficit.
 
The Company compensates its board members through grants of common stock for services performed. These services have been accrued within the accounts payable and other
accrued liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets. The Company has incurred $0.2 million and $0.2 million for the years ended August 31, 2023 and August 31, 2022,
respectively. The amount accrued as of August 31, 2023 and August 2022 was $0.7 million and $0.6 million, respectively. See Note 11 Related Parties.  
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The following table summarizes the Company’s option activity from August 31, 2021, through August 31, 2023:
 
    Options Outstanding and Exercisable  

    Number
of

Options

   

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Life

   
Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price

 

          (In years)        
Balance, August 31, 2021     740      8.9    $ 15,672.00 
Granted     58      9.8      2,520.00 
Exercised     —      —      — 
Forfeited     (309)     8.4      10,896.00 
Balance, August 31, 2022     490      8.1      17592.00 
Granted     —      —      — 
Exercised     —      —      — 
Forfeited     (73)     —      454.00 
Balance as of August 31, 2023 expected to vest     417      7.0    $ 19,528.80 
Balance as of August 31, 2023, exercisable     315      7.1    $ 21,483.64 
 
As of August 31, 2023, the total unrecognized deferred share-based compensation of $0.8 million expected to be recognized over the remaining weighted average vesting
periods of 1.9 years. There was no intrinsic value for outstanding as of August 31, 2023.
 
The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding and vested as of August 31, 2023:
 
    Options Outstanding     Options Vested  

Exercise Prices

  Number
of Options

Outstanding

    Number
of Options
Exercisable

   

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Life

   
Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price $

    Number
of

Options

   
Weighted

Remaining
Contractual

Life

   
Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price $

 

                (In years)                 (In years)        
$  1,200  - $  24,000     402      300      7.0      10,874.65      300      7.3      11,045.45 
$ 24,001 - $  96,000     1      1      5.7      45,480.00      17      5.7      45,480.00 
$ 96,001 -  $192,000     5      5      5.5      122,911.62      5      5.7      122,911.62 
$192,001 - $288,000     4      4      4.6      247,167.74      4      5.5      247,167.74 
$288,001 –$384,000     5      5      3.81      374,024.83      5      4.6      374,024.83 

      417      315      7.0      19,528.80      315      7.1      21,483.64 
   

The number of options and exercise prices have been presented retroactively, see Subsequent Events, Note 16 for reverse stock split. 
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Note 11: Related Parties
 
Director Compensation
 
Scott Absher
 
On October 22, 2021, our Board approved raising Mr. Absher’s annual salary to $1M, effective January 1, 2022, and also approved the payment of a $0.5 million bonus to Mr.
Absher, 50% of which was payable upon Board approval, and the remainder of which was payable on January 1, 2022. As of August 31, 2022, Mr. Absher received payment of
50% of his bonus, or $0.3 million, in March 2022. Furthermore, as discussed in Note 5, Stockholders’ Deficit on August 12, 2022, the Company entered into an agreement with
Mr. Absher whereby he waived claims to certain unpaid compensation due to him through July 31, 2022, totaling $0.8 million, in exchange for an option to receive $4.1 million
of the Company preferred stock series A shares. The agreement settled, the deferred payment of his incremental base salary, his outstanding personal time off or PTO as of July
31, 2022, and the remaining 50% of his approved bonus. As of January 1, 2023, Mr. Absher’s salary was adjusted back to the level applicable prior to the time of the adjustment
effective January 1, 2022. Mr. Absher salary for the years ended August 31, 2023 and August 31, 2022 was $0.9 million and $0.8 million, respectively. The Company has
accrued for his salary as of August 31, 2023 and August 31, 2022 which was $0.4 million and $0, respectively.
 
Amanda Murphy
 
On February 10, 2020, Amanda Murphy was appointed to our Board. Ms. Murphy was our Director of Operations at the time of her appointment. Ms. Murphy received salary
compensation of $0.5 million $0.3 million for the years ended August 31, 2023, and August 31, 2022, respectively. As of August 31, 2022, Ms. Murphy has deferred payment
related to her salary increase of approximately $0.2 million and $0.2 million as of August 31, 2023, and August 31, 2022, respectively.  The deferred payment salary is recorded
in the accrued liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. As of January 1, 2023, Ms. Murphy’s salary was adjusted back to the level applicable prior to the time of the
adjustment effective January 1, 2022.
 
Related Persons to Scott Absher
 
Mark Absher, the brother of Scott Absher, was hired by the Company as Deputy General Counsel – Special Projects, for an annual salary for the years ended August 31, 2023,
and August 31, 2022 of $0.2 million and $0.2 million, respectively. Mr. Absher resigned on October 13, 2023.
 
David May, a member of our business development team, is the son-in-law of Mr. Absher. Mr. May’s compensation for the years ended August 31, 2023, and August 31, 2022
of $0.2 million and $0.2 million, respectively.
 
Phil Eastvold, the Executive Producer of ShiftPixy Productions, Inc., is the son-in-law of Mr. Absher. Mr. Eastvold received compensation for the years ended August 31, 2023,
and August 31, 2022 was $0.2 million and $0.2 million, respectively.
 
Jason Absher, a member of the Company’s business development team, is the nephew of Scott Absher and the son of Mark Absher. Mr. Absher’s compensation for the years
ended August 31, 2023 and August 31, 2022 was $0.1 million $0.1 million, respectively,
 
Connie Absher, (the spouse of Scott Absher), Elizabeth Eastvold, (the daughter of Scott and Connie Absher and spouse of Mr. Eastvold), and Hannah Woods, (the daughter of
Scott and Connie Absher), are also employed by the Company. These individuals, as a group, received compensation for the years ended August 31, 2023 and August 31, 2022
was $0.2 million and $0.2 million, respectively.
 
 The Company has accrued stock-based compensation related to shares of common stock to be issued for services provided by three directors. Stock-based compensation
expense for the years ended August 31, 2023 and August 31, 2022, was $0.2 million and $0.2 million, respectively. The Company has agreements with three directors to receive
shares of common stock valued at $0.1 million per year. No shares of common stock have been issued as of August 31, 2023 and August 31, 2023, respectively. As of August
31, 2023 and August 31, 2022, there are 1,208 and 0 shares of common stock to be issued to directors, respectively. The Chair of the Audit Committee resigned in July 2023.
 
As of August 31, 2023 and August 31, 2022, the Company has accrued $0.7 million and $0.6 million, respectively for stock-compensation related to shares to be issued for
services to certain directors.
 
The amount due to the Board of Directors that is included in accounts payable is $0.3 million and $0.2 million, respectively.
 
Company related to Scott Absher
 
Scott Absher, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer is a shareholder in Quelliv. Quelliv seeks to provide a non-invasive, alternative approach to wellness using laser
biomodulation / LLLT, activating the body’s restorative and regenerative processes.  Quelliv is a client of ShiftPixy, Inc.  ShiftPixy, Inc. has earned administration fee for the
years ended August 31, 2023 and August 31, 2022 of $28,000  and $38,000 respectively, In connection with unreimbursed incurred on behalf of Quelliv, the nature of expenses
were software development, information technology, marketing, branding, payroll, professional and miscellaneous expenses, the amount for the years ended August 31, 2023
and August 31, 2022 were $0.5 million and $1.0 million, respectively. 
 
  
Note 12 Accounts Payable and Other Accrued Liabilities
 
Accounts payable and other accrued liabilities as of August 31, 2023 and August 31, 2022 consists of the following:
 

   
 August 31,

2023    
 August 31,

2022  

Accounts payable     6,500,000      8,566,000 
Contingent lease liability     3,761,000      3,761,000 
Right-of-use liability     900,000      754,000 
Legal settlement     1,660,000      - 
Shares owed to directors for services     800,000      606,000 
ERTC owed to clients     1,089,000      417,000 
Financed insurance policies     457,000      - 
Other     1,525,000      2,121,000 
      16,692,000      16,225,000 
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Note 13: Income Taxes
 
Current income taxes are based upon the year’s income taxable for federal and state tax reporting purposes. Deferred income taxes (benefits) are provided for certain income
and expenses, which are recognized in different periods for tax and financial reporting purposes.
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are computed for differences between the financial statements and tax bases of assets and liabilities that will result in taxable or deductible
amounts in the future based on enacted tax laws and rates applicable to the period in which the differences are expected to affect taxable income. The Company’s deferred
income taxes arise from the temporary differences between financial statement and income tax recognition of net operating losses. These loss carryovers would be limited under
the Internal Revenue Code should a significant change in ownership occur within a three-year period.
 
Significant components of the net deferred tax assets as reflected on the consolidated balance sheets are as follows:
 
    August 31,  
    2023     2022  
Deferred tax assets:                
Net operating loss carryforward   $  30,936,000    $  26,069,000 
Business interest     3,349,000      2,942,000 
Other accruals     1,347,000      896,000 
Workers’ compensation accruals     1,487,000      1,734,000 
Stock-based compensation     60,000      135,000 
ASC 842 Lease liability     742,000      31,000 
Other     1,000      4,000 
Total deferred tax assets     37,922,000      31,811,000 
Valuation allowance     (37,575,000)     (31,224,000)
Total net deferred tax assets   347,000    587,000 
Deferred tax liabilities:                
Fixed assets and intangible assets      (347,000)       (587,000) 
Total deferred tax liabilities       (347,000)       (587,000) 
Net deferred tax assets   $ —    $ — 
  
Income tax expense (benefit) from continuing operations consists of the following:
 

   
For the Years Ended

August 31,  

    2023     2022  
Current            

Federal   $ —    $ — 
State     13,000      (38,000)

Total current     13,000      (38,000)
Deferred                

Federal     (4,774,000)     (6,177,000)
State     (1,715,000)     (2,476,000)

Total deferred     (6,489,000)     (8,653,000)
Change in valuation allowance     6,489,000      8,653,000 
Income tax expense (benefit)   $ 13,000   $ (38,000)
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The reconciliation of the statutory federal rate to the Company’s effective income tax rate is as follows:
 

   
August 31,

2023    
August 31,

2022  

Federal statutory rate (21%)   $ (7,164,000)   $ (9,124,000)
Inducement loss     68,000      917,000 
Non-deductible penalties and other permanent differences     1,813,000      1,227,000 
State and local income taxes, net of federal benefit     (1,420,000)     (1,983,000)
Redetermination of prior year taxes     227,000      272,000 
Change in valuation allowance     6,489,000      8,653,000 
Income tax (benefit) from continuing operations   $ 13,000    $ (38,000)
  
The Company’s continuing practice is to recognize interest and/or penalties related to income tax matters in income tax expense. As of August 31, 2023, and August 31, 2022,
the Company had no accrued interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions.
 
The deferred tax assets primarily comprise net operating loss carryforwards and other net temporary deductible differences such as stock-based compensation, deferred rent,
depreciation, payroll taxes and workers’ compensation accrual. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during
the periods in which those temporary differences become deductible. Management considers the scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities, the projected future taxable
income and tax planning strategies in making this assessment. Based on management’s analysis, they concluded that it was more likely than not that the deferred tax asset
would not be realized. Therefore, the Company established a full valuation allowance against the deferred tax assets. The change in the valuation allowance as of August 31,
2023, and August 31, 2022 was approximately $6.5  million and $8.7 million, respectively.
 
As of August 31, 2023, the Company had cumulative federal net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards of approximately $111.8 million which begin to expire in 2035 and state
net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $119.1 million The Company’s net operating losses may be limited by the provisions of IRC Section 382, for which the
Company has not performed an analysis of the potential limitations. These limitations will be imposed when the Company attains taxable income against which the NOL will
be utilized. As of August 31, 2023, of approximately $101.2 million which have an indefinite life but are limited to 80% of taxable income when used. As explained above, the
Company has determined that it is more likely than not that the Company’s deferred tax assets related to NOL Carryforwards will not be utilized.
 
 On March 27, 2020, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (“CARES Act”) was enacted in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. The CARES Act, among
other things, permits NOL carryovers and carrybacks to offset 100% of taxable income for taxable years beginning before 2021. In addition, the CARES Act allows NOLs
incurred in 2018, 2019, and 2020 to be carried back to each of the five preceding taxable years to generate a refund of previously paid income taxes. The Company’ evaluated
the impact of the CARES Act and determined that there was no material effect.
 
The Company is subject to taxation in the U.S. The tax years for 2018 and forward are subject to examination by tax authorities. The Company is not currently under
examination by any tax authority.
 
Management has evaluated tax positions in accordance with FASB ASC 740, and has not identified any tax positions, other than those discussed above, that require disclosure.
The Company does not expect a material change to this assessment over the 12 months following August 31, 2023.
 
In August 2022 the United States enacted tax legislation through the Inflation Reduction Act (IRA). The IRA introduces a 15% corporate alternative minimum tax (CAMT) for
corporations whose average annual adjusted financial statement income (AFSI) for any consecutive three-tax-year period ending after December 31, 2021, and preceding the
tax year exceeds $1 billion. The CAMT is effective for tax years beginning after December 31, 2022. The CAMT is currently not applicable to the Company.
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Note 14: Commitments
 
Operating Leases and License Agreements
 
Effective August 13, 2020, the Company entered into a non-cancelable seven-year lease for office space located in Miami, Florida, to house its principal executive offices
commencing October 2020, and continuing through September 2027. The lease contains escalation clauses relating to increases in real property taxes as well as certain
maintenance costs. The monthly rent expense under this lease is approximately $57,000. The Company has not made payments under the lease agreement since June 2022, see
Note 15 Contingencies related to the legal case with the litigation with the landlord, Courvoisier Centre. The Company has accrued a contingent liability of $3.7 million as of
August 31, 2023, and August 31, 2022, respectively that is include in account payable and other accrued liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. In addition, ShiftPixy
recorded an impairment expense of $3.7 million for the right of use asset for the year ended August 31, 2022.
 
On October 1, 2020, the Company entered into a non-cancelable 64-month lease for industrial space located in Miami, Florida, to house ghost kitchens, production facilities,
and certain marketing and technical functions, including those associated with ShiftPixy Labs. The lease contained escalation clauses relating to increases in real property taxes
as well as certain maintenance costs. The monthly rent expense under this lease is approximately $35,000. The Company relocated its corporate office due to the litigation
noted above.
 
On June 7, 2021, the Company entered into a non-cancelable sublease agreement with Verifone, Inc. to sublease premises consisting of approximately 8,000 square feet of
office space located in Miami, Florida, that the Company anticipated using for its sales and operations workforce. The lease has a term of three years expiring on May 31, 2024.
The base rent is paid monthly and escalates annually pursuant to a schedule set forth in the sublease. The monthly rent expense under this lease is approximately $27,000.
 
On June 21, 2021, the Company entered into a non-cancelable 77-month lease for premises for office space located in Sunrise, Florida, that the Company anticipates using
primarily to house its operations personnel and other elements of its workforce. The Company took possession of the lease on August 1, 2022. The base rent is paid monthly
and escalates annually pursuant to a schedule set forth in the lease. The monthly rent expense under this lease is approximately $27,000. During the fourth quarter of 2023, the
Company stopped paying the lease and abandoned this property. The Company is obligated to pay its lease obligation. ShiftPixy recorded an impairment expense of $1.5
million for the remaining value of the right of use asset.
 
On May 2, 2022, the Company entered into a non-cancelable 60-month operating lease, as constituted in an amendment to a prior lease, commencing on July 1, 2022, for office
space in Irvine, California, which the Company anticipates using primarily for its IT, operations personnel, and other elements of its workforce. The base rent is paid monthly
and escalates annually according to a schedule outlined in the lease. The monthly rent expense under this lease is approximately $24,000. As an incentive, the landlord provided
a rent abatement of 50% of the monthly rent for the first four months, with a right of recapture in the event of default. During the fourth quarter of 2023, the Company stopped
paying the lease and abandoned this property. The Company is obligated to pay its lease obligation. ShiftPixy recorded an impairment expense of $1.0 million for the remaining
value of the right of use asset.
 
On August 31, 2022, the Company decided to formally abandon the leases for its offices in the Courvoisier Center, including a sublease on the second floor with Verifone. The
determination was based on its inability to utilize the premises as they were under extensive construction renovation by the landlord, resulting in a significant negative impact
on the Company’s ability to conduct business and the health and well-being of the Company’s employees and guests. The Company formally notified the landlord of its
intention to vacate the premises and has not been legally released from the Company's primary obligations under the leases. The Company received a formal complaint from the
landlord, and the matter is in litigation. The Company intends to vigorously defend the lawsuit and counterclaim for relocation costs, see Note 15, Contingencies. As a result of
the abandonment, the Company evaluated the  right of-use  asset for impairment as of August 31, 2022, and recorded an impairment charge of $3.8  million, within the
impairment loss line item for the year ended. Furthermore, the Company released the corresponding lease liability and evaluated the need for a loss contingency in accordance
with ASC 450, recording a contingent liability of $3.8 million, included within accrued liabilities of the consolidated balance sheets as of August 31, 2023, and August 31,
2022, respectively.
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The components of lease expense are as follows:
 

   
August 31,

2023    
August 31,

2022  

Operating lease cost   $ 1,081,000    $ 1,363,000 
  
Future minimum lease and licensing payments under non-cancelable operating leases as of August 31, 2022, are as follows:
 

   
Minimum lease
commitments  

2024   $ 1,056,000 
2024     1,090,000 
2026     823,000 
2027     643,000 
2028     378,000 
Thereafter     130,000 
Total minimum payments   4,120,000 
Less: present value discount     455,000 
Lease Liability   $ 3,655,000 
         
Weighted-average remaining lease term - operating leases (months)     58 
Weighted-average discount rate     5.54%
 
The current portion of the operating lease liability is included within our accounts payable and other accrued liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
 
In connection with the abandonment of the leases, the Company applied part of its security deposit to it the amount owed to its landlord. The remaining amount is not
recoupable and the Company recorded an impairment expense of approximately $0.4 million.  
 
 SPAC Sponsorship
 
On April 29, 2021, the Company announced its sponsorship, through a wholly owned subsidiary, of four SPAC IPOs.  The Company purchased founder shares in each SPAC,
through its wholly owned subsidiary, for an aggregate purchase price of $25,000 per SPAC. The number of Founder Shares issued was determined based on the expectation that
such Founder Shares would represent 20% of the outstanding shares of each SPAC after its IPO (excluding the private placement warrants described below and their underlying
securities).
 
The registration statement and prospectus covering the IPO of one of these SPACs, IHC, was declared effective by the SEC on October 19, 2021, and IHC units (the “IHC
Units”), consisting of one share of common stock and an accompanying warrant to purchase one share of IHC common stock, began trading on the NYSE on October 20,
2021.  The IHC IPO closed on October 22, 2021, raising gross proceeds for IHC of $115 million.  In connection with the IHC IPO, the Company purchased, through its wholly
owned subsidiary, 4,639,102 placement warrants at a price of $1.00 per warrant, for an aggregate purchase price of $4,639,102. The Company also anticipates purchasing
private placement warrants in each of the three other SPACs it is sponsoring, at a price of $1.00 per warrant, for an aggregate of $17,531,408 (or up to $18,656,408 if the over-
allotment option of each SPAC is exercised in full), which includes the Company’s investment in Founder Shares and assumes that all four SPAC IPOs are consummated and
the pricing terms of each other SPAC IPO is identical to the pricing of the IHC IPO.  Each private placement warrant is exercisable to purchase one whole share of common
stock in each SPAC at $11.50 per share. The private placement warrants of each SPAC will be worthless to the extent that they do not complete an initial business combination.
 
The investment amounts set forth above do not include loans that the Company may extend to each SPAC in an amount not to exceed $500,000 individually (or $2 million in
the aggregate), in its role as sponsor.  As of October 31, 2021, the Company had advanced, through its wholly owned subsidiary, an aggregate of approximately $820,000 to the
SPACs for payment of various expenses in connection with the SPAC IPOs, principally consisting of SEC registration, legal and auditing fees. With the IHC SPAC liquidation
the Company impaired approximately $0.4 million in outstanding loans that are considered uncollectible.  The effect of this impairment had been eliminated as part of the IHC
consolidation. 
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Note 15: Contingencies  
 
Certain conditions may exist as of the date the financial statements are issued, which may result in a loss to the Company, but which will be resolved only when one or more
future events occur or fail to occur. The Company’s management assesses such contingent liabilities, and such assessment inherently involves an exercise of judgment.
 
Legal
 
During the ordinary course of business, the Company is subject to various claims and litigation. Management believes that after consulting legal counsel the outcome of such
claims or litigation will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position, results of operations or cash flow.
 
Splond Litigation
 
On April 8, 2019, claimant, Corey Splond, filed a class action lawsuit, on behalf of himself and other similarly situated individuals in the Eighth Judicial District Court for the
State of Nevada, Clark County, naming the Company and its client as defendants, and alleging violations of certain wage and hour laws. The Company denies any liability.
Discovery is proceeding in the case, and no trial date has been set. Even if the plaintiff ultimately prevails, the potential damages recoverable will depend substantially upon
whether the Court determines in the future that this lawsuit may appropriately be maintained as a class action. Further, in the event that the Court ultimately enters a judgment
in favor of the plaintiff, the Company believes that it would be contractually entitled to be indemnified by its client against at least a portion of any damage award. As of
October 27, 2023, the parties settled the claim, with ShiftPixy agreeing to pay $1,000 per month for 10 months beginning December 1, 2023. The Company accrued for this
settlement as of August 31, 2023.
 
Everest Litigation
 
On December 18, 2020, the Company was served with a Complaint filed in the United States District Court for the Central District of California by its former workers’
compensation insurance carrier, Everest National Insurance Company. The Complaint asserts claims for breach of contract, alleging that the Company owes certain premium
payments to plaintiff under a retrospective rated policy, and seeks damages of approximately $0.6 million, which demand has since increased to approximately $1.6 million. On
February 5, 2021, the Company filed an Answer to Plaintiff’s Complaint denying its claims for relief, and also filed a crossclaim against the third-party claims administrator,
Gallagher Bassett Services, Inc., for claims sounding in breach of contract and negligence based upon its administration of claims arising under the policy. By order dated April
7, 2021, the Court dismissed the Company’s complaint against Gallagher Bassett without prejudice to re-filing in another forum. On May 17, 2021, the Company refiled its
complaint against Gallagher Basset in the Circuit Court of Cook County, Illinois. Everest subsequently filed a complaint against Gallagher Bassett in New Jersey. Discovery
proceeded in the cases, and the California Court set a trial date in the Everest case of August 8, 2023, while no trial date has been set in either of the related Illinois or New
Jersey cases, which are in preliminary stages. Mediation in the matter was conducted on December 14, 2022, and the matter was kept open until further notice as the parties
endeavored to settle the case. On or about June 28, 2023, the Company entered into a confidential settlement agreement with Everest National Insurance Company and
Gallagher Bassett, resolving the litigation amongst the parties. The Company recorded a gain from this this settlement, see Note 8 Discounted Operations.
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Sunz Litigation
 
On March 19, 2021, the Company was served with a Complaint filed in the Circuit Court for the 11th Judicial Circuit, Manatee County, Florida, by its former workers’
compensation insurance carrier, Sunz Insurance Solutions, LLC. The Complaint asserts claims for breach of contract, alleging that the Company owes payments for loss reserve
funds totaling approximately $10 million, which represents approximately 200% of the amount of incurred and unpaid claims. The Company denies the plaintiff’s allegations
and is defending the lawsuit vigorously. On May 12, 2021, the Company filed a motion to dismiss the complaint, and Sunz filed an amended complaint in response. Discovery
is proceeding in the matter and no trial date has been set. On June 21, 2022, the Court granted Plaintiff’s partial motion for summary judgment, holding that Defendant is liable
under the contract, but further finding that the number of damages, if any, to which Plaintiff is entitled should be determined at trial. We believe that partial summary judgment
was improvidently granted, and therefore appealed the Court’s Order by filing a petition for writ of certiorari with the Court of Appeal, which appeal is now pending. On or
about November 14, 2022, a court granted Sunz’ motion for summary judgment on a contractual issue—holding that the Company waived claims regarding Sunz’ management
of claims to the extent that the Company did not complain about such management within 6 months of the alleged mismanagement of the claims. This ruling may limit the
scope of the Company’s counterclaim. Trial in the case has been set for February 2024.  The Parties have entered comprehensive negotiations for resolution of all matters, but
the Company cannot predict whether a resolution will be accomplished before the final hearing in February 2024. As of August 31, 2023 and August 31, 2022, the liability
owed to Sunz that is recorded in accrued workers compensation cost discounted operations liabilities is $5.6 million and $5.0 million, respectively.
 
Vensure Litigation
 
On September 7, 2021, Shiftable HR Acquisition, LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of Vensure, filed a complaint against the Company in the Court of Chancery of the State of
Delaware asserting claims arising from the Asset Purchase Agreement (the “APA”) governing the Vensure Asset Sale described above. The APA provided for Vensure to
purchase, through its wholly owned subsidiary, certain of the Company’s assets for total consideration of $19 million in cash, with $9.5 million to be paid at closing, and the
remainder to be paid in 48 equal monthly installments (the “Installment Sum”). The Installment Sum was subject to certain adjustments to account for various post-closing
payments made by the parties, and the APA provided for the following procedure to determine the final amount of the Installment Sum: (i) within 90 days of the effective date,
Vensure was required to provide the Company with a “Proposed Closing Statement”, which must detail any adjustments; (ii) within 30 days of its receipt of Vensure’s Proposed
Closing Statement, the Company had the right to challenge any of the proposed adjustments contained therein; and (iii) if the Company disputed Vensure’s Proposed Closing
Statement, a 30-day period ensued for the parties to attempt to resolve the dispute, with the Company entitled to examine “such books and records of [Vensure] as relate to the
specific items of dispute.”
 
Vensure resisted the Company’s repeated efforts to obtain the Proposed Closing Statement for over one year after the closing of the transaction. Finally, on March 12, 2021,
under threat of legal action by the Company, Vensure provided its Proposed Closing Statement, in which it contended for the first time that it owes nothing to the Company, and
that the Company actually owes Vensure the sum of $1.5 million. By letter dated April 6, 2021, the Company provided Vensure with its objections to the Proposed Closing
Statement, which included Vensure’s gross overstatement of payments it purportedly made on the Company’s behalf, as well as its bad faith actions in obstructing the
Company’s efforts to make these payments.
 
From April 2021 through August 2021, Vensure and the Company engaged in the “30-day negotiation period” referred to above, which was extended multiple times at
Vensure’s request to provide Vensure an opportunity to provide evidence supporting its assertions. Over the course of these negotiations, Vensure withdrew its claim for
approximately $1.5 million from the Company and acknowledged that Vensure owed ShiftPixy some portion of the Installment Fund. Nevertheless, in early September 2021,
without warning and contrary to the dispute resolution provisions of the APA, Vensure filed suit against the Company in Delaware Chancery Court for breach of contract and
declaratory judgment, seeking unspecified damages. The Company vigorously disputes and denies each of Vensure’s claims. Accordingly, on November 4, 2021, the Company
filed its Answer and Counterclaim to Vensure’s Complaint, in which it not only denied Vensure’s claims, but also asserted counterclaims for breach of contract and tortious
interference with contract. The counterclaim seeks damages from Vensure totaling approximately $9.5  million – the full amount due under the APA - plus an award of
attorneys’ fees and expenses. The case is now settled for $2.5 million, and the Company received the funds on November 22, 2023.  This resolves all claims and the case, and
all claims, will be dismissed.
 
 

F-37



Table of Contents
 
Courvoisier Centre Litigation
 
On August 24, 2022, the landlord of our former headquarters offices, Courvoisier Centre, LLC, filed a complaint against the Company in the Eleventh Judicial Circuit Court
(Miami-Dade County, Florida) alleging breach of the lease. The Company vacated the offices and ceased payments under the lease in July of 2022, after repeatedly complaining
to the landlord regarding the impact of its extensive renovations of the campus and building in which the Company's offices were situated, citing substantial impairments to the
Company's ability to conduct business as well as concerns regarding the health and well-being of the Company’s employees and guests, and the landlord’s inability and refusal
to provide any adequate relief. On or about October 10, 2022, the Company filed our answer to the complaint and the Company's counterclaim. The Company intends to
vigorously defend the lawsuit and seek recovery for its costs of relocation. Mediation is scheduled for December 21, 2023. The Company has accrued for this liability as of
August 31, 2023, and August 31, 2022 of $3.9 million.
 
Certified Tire Litigation
 
On June 29, 2020, the Company was served with a complaint filed by its former client, Certified Tire, in the Superior Court of the State of California, Orange County, naming
the Company, two of its officers, and one of its former subsidiaries as defendants. The Complaint asserts multiple causes of action, all of which stem from the former client’s
claim that the Company is obligated to reimburse it for sums it paid in settlement of a separate lawsuit brought by one of its employees pursuant to Private Attorney General Act
or PAGA. This underlying lawsuit alleged the Company's former client was responsible for multiple violations of the California Labor Code. The Company and the officers
named as defendants deny the former client’s allegations, and the Company is defending the lawsuit vigorously based primarily on the Company's belief that the alleged
violations that gave rise to the underlying lawsuit were the responsibility of Certified Tire and not the Company. Substantial discovery has taken place; trial was set for
September 5, 2023, but was moved to January 15-26, 2024. The Company’s dispositive motion for summary judgment was denied by the court because of its determination that
factual disputes exist. 
 
In Re John Stephen Holmes Bankruptcy Litigation
 
On November 8, 2022, the Chapter 7 trustee of the bankruptcy estate of John Stephen Holmes filed an action against the Company, asserting that the cancellation by the
Company of Mr. Holmes' 491, 250 preferred options on October 22, 2021, violated the automatic stay applicable to Mr. Holmes' Chapter 7 proceedings. After the Company
filed a motion to dismiss the trustee's complaint, the trustee endeavored to exercise an option 520,833 preferred shares) that had been issued in the early stages of the Company
but that was later superseded by a modified option that did not provide for convertibility of the preferred shares to common stock and which modified option was in effect at the
time that Mr. Holmes filed for bankruptcy. The trustee insists that it has a right to exercise the option for 520,833 preferred shares series A and convert the shares to common
stock, notwithstanding (a) the fact that the preferred shares were not convertible to common stock at the time Mr. Holmes filed his bankruptcy petition, (b) the lapse of more
than 3 years' time during which the trustee failed to take any action in relation to the option, (c) the connection of the option to Mr. Holmes, who now competes with and is
believed to have taken clients from the Company, (d) the intervening 1-for-100 reverse stock split and extensive corporate governance actions and (e) the negative impact that
the issuance of up to 520,833 shares would have on the Company and its shareholders. Were the trustee to be successful in its claim, the Company would be obligated to issue
up to 520,833 restricted shares of the Company's common stock to the trustee, which issuance would materially dilute the share ownership of the existing shareholders and
could cause a material decline in the price per share of the Company's common stock. The Company has asserted a number of defenses and intends to vigorously defend itself
against the claim. Another mediation in this case was set for December 8th, 2023.  The parties have come to an informal agreement to conclude this matter. Although nothing
has been finalized, the Company has accrued $550,000 for this potential settlement as of August 31, 2023 which is included accounts payable and accrued liabilities in the
accompany consolidated balance sheets to the Consolidated Financial Statements, see Subsequent Events, Note 16.
 
 
Employee Retention Tax Credit (“ERTCs”) Claims
 
The Company has filed various ERTCs claims with the IRS on behalf of its clients that have otherwise failed to obtain the related benefits afforded to them pursuant to the
filing of Form 7200—the time for the filing of which has expired. To date, the Company has received ERTCs amounting to $1.2 million and based on pending claims
submissions, it expects to receive an additional $3.9 million for a total of $4.1 million in ERTCs submitted to date. In addition, the Company anticipates filing additional
ERTCs claims as clients continue to request that the Company complete the submission thereof to the IRS. Because of the Company’s currently existing payroll tax liability, the
Company presently receives ERTCs from the IRS in the form of a credit to the Company’s outstanding payroll tax liability. The Company is not presently able to remit the
ERTCs to its clients and plans to offer its clients restricted shares of the Company’s common stock in payment of the ERTCs applicable to such clients. If a client rejects the
payment of its respective ERTCs in the form of the restricted shares of the Company’s common stock as proposed by ShiftPixy, such client may seek to enforce its rights to
recover its ERTCs by filing lawsuits against the Company.
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Capistrano Catering, Inc. v. ShiftPixy, Inc.
 
On June 13, 2022, a Complaint was filed in the Superior Court of the State of California, Orange County, Case No. 30-2022-01264583, by its former client, Capistrano
Catering, Inc., asserting claims for specific performance, breach of contract, and breach of the covenant of good faith.  Plaintiff’s complaint alleges that we violated our client
services agreement by not applying for an employee retention tax credit (“ERTC”) on behalf of Capistrano Catering pursuant to Section 3134 of the Internal Revenue Code and
seeks damages of “at least $0.5 million plus prejudgment interest thereon at the legal rate.”  The Company initially maintained that it has no legal basis to apply for the ERTC
on behalf of Plaintiff, and that the claim is therefore without merit.  However, the Company has changed its position, based on its understanding of applicable law and is now
actively offering to file for the credit on the client’s behalf. The parties have entered into a stipulation providing for the submission to the IRS by the Company of ERTC claims
on behalf of Capistrano Catering and remittance to Capistrano Catering of any credit amounts received from the IRS in response thereto by the Company.   The IRS has
announced a suspension of accepting further ERTC claims until 2024, so the Company is unable to affect the subject submission until permitted by the IRS. The Court has set a
status conference for February 15, 2024, to assess the status of the Company’s filing of ERTC claims on behalf of Capistrano Catering. The Company intends to remit to
Capistrano Catering the full amount of any credits received from the IRS, although the Company may request a reasonable fee for its processing services.  The Company has
offered to issue to plaintiff shares of ShiftPixy’s stock in payment of the ERTC in the event that ShiftPixy receives the credit from the IRS and is unable at such time to forward
the payment to plaintiff, provided, however, Capistrano Catering has not indicated whether it will accept the offer of shares, and it may insist on receiving cash in such event.
 
Foundry ASVRF Sawgrass, LLC v. ShiftPixy, Inc.
 
On or around October 16, 2023, the company received a variety of legal proceedings documents as filed in the County Court of the 17th Judicial Circuit in and for Broward
County, Florida, as case No. COWE-23-003124, arising out of the Company’s abandonment of a lease of premises at Suite 650, 13450 W. Sunrise Blvd., Sunrise, Florida
33323. Most of the Company’s $0.3 million security deposit has been applied to the cost of unpaid improvements and rent past due for the months of June, July, August and
September of 2023 (as well as unreplenished security deposit amounts for prior months).  Rent and operating costs per month was approximately $0.1 million. The lease term
continues until December 31, 2028. The Landlord has sued for eviction, replenishment of the security deposit and damages for future payments under the lease. Although the
plaintiff will claim damages equal to the full value of the lease, the Company has defenses in the nature of the plaintiff’s duty to mitigate damages by securing one or more
replacement tenants. The parties are anticipated to engage in mediation wherein the parties are expected to settle plaintiff’s claims. The Company has recorded the value the
value of its lease obligation. Given the early stage of the matter, it is too early to assess the anticipated amount to which the plaintiff will be entitled; however, the plaintiff will
likely be entitled to damages approximately equal to the amount of the monthly lease payment due times the number of months it would reasonably take the plaintiff to secure
one or more replacement tenants, plus costs associated with the preparation of the premises for such new tenant(s), plus costs associated with the brokerage fee associated with
securing the new tenant. 
 
Golden West Wings LLC v. ShiftPixy, Inc.
 
On September 21, 2022, another of ShiftPixy’s clients, including a number of affiliates, filed suit in U.S. District Court, Southern District of California (San Diego), Case No.
822CV1834ADS, asserting claims for specific performance, breach of contract, and breach of the covenant of good faith.   Plaintiff’s complaint alleges that the Company
violated its client services agreement by not applying for an employee retention tax credit ERTC on behalf of client pursuant to Section 3134 of the Internal Revenue Code and
seeks damages of at least $2.3 million plus prejudgment interest thereon at the legal rate.  The Company was served with the complaint and summons in this matter on October
21, 2022, and the Company has filed a motion to dismiss. Plaintiffs amended their complaint to allege a claim of fraud against the CEO, Scott Absher. The Company initially
maintained that it has no legal basis to apply for the ERTC on behalf of Plaintiff, and that the claim is therefore without merit.  However, the Company changed its position,
based on its understanding of applicable law and filed the ERTC claims on behalf of the client in July of 2023, and intends to remit to the client the full amount of the credit if
and as received from the IRS. Golden West Wings voluntarily dismissed their entire complaint against all Parties on November 10, 2023. 
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Other Matters
 
On June 5, 2023, ShiftPixy. received a letter (the “June 5, 2023 NASDAQ Letter”) from the staff of the Listing Qualifications Department (the “Staff”) of The Nasdaq Stock
Market LLC (“NASDAQ”), which notifies the Company that it does not presently comply with Nasdaq’s Listing Rule 5550(b)(2), which requires that the Company maintain a
Market Value of Listed Securities (“MVLS”) of $35 million, and that the Company does not otherwise satisfy the requirements of Listing Rules 5550(b)(1) or 5550(b)(3). The
Staff calculates MVLS based upon the most recent Total Shares Outstanding (TSO), multiplied by the closing bid price.
 
The June 5, 2023, Nasdaq Letter does not have any immediate effect on the listing of the Company’s common stock on the Nasdaq Capital Market, and the Company has 180
calendar days from the date of the June 5, 2023, NASDAQ Letter (the “Compliance Period”) to regain compliance. If at any time during the Compliance Period the Company’s
MVLS closes at $35 million or more for a minimum of ten (10) consecutive business days, NASDAQ will provide the Company with written confirmation of compliance, and
this matter will be closed. If the Company does not achieve compliance within the Compliance Period, it will receive written notice from NASDAQ that its securities are
subject to delisting, which is a determination that the Company could appeal to the NASDAQ Hearings Panel.
 
On August 2, 2023, ShiftPixy received a letter (the “August 2, 2023 NASDAQ  Letter”) from the staff of the Listing Qualifications Department of NASDAQ, which notifies the
Company that, in view of the recent resignation of an independent director who was a member of the Company’s audit committee, the Company does not presently comply with
NASDAQ’s Listing Rule 5605, which requires that a majority of the Company’s board of directors be comprised of independent directors, and that the Company has an audit
committee comprised of at least three independent directors, one of which “has past employment experience in finance or accounting, requisite professional certification in
accounting, or any other comparable experience or background which results in the individual’s financial sophistication, including being or having been a chief executive
officer, chief financial officer or other senior officer with financial oversight responsibilities.
 
 

F-40



Table of Contents
    
Note 16: Subsequent Events
 
On October 5, 2023, the Company,   entered into a securities purchase agreement with an institutional investor, pursuant to which the Company issued to investor (i) in a
registered direct offering, 56,250 shares of common stock of the Company at a price of $26.40 per share, and pre-funded warrants (the “Pre-Funded Warrants”) to purchase up
to 38,125 shares of Common Stock at a price of $26.40 per share and an exercise price of $0.0001 per share, and (ii) in a concurrent securities private placement, common stock
purchase warrants (the “Private Placement Warrants”), exercisable for an aggregate of up to 56,250 shares of common stock, at an exercise price of $26.40 per share. The pre-
funded warrants were exercised. The net proceeds of this offering were $2.0 million.
.
 
Effective October 14, 2023, the Company filed articles of amendment to the Company’s articles of incorporation to affect a one-for-one hundred (1:24) reverse split of the
Company’s issued and outstanding shares of Common Stock. The reverse split became effective on Nasdaq October 16, 2023. All references to common stock, warrants and
options, except for the preferred stock option granted in August 2023, to purchase common stock, including per share data and related information contained in
the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements have been retroactively adjusted to reflect the effect of the reverse stock split for all periods presented.
 
Prior to the shareholder vote to approve the reverse stock split, the Company on October 14, 2023, amended its Articles of Incorporation to state that only the common stock is
affected if the reverse stock split is effectuated with no intention to affect the Preferred Stock Series A of the company. The reverse stock split was subsequently approved by
the shareholders, and effectively the terms and conditions of the preferred stock series A were “deemed modified” and treated as an extinguishment (in accordance with ASC
470-50 and ASC 260-10-S99-2 for the disproportionate value received (the carrying value compared to the fair value received).
 
On October 17, 2023, Mr. Absher converted 4,744,234 shares of his preferred stock series A to common stock.   As a result of this transaction, the Company is expected to
record a preferential dividend of $67.4 million based upon the incremental value of the stock that was held prior to the reverse stock split and the date of preferred stock series
A conversion to common stock. In addition, this had no effect on stockholders’ deficit.
 
On November 22, 2023, the Company reached a favorable settlement with Vensure for $2.5 million. The Company received $2.5 million on November 22, 2023. On November
28, 2023, the court ruled in favor of the Company’s vendor, Ben Devs LLC for $2.0 million and the settlement and ShiftPixy paid an un upfront payment of $1.0 million on
November 30, 2023. The Company has $3.5 million in accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximately $0.6 million as of August 31, 2023, and August 31, 2022, on the
Company’s consolidated balance sheets.
 
On December 8, 2022, the Company in the legal matter related to J. Stephen Holmes, came to an understanding to settle this matter for $550,000. No formal agreement was
reached, and the Company has accrued $550,000 in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of August 31, 2023.
 
On October 14, 2023, the Company received notice of a fraud action against ShiftPixy from the bankruptcy trustee for Industrial Human Capital involving the closure of the
Industrial Human Capital SPAC.  The Company has not yet had an opportunity to evaluate the merits of the claim.
 
On December 14, 2023, the Company received a letter from the Staff notifying the Company that for the last 10 consecutive business days, from November 30 to December 13,
the Company’s market value of listed securities has been $35,000,000 or greater and accordingly, the Company meets the market value of listed securities requirement as set
forth in Listing Rule 5550(b)(2).
 
The Company has evaluated events that have occurred after the date of these Consolidated Balance Sheets though the date that the consolidated financial statements were
issued, and has determined that, other than those listed below, no such reportable subsequent events exist through the date the financial statements were issued in accordance
with FASB ASC Topic 855, “Subsequent Events.”
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosures
 
None
 
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
 
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
 
We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the Company’s reports filed under the Exchange Act is
recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to
management, including the Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer) and the Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer), to allow for timely decisions
regarding required disclosure. In designing and evaluating disclosure controls and procedures, the Company recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well
designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives, and management is required to apply its judgment in evaluating the
cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures.
 
The Company carried out an evaluation under the supervision and with the participation of management, including the Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial
Officer, of the effectiveness of its disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this Form 10-K as defined in Rule 13a -15(e) and Rule 15d -15 (e)
under the Exchange Act. Based upon that evaluation, the Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer concluded that, as of the end of period covered in this
report, disclosure controls and procedures were not effective due to material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting related to the lack of adequate finance and
accounting personnel.
 
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
 
The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Rules 13a -15(f) and
Rule 15d -15 (f) of the Exchange Act. The Company’s internal control system was designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes, in accordance with GAAP. Because of inherent limitations, a system of internal control over financial reporting
may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate due
to a change in conditions, or due to the possibility that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
 
Under the supervision and with the participation of its management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, the Company conducted an evaluation
of the effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting as of August 31, 2023, based on the framework in “Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013)” issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on its evaluation as of August 31, 2023, management concluded that internal controls over
financial reporting was not effective. The Company will be implementing further internal controls throughout Fiscal 2024, so as to fully comply with the standards set by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.
 
A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of control deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting such that there is a reasonable possibility that a
material misstatement of the Company’s annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. The material weaknesses detected relate to
the following:
 
Lack of Segregation of Duty
 
The Company’s current accounting staff is small, and the design of the Company’s internal controls has limitations for certain employee functions.  Although the Companies
has put in place, mitigating controls for this, additional procedures could be implemented in the future. The lack of sufficient personnel creates inadequate segregation of duties,
which makes the reporting process susceptible to errors, omissions, and inadequate review procedures. The Company will continue its assessment on a quarterly basis. The
Company will continue its assessment on a quarterly basis. The Company plans  to hire additional personnel and external resources to further mitigate these  material
weaknesses.
 
Penalties and Interest on Payroll Taxes
 
The Company did not properly design, implement, and consistently operate effective controls over the completeness and accuracy of its’ penalty and interest calculations
associated with outstanding payroll tax liabilities. The Company does not have a software program to track penalties and interest on its delinquent payroll taxes to the Internal
Revenue Service, states and local jurisdictions. The Company is using manual calculations to perform penalty and interest calculations which could cause errors. The Company
will seek out outside help to ensure that penalties and interest as calculated correctly in the future to mitigate this material weakness.
 
Financial Reporting
 
The Company did not properly design or maintain effective entity level monitoring controls over the financial reporting process. The Company has a small finance staff to
prepare its 10-Q and 10-K. To effectively prepare its quarterly and annual filings, the Company will evaluate experts to assist in the financial statement preparation to mitigate
this material weakness.
 
Information Technology
 
The Company did not design or maintain effective controls over its’ service organizations and IT vendors. More specifically, the company did not properly design or implement
appropriate user access controls or have controls in place to review applicable complementary user entity controls described in service organizations’ reports for their potential
impact on the Company’s financial reporting.
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Once the remediation plan for each material weakness is fully implemented, the identified material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting will be considered
fully addressed when the relevant internal controls have been in operation for a sufficient period of time for management to conclude that the material weaknesses have been
fully remediated and the internal controls over financial reporting are effective. The Company will work to design, implement and rigorously test these new controls in order to
make these final determinations.
 
This report does not include an attestation report of the Company’s registered public accounting firm regarding internal control over financial reporting. The Company’s
registered public accounting firm was not required to issue an attestation on its internal controls over financial reporting pursuant to temporary rules of the SEC. The Company
will continue to evaluate the effectiveness of internal controls and procedures on an on-going basis.
 
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
 
The Company continued to have material weaknesses in its internal control since last year. There have been new finance employees hired during the year to strengthen the
Company’s financial department. However, the finance department has limited staff, and there is a lack of segregation of duties. The Company will need to hire additional staff
and hire experts to review the work product and financial reporting over SEC filings to improve the Company’s internal controls. In addition, the Company can consider hiring
an expert to review and execute the overall design of the Company’s internal controls.
 
Item 9B. Other Information
 
None.
 
Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections
 
None.
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PART III
 
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
 
Our board of directors elects our executive officers annually, at a meeting following the annual meeting of shareholders. Our board of directors can also elect people to fill any
executive officer vacancies. Each officer holds such office until their successor is elected and qualified, or until their death, earlier resignation or removal. The following table
sets forth information regarding our executive officers and directors as of November   2023: 
 

Name   Position   Age
Scott W. Absher   President, Chief Executive Officer and Director   63
Douglas Beck, CPA (4)   Chief Financial Officer   62
Amanda Murphy   Director, Chief Operations Officer   39
Whitney White (1) (2) (3)   Independent Director   47
Christopher Sebes (1) (2)   Independent Director   69
 
(1) Member of the Audit Committee.
   
(2) Member of the Compensation Committee.
   
(3) Member of the Nominations Committee.
   
(4) On January 15, 2023, Mr. Beck was appointed as the Chief Financial Officer.
 
Executive Officers
 
Scott W. Absher has served as our President, Chief Executive Officer and director since our formation in June 2015, and also serves as board of directors Chair and Chief
Executive Officer of each of our sponsored SPACs (for which he receives no form of compensation from the SPACs). Since February 2010 he has also been President of
Struxurety, a business insurance advisory company. As a member of our board of directors, Mr. Absher contributes significant industry-specific experience and expertise to our
insurance products and services and has a deep understanding of all aspects of our business, products and markets, as well as substantial experience developing corporate
strategy, assessing emerging industry trends, and managing business operations.
 
Douglas Beck, CPA  has served as our Chief Financial Officer since January 15, 2023, Mr. Beck, age 62, previously served as CFO and Consultant for Beyond Air, Inc.
(NASD.XAIR), a clinical stage medical device company, from November of 2018 to December of 2022. Prior to his service with Beyond Air, Mr. Beck served as CFO for JLM
Couture, Inc., a high-end bridal wear and accessories designer and manufacturer from February 2016 to October of 2018. Mr. Beck has a Bachelor of Science degree in
accounting from Fairleigh Dickinson University, and he is a New York certified public accountant as well as a member of the New York State Society of CPAs SEC and CFO
committees.
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Amanda Murphy has served as a director since February 10, 2020. Prior to her election to our board of directors, Ms. Murphy served and continues to serve as our Director of
Operations and has been vital to our success and growth in that position. As a result of her contributions to the Company, Ms. Murphy has been promoted to the position of
Chief Operating Officer, effective January 1, 2022.  Ms. Murphy has been active in the operations side of the staffing industry at a senior level since 2007. She received her
certificate in HR Management from California State University – Long Beach in 2007. Mrs. Murphy also studied law at Taylor University in Selango, Malaysia.
 
Independent Directors
 
Kenneth W. Weaver has served as an independent director since December 5, 2016 and resigned on July 25, 2023. Mr. Weaver currently serves as the chairman of the Audit
Committee and is also a member of the Compensation Committee and the Nominations Committee. Since April 2012, Mr. Weaver has been the sole proprietor of Ken Weaver
Consulting, providing operations consulting for TVV Capital, a Nashville Private Equity firm. Before his service with TVV, Mr. Weaver spent over 30 years with Bridgestone
Corporation, having served in various responsible leadership roles, including as President, Bridgestone North American Tire Commercial Sales, Chief Financial Officer,
Bridgestone Americas, and Chairman, CEO and President, Firestone Diversified Products. Mr. Weaver earned both his bachelor’s degree in business and his Master of Business
Administration degree from Pennsylvania State University. Mr. Weaver’s substantial financial background qualifies him as an audit committee financial expert under applicable
rules. Mr. Weaver resigned from the Audit Committee on July 25, 2023.
 
Whitney White has served as an independent director since September 28, 2017. Mr. White serves as the chairman of the Compensation and Nominations Committees, and he
is also a member of the Audit Committee. Since April 2017, Mr. White has been Chief Operating Officer and Chief Technology Officer of Prime Trust, LLC, a Nevada
chartered trust company. Before his service with Prime Trust, Mr. White spent 17 years with W.R. Hambrecht + Co., LLC, an investment banking, advisory and brokerage firm
that was the underwriter of our Regulation A offering. At W.R. Hambrecht + Co., LLC, Mr. White served in various executive roles, including as Chief Technology Officer and
Managing Director, Equity Capital Markets. Mr. White earned a bachelor’s degree in computer science & psychology from Hamilton College, a Master of Business
Administration degree in finance and accounting from Columbia University’s Graduate School of Business, and a Master of Business Administration degree in technology and
entrepreneurship from the University of California Berkeley’s Hass School of Business. Mr. White holds a Series 79 license as an Investment Banking Representative, a Series
24 license as a General Securities Principal, and a Series 7 license as a General Securities Representative. As a member of our board of directors, Mr. White contributes decades
of leadership and management experience building and advising early stage, technology-driven companies. Based on his investment banking experience, Mr. White has
significant corporate finance and governance expertise. As an experienced senior technologist, Mr. White provides years of experience applying technology to enhance
traditional business processes.
 
Christopher Sebes has served as an independent director since February 7, 2020, and is a member of the Audit Committee. From August 2004 to July 2014, he served as the
CEO of XPIENT Solutions, a full-service, global provider of solutions for food ordering, digital menus, drive-thru management, kitchen management, inventory, labor and
scheduling analytics. From November 2014 to July 2019, Mr. Sebes served as the President of Xenial, Inc., a cloud-based restaurant and retail management platform. Since
August 2019, Mr. Sebes has been a partner and member of the board of directors of Results Thru Strategy, Inc., a strategic advisory firm specializing in restaurants, hotels, and
technology companies serving those industries. Since September 2019, he has also served as a member of the board of advisors of Valyant AI, which has developed a
proprietary conversational AI platform that integrates with existing mobile, web, call ahead, kiosk and drive-thru platforms. Mr. Sebes received his degree in Hotel and
Restaurant Management from the University of Portsmouth (Hampshire, United Kingdom) in 1975. Mr. Sebes brings to our board of directors his innovative thought leadership
and extensive knowledge of restaurant industry technology both in the United States and abroad.
 
Family Relationships
 
There are no family relationships between any of our current officers or directors.
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Board of Directors
 
Composition of Our Board of Directors
 
Our directors are elected at our annual meeting of shareholders. In addition, directors may be elected to fill vacancies and newly created directorships by our board of directors.
Each director holds the office until the next annual meeting of shareholders and until his or her successor shall have been elected and qualified; provided, however, that
directors can be elected for a term not to exceed five (5) years.
 
We have no formal policy regarding board diversity. In selecting board candidates, we seek individuals who will further the interests of our shareholders through an established
record of professional accomplishment, the ability to contribute positively to our collaborative culture, knowledge of our business and understanding of our prospective
markets.
 
Committees of Our Board of Directors
 
Audit Committee
 
Our Audit Committee consists of Messrs. White. and Sebes. Mr. Weaver serves as the chair of the Audit Committee and qualifies as an audit committee financial expert within
the meaning of SEC regulations and the Nasdaq Listing Rules. In making a determination on which member will qualify as a financial expert, our board of directors considers
the formal education and nature and scope of such a member’s previous experience.
 
Our Audit Committee assists our board of directors in its oversight of our accounting and financial reporting process and the audits of our consolidated financial statements.
Our Audit Committee’s responsibilities include:
 
  · appointing, approving the compensation of, and assessing the independence of our registered public accounting firm;
     
  · overseeing the work of our registered public accounting firm, including through the receipt and consideration of reports from such firm;
     

  · reviewing and discussing with management and the registered public accounting firm our annual and quarterly consolidated financial statements and related
disclosures;

     
  · monitoring our internal control over financial reporting, disclosure controls and procedures and code of business conduct and ethics;
     
  · overseeing our internal accounting function;
     
  · discussing our risk management policies;
     

  · establishing policies regarding hiring employees from our registered public accounting firm and procedures for the receipt and retention of accounting-related
complaints and concerns;

     
  · meeting independently with our internal accounting staff, registered public accounting firm and management;
     
  · reviewing and approving or ratifying related party transactions; and
     
  · preparing audit committee reports required by SEC rules.
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Compensation Committee
 
Our Compensation Committee consists of Messrs. Weaver and White, with Mr. White serving as chairman. Our Compensation Committee assists our board of directors in the
discharge of its responsibilities relating to the compensation of our executive officers. The Compensation Committee’s responsibilities include:
 
  · reviewing and approving corporate goals and objectives with respect to our Chief Executive Officer;
     
  · making recommendations to our board of directors with respect to the compensation of our Chief Executive Officer and our other executive officers;
     
  · overseeing evaluations of our senior executives;
     
  · reviewing and assessing the independence of compensation advisers;
     
  · overseeing and administering our equity incentive plans;
     
  · reviewing and making recommendations to our board of directors with respect to director compensation;
     
  · reviewing and discussing with management our “Compensation Discussion and Analysis” disclosure; and
     
  · preparing the compensation committee reports required by SEC rules.
 
Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation
 
None of the members of our Compensation Committee have served, at any time, as officers or employees of the Company. None of our executive officers currently serve, or in
the past year have served, as a member of the board of directors or the compensation committee of any entity that has one or more executive officers on our board of directors
or Compensation Committee.
 
Nominations Committee
 
Our Nominations Committee consists of Messrs. Weaver and White, with Mr. White serving as chairman. The Nominations Committee’s responsibilities include:
 
  · identifying individuals qualified to become board members;
     
  · recommending to our board of directors the persons to be nominated for election as directors and to be appointed to each committee of our board of directors;
     
  · reviewing and making recommendations to our board of directors with respect to management succession planning; and
     
  · overseeing periodic evaluations of board members.
 
Board Leadership Structure and Risk Oversight
 
Our board of directors oversees our business and considers the risks associated with our business strategy and decisions. Our board of directors currently implements its risk
oversight function as a whole. Each of the board committees also provides risk oversight in respect of its areas of concentration and reports material risks to our board of
directors for further consideration.
 
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics
 
We have adopted a written code of business conduct and ethics that applies to our directors, officers and employees, including our principal executive officer, principal financial
officer and principal accounting officer or controller, or persons performing similar functions. The code of conduct is posted on our website, and we will post all disclosures
that are required by law or Nasdaq rules in regard to any amendments to, or waivers from, any provision of the code.
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Director Independence
 
Rule 5605 of the Nasdaq Listing Rules requires a majority of a listed company’s board of directors to be comprised of independent directors within one year of listing. In
addition, the Nasdaq Listing Rules require that, subject to specified exceptions, each member of a listed company’s audit, compensation and nominating and corporate
governance committees be independent and that audit committee members also satisfy the independence criteria set forth in Rule 10A-3 under the Exchange Act.
 
In selecting our independent directors, our board of directors considered the relationships that each such person has with our company and all the other facts and circumstances
our board of directors deemed relevant in determining independence, including the beneficial ownership of our capital stock by each such person. Using this definition of
independence, we have determined that three directors, Kenneth Weaver, Whitney White, and Christopher Sebes, are independent directors.
 
Legal Proceedings
 
Unless otherwise indicated, no officer, director, or persons nominated for such positions, promoter or significant employee has been involved in the last ten years in any of the
following:
 

  · Any bankruptcy petition filed by or against any business of which such person was a general partner or executive officer either at the time of the bankruptcy or
within two years prior to that time,

     
  · Any conviction in a criminal proceeding or being subject to a pending criminal proceeding (excluding traffic violations and other minor offenses),
     

  · Being subject to any order, judgment, or decree, not subsequently reversed, suspended or vacated, of any court of competent jurisdiction, permanently or
temporarily enjoining, barring, suspending or otherwise limiting their involvement in any type of business, securities or banking activities,

     

  · Being found by a court of competent jurisdiction (in a civil action), the SEC or the Commodity Futures Trading Commission to have violated a federal or state
securities or commodities law, and the judgment has not been reversed, suspended, or vacated,

     

  · Having any government agency, administrative agency, or administrative court impose an administrative finding, order, decree, or sanction against them as a
result of their involvement in any type of business, securities, or banking activity,

     
  · Being the subject of a pending administrative proceeding related to their involvement in any type of business, securities, or banking activity, or
     
  · Having any administrative proceeding threatened against them related to their involvement in any type of business, securities, or banking activity.
 
Administrative Order and Settlement with State Securities Commissions
 
On June 25, 2013, the Alabama Securities Commission issued a Cease-and-Desist Order (the “Order”) against Scott W. Absher and other named persons and entities, requiring
that they cease and desist from further offers or sales of any security in the State of Alabama. The Order asserts that Mr. Absher was the president of a company that issued
unregistered securities to certain Alabama residents, that he was the owner of a company that was seeking investments, and that in March 2011 he spoke to an Alabama resident
who was an investor in one of the named entities. The Order concludes that Mr. Absher and others caused the offer or sale of unregistered securities through unregistered
agents. While Mr. Absher disputes many of the factual statements and specifically that he was an owner or officer of any of the entities involved in the sale of the unregistered
securities to Alabama residents or that he authorized any person to solicit investments for his company, in the interest of allowing the matter to become resolved, he did not
provide a response.
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Legal Matters Related to J. Stephen Holmes
 
J. Stephen Holmes is a co-founder of our Company with whom we no longer maintain any business ties or provide any form of compensation, and whom we do not believe to
be a significant shareholder. As a condition of certifying our common stock for a Nasdaq listing, Mr. Holmes agreed to the disclosure of his prior conviction for acts related to
making false statements in relation to two quarterly IRS Form 941 Employer Federal Quarterly tax returns, one in 1996 and the second in 1997, for a company for which he
was at the time an officer. The former company is not affiliated or related to us in any way.
 
As discussed in Note 10, Stockholders Deficit, on October 22, 2021, the Company severed all ties with Mr. Holmes, effective immediately, and cancelled Preferred Options that
had previously been issued to him but had not been exercised. As a result of these actions, the Company no longer has any financial obligation to Mr. Holmes, and believes that
he is no longer a significant shareholder of the Company.  See also Note 15 Contingencies, and Note 16, Subsequent Events and although the has come to an understanding to
settle this matter. The Company has accrued $550,000 as of August 31, 2023, which is included in accounts payable and accrued  liabilities in the accompany consolidated
balance sheets.
 
Item 11. Executive Compensation
 
Summary Compensation Table
 
The following table provides information regarding the compensation paid during Fiscal 2023 and Fiscal 2022, to the named executive officers.
 

Name and Principal Position

 

Year

  Salary
($)

   
Stocks
Awards

($)

   
Option
Awards

($)(1)
   

Non-Equity
Incentive Plan
Compensation

($)

   
All Other

Compensation
($)

    Total
($)

 

Scott W. Absher   2023    847,000            3,131,000(4)                3,978,000 
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director   2022    764,673      —      —      —      1,070,793(3)    1,835,466 

Douglas Beck, CPA   2023    157,000(2)     —      —            —      157,000 
Chief Financial Officer                                                    

Amanda Murphy   2023    457,000      —      —      —      —      457,000 
Chief Operating Officer   2022    264,152      —      438,200      —      —      702,352 
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(1) The amount shown for option awards represents the grant date fair value of such awards granted to the named executive officers as computed in accordance with FASB

ASC Topic 718, Compensation-Stock Compensation. For each award, the grant date fair value is calculated using the closing price of our common stock on the grant
date. This amount does not correspond to the actual value that may be realized by the named executive officers upon vesting or exercise of such award. For information
on the assumptions used to calculate the value of the awards, refer to Note 12 to the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements.

   
(2) Mr. Beck joined our Company on January 15, 2023, and receives an annual salary of $250,000
   
(3) Represents other compensation includes a one-time discretionary cash bonus of $250,000 paid in March 2022, and the fair value of 4,100,000 preferred shares series A

granted in exchange for settlement of unpaid deferred compensation due to him through July 31, 2022, totaling $820,793.24, including a $250,000 bonus, $137,274
deferred salary compensation and $433,519 accumulated paid time off.

   
(4) Represents the fair market value of stock-based compensation expense for conditional preferred option grant on August 2023. of 4,77,234 shares that are convertible to

common stock on a one for one basis
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Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year End
 
The following table summarizes the outstanding equity awards held by each named executive officer as of August 31, 2023. This table includes unexercised and unvested
options and equity awards.
 
    Equity awards  

Name

 

Date of
Grant

 
Number of
securities

underlying
unexercised
options (#)
exercisable

   
Number of
securities

underlying
unexercised
options (#)

unexercisable

   

Equity
incentive

plan
awards:

Number of
securities

underlying
unexercised
unearned
options (#)

   

Option
exercise
price ($)

   

Option
expiration

date

 

Number of
shares or
units of
stock
that

have not
vested (#)

   

◦ Market
value of

shares or
units of
stock
that

have not
vested ($)

◦ (6)

 

Scott Absher   0/3/15/2017    21      -      -    9.960.00    03/15/2017    -      - 
    08/23/2023    -      4,744,234      -      0.00001     10/14/2024    -      - 
Amanda Murphy, Chief Operating Officer   0/3/15/2017    4      -      -    9.960.00    03/15/2017    -      - 
    05/10/2018    21              -      6,000.00    08/13/2029    -      - 
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Director Compensation
 
Our directors classified as employees receive no additional compensation for their services as directors of the Company. The following table summarizes the compensation paid
to our non-employee directors during the year ended August 31, 2023:
 

Name

 

Fees
Earned or

Paid in
Cash
($)(1)

    Stock
Awards
($)(2)

    Option
Awards

($)

    All Other
Compensation

($)

   
Total
($)

 

Scott W. Absher     —      —      —      —      — 
Kenneth W. Weaver (3)     70,000      —      —      —      70,000 
Whitney J. White     82,000      75,000      —              157,000 
Christopher Sebes     101,000      75,000      —      -      176,000 
Amanda Murphy (4)     —              —      —      — 
 
(1) Represents monthly board of director fees paid or payable in cash during the year ended August 31, 2023.
   
(2) Represents annual value of stock awards issued during Fiscal 2023 under our 2017 Plan. This is an annual grant amount and has been accrued for services provided. No

shares have been issued as of August 31, 2023. Mr. Absher and Mrs. Mrs. Murphy did not receive any compensation for his or her vices as a director during Fiscal 2023,
respectively.

   
(3) Mr. Weaver resigned on July 25, 2023, as the Chair of the Audit Committee.
   
(4) Ms. Murphy joined our board of directors on February 10, 2020. She is the Company's Chief Operations Officer with an annual salary compensation of $500,000 for the

calendar year 2022. Ms. Murphy has deferred compensation for unpaid salaries of approximately $0.2 million as of August 31, 2022.
 
Equity Incentive Plans
 
In March  2017, the Company adopted its 2017 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan (the “Plan”). The Plan provides incentives to eligible employees, officers, directors and
consultants in the form of incentive stock options (“ISOs”), non-qualified stock options (“NQs”), (each of which is exercisable into shares of common stock) (collectively,
“Options”) or shares of common stock (“Share Grants”).
 
On March 6, 2023, the shareholders approved an increase in the number of shares of common stock issuable under the Plan from 1,250 to 31,250. Under the terms of the Plan,
options granted prior to July 1, 2020, each option has a term of service vesting provision over a period of time as follows: 25% vest after a 12-month service period following
the award, with the balance vesting in equal monthly installments over the succeeding 36 months. Options granted on or after July 1, 2020, typically vest over four years, with
25% of the grant vesting one year from the grant date, and the remainder in equal quarterly installments over the succeeding 12 quarters. All options granted to date have a
stated ten-year term.
 
Stock grants are issued at fair value, considered to be the market price on the grant date. The fair value of option awards is estimated on the grant date using the Black-Scholes
stock option pricing model, which uses certain assumptions related to risk-free interest rates, expected volatility, expected life of the stock options and future dividends.
 
The Company elected to account for forfeitures under the Plan as they occur. Any compensation cost previously recognized for an unvested award that is forfeited because of a
failure to satisfy a service condition is reversed in the period of the forfeiture.
 
As of August 31, 2023, there are 30,833 shares available under the Plan.
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Employment Agreements with our Named Executive Officers
 
On March 23, 2016, we entered into an offer letter agreement with Scott W. Absher, our President and Chief Executive Officer (the “Absher Offer Letter”), which included
certain provisions related to the executive’s compensation. The Absher Offer Letter provided for a full-time exempt position, a monthly salary of $31,250. (which was
subsequently increased by our board of directors to $62,500 per month), and standard employee benefit plan participation.  On June 30, 2021, our board of directors approved
increases to Mr. Absher's annual base salary to $764,473, effective July 1, 2021.  On October 22, 2021, our board of directors approved increases to Mr. Absher's annual base
salary to $1,000,000, effective January 1, 2022.  In addition, our board of directors approved a discretionary bonus of $500,000 to Mr. Absher, of which 50% was payable upon
approval by the board of directors, and 50% shall be payable on January 1, 2022.
 
On January 4, 2023, we entered into an offer of employment letter with Douglas Beck, our Chef Financial Officer for an annual salary of $250,000 with standard benefits. 
 
On October 22, 2021, the Company’s board of directors approved annual salary increases which was effective January 1, 2022, with Amanda Murphy, the Company’s Chief
Operating Officer and Operations and a member of our board of Directors, to $0.5 million from $0.3 million. Effective January 1, 2023, Mrs. Murphy’s annual salary was
reduced to $0.3 million. She has an accrued salary of $.2 million and $0.2 million as of August 31, 2022 and August 31, 2022, respectively.
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Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters
 
The following table sets forth certain information known to us regarding beneficial ownership of our common stock as of December 2023, for (i) all executive officers and
directors as a group and (ii) each person, or group of affiliated persons, known by us to be the beneficial owner of more than ten percent (10%) of our capital stock. The
percentage of beneficial ownership in the table below is based on 5,397,698 shares of common stock deemed to be outstanding as of December 11, 2023. In addition, shares of
common stock that may be acquired by the stockholder within 60 days of December 11, 2023, pursuant to the exercise of stock options are deemed to be outstanding for the
purpose of computing the percentage ownership of such shareholder but are not deemed to be outstanding for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of any other
person shown in the table. Unless otherwise indicated, the business address for each stockholder listed is c/o ShiftPixy, Inc., 4101, NW 25th street, Miami FL 33142.
 

Executive Officers and Directors

 

Number of
Shares

Beneficially
Owned

   
Number
of Shares

Acquirable

   
Beneficial

Ownership
Percentage

 

Scott W. Absher, CEO and Chairman [1]     4,750.277      21      88.0%
Douglas Beck, CPA, CFO     —      —         
Whitney J. White, Director [2]     1      —    *% 
Christopher Sebes, Director     —      —    *% 
Amanda Murphy, Director and Director of Operations [3]     —      25    *% 
All Executive Officers and Directors as a Group [t persons]     4,750,288      49      88.0%
                         
5% Stockholders                        
___________________________________________________
 
* Less than 1%
 
The option share information was adjusted to reflect the reversed stock split 1:24 effective on October 14, 2023.
 
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.
 
The following is a summary of transactions to which we have been a participant in which the amount involved exceeded or will exceed $120,000, and in which any of our then
directors, executive officers or holders of more than 5% of any class of our capital stock at the time of such transaction, or any members of their immediate family, had or will
have a direct or indirect material interest, other than compensation arrangements which are described in Item 11. Executive Compensation.
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Director Compensation
 
Scott Absher
 
On October 22, 2021, our Board approved raising Mr. Absher’s annual salary to $1M, effective January 1, 2022, and also approved the payment of a $0.5 million bonus to Mr.
Absher, 50% of which was payable upon Board approval, and the remainder of which was payable on January 1, 2022. As of August 31, 2022, Mr. Absher received payment of
50% of his bonus, or $0.3 million, in March 2022. Furthermore, as discussed in Note 10, Stockholders’ Deficit the accompanies the Consolidate Financial Statement,  on August
12, 2022, the Company entered into an agreement with Mr. Absher whereby he waived claims to certain unpaid compensation due to him through July 31, 2022, totaling $0.8
million, in exchange for an option to receive $4.1 million of the Company preferred stock series A shares. The agreement settled, the deferred payment of his incremental base
salary, his outstanding personal time off or PTO as of July 31, 2022, and the remaining 50% of his approved bonus. As of January 1, 2023, Mr. Absher’s salary was adjusted
back to the level applicable prior to the time of the adjustment effective January 1, 2022. Mr. Absher salary for the years ended August 31, 2023, and August 31, 2022, was $0.9
million and $0.8 million, respectively. The Company has accrued for his salary as of August 31, 2023, and August 31, 2022, which was $0.4 million and $0, respectively.
 
Amanda Murphy
    
On February 10, 2020, Amanda Murphy was appointed to our Board. Ms. Murphy was our Director of Operations at the time of her appointment. Ms. Murphy received salary
compensation of $0.5 million $0.3 million for the years ended August 31, 2023, and August 31, 2022, respectively. As of August 31, 2022, Ms. Murphy has deferred payment
related to her salary increase of approximately $0.2 million and $0.2 million as of August 31, 2023, and August 31, 2022, respectively.  The deferred payment salary is recorded
in the accrued liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. As of January 1, 2023, Ms. Murphy’s salary was adjusted back to the level applicable prior to the time of the
adjustment effective January 1, 2022.
 
Related Persons to Scott Absher
 
Mark Absher, the brother of Scott Absher, was hired by the Company as Deputy General Counsel – Special Projects, for an annual salary for the years ended August 31, 2023,
and August 31, 2022, of $0.2 million and $0.2 million, respectively. Mr. Absher’s resigned on October 13,2023.
 
David May, a member of our business development team, is the son-in-law of Mr. Absher. Mr. May’s compensation for the years ended August 31, 2023, and August 31, 2022,
of $0.2 million   and $0.2 million, respectively.
 
Phil Eastvold, the Executive Producer of ShiftPixy Productions, Inc., is the son-in-law of Mr. Absher. Mr. Eastvold received compensation for the years ended August 31, 2023,
and August 31, 2022, was $0.2 million and $0.2 million, respectively.
 
Jason Absher, a member of the Company’s business development team, is the nephew of Scott Absher and the son of Mark Absher. Mr. Absher’s compensation for the years
ended August 31, 2023, and August 31, 2022, was $0.1 million and $0.1 million, respectively,
 
Connie Absher, (the spouse of Scott Absher), Elizabeth Eastvold, (the daughter of Scott and Connie Absher and spouse of Mr. Eastvold), and Hannah Woods, (the daughter of
Scott and Connie Absher), are also employed by the Company. These individuals, as a group, received compensation for the years ended August 31, 2023, and August 31, 2022,
was $0.2 million and $0.2 million, respectively.
 
The Company has accrued stock-based compensation related to shares of common stock to be issued for services provided by three directors. Stock-based compensation
expense for the years ended August 31, 2023, and August 31, 2022, was $0.2 million and $0.2 million, respectively. The Company has agreements with three directors to
receive shares of common stock valued at $0.1 million per year. No shares of common stock have been issued as of August 31, 2023, and August 31, 2023, respectively. As of
August 31, 2023, and August 31, 2022, there are 1,208 and 0 shares of common stock to be issued to directors, respectively. The Chair of the Audit Committee resigned in July
2023.
 
As of August 31, 2023, and August 31, 2022, the Company has accrued $0.2 million and $0.2 million, respectively for stock-compensation related to shares to be issued for
services to certain directors.
 
The amount due to the Board of Directors that is included in accounts payable is $0.3 million and $0.2 million, respectively.
 
Company related to Scott Absher
 
Scott Absher, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer is a shareholder in Quelliv. Quelliv seeks to provide a non-invasive, alternative approach to wellness using laser
biomodulation / LLLT, activating the body’s restorative and regenerative processes.  Quelliv is a client of ShiftPixy, Inc.  ShiftPixy, Inc. has earned administration fee for the
years ended August 31, 2023 and August 31, 2022 of $28,000 and $38,000 , respectively, In connection with unreimbursed incurred on behalf of Quelliv, the nature of expenses
were software development, information technology, marketing, branding, payroll, professional and miscellaneous expenses, the amount for the years ended August 31, 2023
and August 31, 2022 were $0.5 million and $1.0 million, respectively.
 
Director Independence
 
Our board of directors has determined that three of our board members, Kenneth Weaver, Whitney White, and Christopher Sebes, qualify as “independent” as the term is used
in Item 7(d)(3)(iv)(B) of Schedule 14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and as defined by Rule 4200(a)(15) of the NASDAQ Marketplace Rules.
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Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services
 
Marcum LLP was our independent registered public accounting firm for Fiscal 2023 and Fiscal 2022.
 
The following table shows the fees paid or reasonably expected to be incurred by us for the audit and other services provided by our auditor for the years ended August 31,
2023, and August 31, 2022.
 

   
August 31,

2023    
August 31,

2022  

Audit Fees (Marcum LLP) (i)   $ 561,148    $ 423,246 
Tax fees (ii)     -      - 
All Other Fees (iii)     68,495      64,118 
Total   $ 629,643    $ 487,364 
   
As defined by the SEC, (i) “audit fees” are fees for professional services rendered by our principal accountant for the audit of our annual financial statements and review of
financial statements included in our Form 10-K, or for services that are normally provided by the accountant in connection with statutory and regulatory filings or engagements
for those fiscal years; (ii)  “tax fees” are fees for professional services rendered by our principal accountant for tax compliance, tax advice, and tax planning and (iii) consents
and comfort letters.
 
Under applicable SEC rules, the Audit Committee is required to pre-approve the audit and non-audit services performed by the independent auditors in order to ensure that they
do not impair the auditors’ independence. The SEC’s rules specify the types of non-audit services that an independent auditor may not provide to its audit client and establish
the Audit Committee’s responsibility for administration of the engagement of the independent auditors. Accordingly, our Audit Committee will pre-approve the audit and non-
audit services performed by the independent auditors.
 
Consistent with the SEC’s rules, the Audit Committee Charter requires that the Audit Committee review and pre-approve all audit services and permitted non-audit services
provided by the independent auditors to us or any of our subsidiaries. The Audit Committee may delegate pre-approval authority to a member of the Audit Committee and if it
does, the decisions of that member must be presented to the full Audit Committee at its next scheduled meeting.
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PART IV
 
Item 15. Exhibits
 
Exhibit
No.   Document Description

3.1   Articles of Incorporation of ShiftPixy, Inc., as filed with the Wyoming Secretary of State on June 3, 2015 (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 2.1 to
our Offering Circular filed with the SEC on Form 1-A on May 31, 2016)

     

3.2   Articles of Amendment to Articles of Incorporation of ShiftPixy, Inc., dated September 28, 2016 (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 2.6 to our Form
1-A/A filed with the SEC on October 18, 2016)

     

3.3   Articles of Amendment to Articles of Incorporation of ShiftPixy, Inc., dated January 7, 2020 (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 3 to our current
Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on January 23, 2020)

     

3.4   Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of ShiftPixy, Inc., dated March 20, 2020 (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 3.1 to our Current
Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on March 26, 2020)

     

3.5   Articles of Amendment to Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of ShiftPixy, Inc., dated May 7, 2021 (incorporated by reference from
Exhibit 3.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on May 17, 2021)

     

3.6   Articles of Amendment to Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of ShiftPixy, Inc, dated August 2, 2022 (incorporated by reference from
Exhibit 3.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on August 31, 2022)

     

3.7   Articles of Correction to Articles of Amendment to Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of ShiftPixy, Inc, dated August 15, 2022
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 3.1.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on August 31, 2022)

     

3.8   Bylaws of ShiftPixy, Inc., as amended through July 15, 2022 (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.2 to our Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on July 19,
2022)

     

4.1   Description of the Registrant’s Securities (incorporated by reference as Exhibit 4.2 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on November
30. 2020)

     
4.2   Description of the Registrant’s Securities
     
10.1   Stock Option and Stock Issuance Plan (incorporated by reference as Exhibit 3.8 to our 1-A POS, filed with the SEC on April 4, 2017)
     

10.2†   First Amendment to Director Agreement, by and between ShiftPixy, Inc. and Kenneth W. Weaver Agreement, dated August 1, 2017 (incorporated by
reference from Exhibit 10.7 to our Annual Report on form 10-K/A, Amendment No. 2, filed with the SEC on October 18, 2018)

     

10.03†   Offer Letter to Scott W. Absher, dated March 23, 2016 (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.27 to our registration statement on Form S-1, filed with
the SEC on March 30, 2020)

     

10.04†   Appointment of Manuel Rivera to the position of Treasurer and Acting Chief Financial Officer of ShiftPixy, Inc (as announced in our Form 8K filed
with the SEC on May 24, 2022)

     

10.05†   Scott W. Absher Surrender of ShiftPixy's Preferred Options  (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.1 our Form 8K filed with the SEC on July 19,
2022)
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10.6   Form of Warrant (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on May 17, 2021)
     
10.7   Form of Pre-Funded Warrant (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.2 to our Current Report on Form 8-K,  the SEC on May 17, 2021)
     

10.8   Form of Securities Purchase Agreement (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with SEC on May 17,
2021).

     

10.9   Placement Agent Agreement, dated May 13, 2021, by and between ShiftPixy, Inc. and A.G.P./Alliance Global Partners (incorporated by reference from
Exhibit 10.2 to our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on May 17, 2021).

     
10. 10   Form of Letter Agreement (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on August 18, 2021).
     
10.11   Form of Warrant (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on September 2, 2021)
     
10.12   Form of Pre-Funded Warrant (incorporated by reference as Exhibit 4.2 to our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on September 2, 2021)
     

10.13   Form of Securities Purchase Agreement (incorporated by reference as Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on September
2, 2021).

     

10.14   Placement Agent Agreement, dated May 13, 2021, by and between ShiftPixy, Inc. and A.G.P./Alliance Global Partners (incorporated by reference from
Exhibit 10.2 to our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on September 2, 2021).

     
10.15   Form of Warrants (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on January 27, 2022).
     

10.16   Form of Warrant Exercise Agreement (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on January
27, 2022).

     

10.17   Form of Registration Rights Agreement (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.2 to our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with SEC on January 27,
2022).

     
10.18   Form of Warrant (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on July 19, 2022).
     

10.19   Form of Warrant Exercise Agreement (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.2 to our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on July 19,
2022).

     

10.20   Form of Registration Rights Agreement (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.3 to our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on July 19,
2022),

     

10.21   Amendment No. 1 to Common Stock Purchase Warrant (incorporated by reference form Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the
SEC on July 26, 2022).

     
10.22   Unregistered Sale of Equity Securities (as announced in our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 6, 2022).
     
23.1   Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm—Marcum LLP, New York, New York, PCAOB ID No. 688
     

31.1   CERTIFICATION of CEO PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT
OF 2002

     

31.2   CERTIFICATION of CFO PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT
OF 2002

     

32.1 *   CERTIFICATION of CEO PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT
OF 2002

     

32.2  *   CERTIFICATION of CFO PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT
OF 2002

 
101 Inline XBRL Document Set for the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes in Part II, Item 8,

104 Inline XBRL for the cover page of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, included in the Exhibit 101 Inline XBRL Document Set.
 
* Furnished herewith.
 
** XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Language) information is furnished and not filed or a part of a registration statement or prospectus for purposes of Sections 11 or 12
of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, is deemed not filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and otherwise is not subject to
liability under these sections.
 
†Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
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SIGNATURES
 
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
 
ShiftPixy, Inc., a Wyoming corporation
 
Title   Name   Date   Signature
             
Principal Executive Officer   Scott W. Absher   December 14, 2023   /s/ Scott W. Absher
 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and
on the dates indicated:
 
SIGNATURE   NAME   TITLE   DATE
             

/s/ Scott W. Absher
 

Scott W. Absher
 

Principal Executive Officer and
Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

 
December 14, 2023

             

/s/ Douglas Beck
 

Douglas Beck, CPA
 

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and
Principal Accounting Officer)

 
December 14, 2023

             
/s/ Christopher Sebes   Christopher Sebes   Independent Director   December 14, 2023
             
/s/ Whitney J. White   Whitney J. White   Independent Director   December 14, 2023
             
/s/ Amanda Murphy   Amanda Murphy   Director   December 14, 2023
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EXHIBIT 21.1
 

ShiftPixy, Inc.
Subsidiaries

 
Subsidiary State or jurisdiction of incorporation
Agile Human Capital, Inc. Delaware
   
Bento Best, Inc. Wyoming
   
Bunny Grub, Inc. Wyoming
   
Burley Burrito, Inc. Wyoming
   
CantinaGogo, Inc. Wyoming
   
Cluck ‘n Lucky, Inc. Wyoming
   
Dude Rudy, Inc. Wyoming
   
Firemark Global Capital, Inc. Delaware
   
Grazer Burger, Inc. Wyoming
   
Lionfish Grill, Inc. Wyoming
   
Nacho Nukes, Inc. Wyoming
   
Oink Aviation, Inc. Wyoming
   
Piezanno, Inc. Wyoming
   
Poke-a-GoGo, Inc. Wyoming
   
ReThink Administrative Services, Inc. Wyoming
   
ReThink Human Capital Management, Inc. Wyoming
   
Senor Oinks, Inc. Wyoming
   
ShiftPixy Canada, Inc. Ontario, Canada
   
ShiftPixy Contracting Wyoming
   
ShiftPixy Corporate Services, Inc. Wyoming
   
ShiftPixy Labs, Inc. Wyoming
   
ShiftPixy Investments, Inc. Wyoming
   
ShiftPixy Productions, Inc. Wyoming
   
ShiftPixy Staffing, Inc. Wyoming
   
TechStackery, Inc. Delaware
   
VegiMighty, Inc. Wyoming
   
Vital Human Capital, Inc Delaware
   
Wrap Blaster, Inc. Wyoming
 



EXHIBIT 23.1
 

INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM’S CONSENT
 
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement of ShiftPixy, Inc. on Form S-3 (File Nos. 333-267751, 333-269477, 333-
266401, 333-259619, and 333-256834) and Form S-8 (File No. 333-256835) of our report dated December 14, 2023, with respect to our audits of the
consolidated financial statements of ShiftPixy, Inc. as of August 31, 2023 and 2022 and for the years then ended, which report is included in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K of ShiftPixy, Inc. for the year then ended August 31, 2023. The report includes an explanatory paragraph as to the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern, and an emphasis of matter paragraph regarding the risks and uncertainties related to the Company’s outstanding
payroll tax liabilities.
 
/s/ Marcum LLP
 
Marcum LLP
New York, NY
December 14, 2023
 



EXHIBIT 31.1
 

CERTIFICATION
 
1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of ShiftPixy, Inc.;
     
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

     
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly Present in all material respects the

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
     
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls  and procedures (as defined in

Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

     

 
a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be des0igned under our supervision,

to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

     

 
b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our

supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

     

  c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this  report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

     

 
d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent

fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual   report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

     
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the

registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):
     

  a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process,  summarize and report financial information; and

     

  b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant  role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.

    
  ShiftPixy, Inc.  
       
DATE: December 14, 2023  By:  /s/ Scott W. Absher   
    Scott W. Absher   
    Chief Executive Officer  



 
EXHIBIT 31.2

 
CERTIFICATION

 
I, Douglas Beck, CPA certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of ShiftPixy, Inc.;
     
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

     
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly Present in all material respects the

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
     
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls   and procedures (as defined in

Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

     

 
a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to

ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

     

 
b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our

supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

     

  c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this  report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

     

 
d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent

fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual   report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

     
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the

registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):
     

  a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

     

  b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.

 
DATE: December 14, 2023 By: /s/ Douglas Beck  
    Douglas Beck, CPA  
 



EXHIBIT 32.1
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the undersigned hereby certifies that the
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period ended August 31, 2023, of ShiftPixy, Inc. (the “Company”) fully complies with the requirements of Section
13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that the information contained in such Report fairly presents, in all material respects,
the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 
  ShiftPixy, Inc.   
       
DATE: December 14, 2023  By:  /s/ Scott W. Absher   
    Scott W. Absher   
    Chief Executive Officer   
   
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the signature
that appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required by Section 906, has been provided to ShiftPixy, Inc., and will be
retained by ShiftPixy, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

 



EXHIBIT 32.2
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the undersigned hereby certifies that the
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period ended August 31, 2023, of ShiftPixy, Inc. (the “Company”) fully complies with the requirements of Section
13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that the information contained in such Report fairly presents, in all material respects,
the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 
  ShiftPixy, Inc.   
       
DATE: December 14, 2023  By:  /s/ Douglas Beck  
    Douglas Beck, CPA   
    Chief Financial Officer   
  
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the signature
that appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required by Section 906, has been provided to ShiftPixy, Inc., and will be
retained by ShiftPixy, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.


